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Tuesday, June 30, 2015
--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  Good morning.  My name is Allison Duff, and with me today on the panel are Cathy Spoel and Emad Elsayed, fellow Board members.

The Ontario Energy Board is sitting today in EB-2014-0101, an application brought forward by Oshawa PUC Networks Inc.  It is a custom incentive rate-setting application.

The public record sets out the various procedural steps that have taken place so far, including interrogatory responses and a transcribed technical conference.

Today we will commence the oral hearing phase of this proceeding.  As provided in Procedural order No. 4, the oral hearing is expected to last for three days.  We will not sit tomorrow on Wednesday, as it is a holiday, but we will resume on Thursday and Friday.

We will start each day at 9:30 and adjourn around 5:00.  We plan to break for lunch around 12:30 for one hour and have a 15-minute break in the morning and the afternoon.

So let's start.  May I have appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, Board members.  My name is Ian Mondrow.  I am counsel for Oshawa PUC Networks Inc., and to my right is Mr. Oliver Robbins, one of our summer students, who will try to keep up with my friends in respect of the video screens.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow, Mr. Robbins.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Madam Chair, panel, Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Michael Janigan for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan, consultant to the Consumers -- it isn't working.  Oh, there we go.  Julie Girvan, consultant to the Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.

MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken, consultant to the Energy Probe Research Foundation.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.

MR. STOLL:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Scott Stoll, counsel to the Greater Oshawa Chamber of Commerce.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Stoll.  Any other appearances?

MS. LEA:  Just myself, Madam Chair.  Jennifer Lea, counsel for Board Staff.  With me is Mr. Harold Thiessen, the case manager, and Mr. Ciaran Bishop.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  So I trust everyone has a copy of the hearing plan.  The hearing plan is designed to be a helpful tool to measure how we're progressing against forecasted cross-examination times.

With any forecast, you can expect some revisions and some changes, and that's fine.  However, three days have been allocated for this oral hearing, and I will try my best to keep us on that schedule.

The individual break times are not so defined.  I mean, we will go with the flow and see how the cross-examination is going, but the idea is designed to measure how we're doing at the end of the day.

There are 28 issues on the issues list.  Seven of those have been identified for written submission only.  That leaves 21 issues eligible to be discussed orally through cross-examination over the next three days.

Are there any preliminary matters to discuss, Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  None that I am aware of Madam Chair, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  And with that, Mr. Mondrow, perhaps you could introduce your first witness panel, and after the introductions we will ask each witness to affirm.
OSHAWA PUC NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1
Opening Statement by Mr. Mondrow:


MR. MONDROW:  Absolutely.  If I could, just before doing that, Madam Chair, I wanted to just make a few remarks to provide the hearing panel with context, make sure you have the various materials that we filed, and just orient you in respect to the sequence of those.  It will just take a few minutes, and then I would be happy to introduce the witness panel.

Some context for how Oshawa PUC has arrived at this application.  In 2012 Oshawa brought its last cost-of-service application, which was settled, and put under third-generation IRM rebasing would have been in 2016.

In 2013 and 2014 Oshawa's rates were set under third-generation IRM.  In 2013, the evidence shows their ROE was about 300 basis points below Board-approved.  In 2014 similarly their ROE was about 300 basis points below Board-approved, and at current rates their ROE is forecast to be about 800 basis points below Board-approved, and that's all reflected in the June 23rd update that was filed.  I will come back to the updates in a moment and propose that we mark them as exhibits for the record.

On July 12th, 2013 OPUCN notified the Board of its intention to file a custom IR application for rates effective January 1st, 2015.

On December 23rd, 2014 OPUCN filed a letter requesting interim rates.  In that letter they noted the scale and scope of the application, in particular for relatively smaller utility, and they have put before you a comprehensive distribution system plan, comprehensive evidence of five test years, 2015 through 2019, all in accord with the Board's filing guidelines and a number of supporting external reviews and reports, including significant third-party benchmarking evidence, a significant component of the RRFE, and in their December 23rd letter OPUCN indicated they would file their application with all of that material by the end of January 2015.

On December 30th, 2014 the Board issued a decision declaring their then current rates interim effective January 1st, 2015 and the promised comprehensive application was filed January 29th, 2015.

Following that Oshawa answered about 1,000 individual questions during the interrogatory process, and on April 2nd there was a non-transcribed briefing provided to the Board and the parties.  The presentation materials from that briefing are on the record.

They were filed through the RESS.  I don't know that they will be referred to, but if they are we can mark them if it is okay with the panel when we get there.

There were some updates filed, and I just want to make sure that the panel is oriented in respect of those updates.  In addition to the initial pre-filed evidence, there were two interim updates.  The first was filed on May 13th, and it incorporated 2014 actual results in response to a number of the interrogatories and in anticipation of the technical conference.

I propose, Madam Chair, that we mark that May 13th update as Exhibit K1.1, I believe would be the nomenclature.

MS. LEA:  That would be fine.  It has been previously filed in electronic form with the Board Secretary's office.  We now should assign it an exhibit number so that it has some number on the record.  So that will be K1.1, the May 13?

MR. MONDROW:  May 13 --


MS. LEA:  May 13 update.

MR. MONDROW:  2015 update, which includes the spreadsheet models that the Board publishes in respect of calculation of rates, cost allocation, and other calculations, and all of that I propose should be considered Exhibit K1.1.

MS. DUFF:  That's fine.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  MAY 13, 2015 UPDATE.

MR. MONDROW:  Following a two-day technical conference and a number of transcript undertakings, there was a second update filed on June 23rd, 2015.  Similarly that update consists of a covering letter, a short narrative, and updated spreadsheets for the Board's models, and I propose that we mark all of that for the record as Exhibit K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  JUNE 23, 2015 UPDATE.

MS. LEA:  K1.2.

MR. MONDROW:  That Exhibit K1.2, as we have now called it, includes a continuity table for revenue requirement from the initial filing through the second update.  That is page 1 of the narrative.  It updated the proposed working capital allowance to correct and standardize a number of parameters of the lead/lag approach.  That is reflected on page 2 of the update.  That will be the subject of some questions later today, I expect.

It updated the load forecast, incorporating the most recent customer connections, unemployment, and CDM information, again with a continuity table for the load forecast.  That was at pages 2 and 3 of the narrative.

It updated regulatory costs for this process, given that there was no settlement and a hearing was anticipated, and it updated interest rates following securing of a $15 million seven-year loan at 2.71 percent.  That is all reflected in the update evidence.

This most recent update also includes some clarifications, given the process and the discussions between the time of filing the initial application at the end of January and now, and those clarifications included updating the expected 2015 earnings shortfall should rates not be made effective until September 1st, which will be an issue in the case, as you know, and the update indicates that shortfall would be 345 basis points, and adjusts some parameters of the proposed TCECM -- total cost efficiency carryover mechanism -- adopting some suggestions provided during the technical conference and other discussions, and that will be the subject of evidence that you will hear later this morning, I expect.

Yesterday we'd also filed a brief update, so yesterday we filed an updated exhibit list which provides for affidavit CVs and Form As of the various third parties from whom evidence was obtained by OPUCN but whom Board Staff and intervenors have indicated they do not intend to cross-examine during the oral portion of this proceeding.

In order to address those reports and make them evidence we have -- we are in the process of gathering affidavits from all of those parties, which we will file as soon as we can, and those affidavits will attach Form As from each of those parties, which is the Board's practice in respect of third parties filing evidence in support of rate applications.

Those parties, just for the record, are UtilityPULSE, who worked on customer engagement; Metsco, who worked on OPUCN's asset condition assessment and informed its capital investment plan; Utiliworks, who provided what is called a smart grid road map and financial analysis; Pacific Economics Group, or PEG for short, who are commissioned to provide an economic total factor productivity benchmarking of OPUCN's proposed revenue requirement; and NBM Engineering, who were commissioned to provide independent analysis and validation of OPUCN's proposed capital expenditures for its system renewal and distribution station, or DS9 projects.

In respect of the lead/lag study prepared by Ernst & Young in support of OPUCN's working capital request, we will have a witness this afternoon.  As you know, Mr. Chris Stepanuik of E&Y will be here, and he will adopt his evidence on the stand as is customary, and also speak to his Form A at that time -- although we have pre-filed that as well with yesterday's filing, with the CV which was circulated to parties last week as well, which was requested by them at the time.  But it is now on the record and we will address it when Mr. Stepanuik arrives this afternoon.

As you know, we have a hearing plan. This panel, which I will introduce in a moment, panel 1, will discuss and address questions on exhibits 1 and 10 of the filing, and questions regarding why custom IR and the elements of the custom IR application this afternoon.

We propose, Madam Chair, to stand panel 1 down after lunch, so that we can have the working capital panel to accommodate Mr. Stepanuik's schedule.  I understand parties and Board Staff have accepted that proposal, and indeed I think advanced that proposal, which we appreciate.

Following conclusion of that panel, we will re-empanel 1 and complete their testimony.  And finally, panel 3 will be brought forward to address exhibits 2 through 9.

Just before introducing the witnesses, Madam Chair, I would like to formally request leave of the Board and the consent of the parties here to allow me to speak with all of these folks, in particular Mr. Martin, who will be a witness on each of the three panels, despite his being under oath essentially for the duration of the oral portion of the proceeding.

As you know, there is a Law Society of Upper Canada rule that precludes discussion with a witness under cross-examination regarding the witness's evidence, or any issue in the proceeding.

The intent of the rule was to preclude any such discussions with counsel from influencing the witness in their testimony under oath, or interfering with the evidence to be provided to you.

In support of my request to be allowed to speak with the witnesses while they're under oath, merely in order to support the efficient and responsive management of this portion of the proceeding including discussion of timing and mechanics for the provision of any undertakings granted, I provide to you and the parties in the room my undertaking not to breach the spirit and intent of the Law Society's rule and its -- the law dictates that I ask your leave to be able to have those discussions for the purpose of assisting in the management of the process, subject to any comments of the parties.

MS. DUFF:  Do any of the parties have any comments on Mr. Mondrow's request?  Ms. Lea?

MS. LEA:  No, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  That's fine, the leave is granted.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  With that -- and I appreciate your patience -- I will introduce panel 1 and ask that they be sworn or affirmed, and then take them through identification of their materials.

Mr. Mahajan will seek to make an opening statement, which we will start with, and then the witnesses will be available for cross-examination.

So closest to the hearing panel is Mr. Atul Mahajan, who is the president and CEO of Oshawa PUC Networks Inc. Mr. Mahajan is M-A-H-A-J-A-N, and Atul is A-T-U-L.

Next to Mr. Mahajan is seated Mr. Phil Martin, who you will be well familiar with by Friday.  Mr. Martin is the vice president regulatory affairs --


MR. MARTIN:  Finance and regulatory affairs.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, and I would ask the witnesses be sworn or affirmed, please.

Atul Mahajan, Affirmed

Phil Martin, Affirmed

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, sir.  Mr. Mahajan, you have -- I have already stated your name for the record and your role with OPUCN.  Could you tell us how long you have held that position?

MR. MAHAJAN:  About seven years.

MR. MONDROW:  And we will come back to the exhibits in just a moment, thank you.

Mr. Martin, I have stated your name for the record and your role with OPUCN.  How long have you held that position?

MR. MARTIN:  I'm in my sixth year.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Mr. Martin.  Exhibits 1 and 10 were prepared under your direction and control?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And the interrogatory responses associated with those exhibits, they were prepared under your direction and control?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And you attended the technical conference?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And responses to technical conference undertakings were also prepared under your direction and control?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And, Mr. Mahajan, you're familiar with exhibits 1 and 10 the relevant interrogatory responses and the relative undertakings given at the technical conference?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, I am.

MR. MONDROW:  And gentlemen, can I ask each of you to respond in turn as to whether you are prepared to adopt those exhibits, interrogatory responses and undertakings as your evidence in this proceeding -- Mr. Mahajan starting with you.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, I do.

MR. MONDROW:  And Mr. Martin?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes, confirmed.

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Martin, you also directed preparation of the May 13th and June 23rd updates, which have now been numbered Exhibit K1.1 and K1.2, respectively?

MR. MARTIN:  I did.

MR. MONDROW:  Are you prepared to adopt those updates as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. MARTIN:  I am.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, gentlemen.  Madam Chair, I believe that Mr. Mahajan would like to make an opening statement, and then the witnesses will be available for cross-examination.

MS. DUFF:  Please.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.
Opening statement by Mr. Mahajan:


MR. MAHAJAN:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow, Madam Chair, and Panel members.

What I am hoping to do today is provide you an opening statement which covers an operator's perspective.  I am probably not going to be as legally concise as Mr. Mondrow, but my hope is with the opening remarks, you will get a flavour or sense of what OPUC has been doing to stay efficient and continue to be efficient.

So we're here really with mixed feelings.  It is disappointing we could not reach a fair settlement.  But we do appreciate the opportunity for the Board's panel's examination of what we truly believe is an innovative and creative custom IR proposal.

So while we're thankful to everyone who has been involved in helping us reach settlements for the previous two rate cases that Oshawa has had, we've always felt the rate-setting processes, prior to the RRFE, did not offer an appropriate opportunity for an efficient and an innovative distributor to demonstrate their efficiencies.

And I truly appreciate the emphasis that is on benchmarking under the RRFE.  I saw a quote last night which I, with your permission, would like to read.  I know this is something you already know, but the quote is in the RRFE report of October 12, 2012, and it is on page 56.
"Benchmarking will become increasingly important, as comparison amongst distributors is one means of analyzing whether a given distributor is as efficient as possible."

And I believe Oshawa does fit that, and I will talk about that a little later.

So in developing our custom IR proposal, we paid attention to Board's expectations as described under the RRFE, and also based on our review of recent decisions on custom IR proposals of both gas and electricity distributors.

For expediency, I will not repeat how we address those expectations, other than to say that, you know, at OPUCN we do believe in providing customers reliable service at a reasonable price.  And I am really proud to be a part of the team at OPUCN, some of who are here today, and there is a lot who are not here today, but they have been delivering on our model and that model is really reliable service at a reasonable price.  And that is the essence of the RRFE, as I see it.


For reliable service, I know we can and we will do better.  But I am pleased to report that we have been performing in the top tier amongst the GTA utilities.

Now, when it comes to reasonable price, hopefully it is not a surprise to you that our rates are amongst the lowest, if not the lowest, amongst the GTA utilities.

So how did we get to develop this comprehensive proposal?  So based on the guidelines under the RRFE, we did a detailed asset condition assessment, and then, to get ready for the expected growth in Oshawa, really driven by the extension of Highway 407, the management team at OPUCN diligently worked on developing a comprehensive multi-year plan, as expected under the custom IR framework for capital expenditures on -- to implement our DSP, our distribution system plan, and manage the operations, maintenance, and administration of OPUCN and its assets.

Our five-year comprehensive planning was done with special attention to providing a customer's value for money, and it paid special attention to customer focus, operational effectiveness, public-policy responsiveness, and financial performance.

As I said earlier, I promise not to take your time to repeat the details, but I hope you will allow me to specifically note an example of how OPUCN is responding to and furthering the objectives of public policy.

So currently our distribution system is fed off two different wholesale meters, at the transmission stations.  And it is designed to provide highest reliability for customers by managing two different supply sources.

So at the present time the supply, management, and switching distribution loads between these two different transmission stations is manual and lacks real-time visibility.

So under the smart-grid initiatives we plan to implement optimization of that distribution system supply sources.  And this optimization will provide OPUCN a new real-time approach to balance performance and operational objectives.  And it helps us avoid two separate monthly demand peaks at two different wholesale meters.  The impact of that would be increased reliability and avoid higher monthly transmission charges for our customers.

So finally I would like to briefly touch on the key highlights of a custom IR application and give you a flavour of how we are efficient and how we will continue to be efficient, including some evidence that is available by a third-party benchmarking exercise that we commissioned.

So we started with developing a bottom-up robust evidence of our forecast for both OM&A and capital investments.  So in developing the OM&A we did not just look at simple inflationary or a simple formulaic percentage adjustment.  It was really a comprehensive exercise of our work force and a scales gap review, retirements, work processes, to manage both existing objectives and new objectives, such as to enhance customer communications, and of course to prepare for and manage growth, which in Oshawa we certainly see a lot.

Our multi-year capital expenditure plan was driven off of an asset condition assessment, and our asset investment plan provides not only sustaining our service levels, but enhancing our service levels through leveraging off our existing smart-meter investments as an example by implementing an outage management system.

That will provide us tools to both reduce the outage restoration time and improve customer communications.  And particularly when it matters most.

So OPUCN has significantly large multi-year investment requirements, as is in the evidence of our DSP.  And this is associated with really planning for customer growth in our service territory with relatively certain timing and level of expenditures.

What is not known is the exact amount of these and other third-party-driven capital expenditures for which we strongly believe that the ratepayer and the shareholder can and should be protected through annual adjustments, which we have proposed in our Exhibit 10, and update mechanisms proposed in our application.

So next I want to talk to you about the importance of benchmarking, which I really realize that the Board is placing a lot of emphasis on to differentiate between the distributors.

So once we developed these forecasts, we then benchmarked our existing and forecast costs to demonstrate that we already are, and we will continue to be, efficient.  To demonstrate this continuous improvement we engaged PEG, Pacific Economics Group -- I hope I said that right.  All right -- and provided them with our outcomes for the long-term plan which, amongst other outcomes, include a number of customers, peak demand, consumption, line length, average kilometre of line.

What I was pleased to note, what I intuitively knew, that not only are we efficient today but, baked in our forecast, baked in our planning processes, in terms of how PEG calculates it with an established benchmarking methodology, we will remain efficient, and thanks, of course, to the attention paid to continuous improvement in the development of our plan.

So what does that mean?  I am sure you have heard that many times, that distributors are efficient.  I don't think it is about coming up with a formulaic adjustment.  It is really about what we do on a daily basis.  And it is a culture that you create over a period of time, and at Oshawa, like I'm sure many other distributors, we are proud of having done that.

So I can give you an example, or multiple examples.  We have finance department.  There is a lady that works in our finance department who actually reached out to the management team and said that, The bankers are charging us a little more than they should.  Do I have your permission to negotiate with them?  I thought that was very representative of what that culture of efficiency is all about.

We have a manager in our design group -- these are the folks who design the system -- who is inundated with a lot of growth in Oshawa, and she wanted some help and a full-time equivalent, and as the process is, and as it should be, she had to develop a detailed business case to add that individual before it went into our five-year planning.

We have a manager of our fleet and facilities.  He identified an opportunity that with technology and the fibre assets that one of our affiliates owns, which we can lease bandwidth on, we can put high-speed communications and video feeds to eliminate the need for security as a full-time individual at our premises.

We have an example of a manager in construction and maintenance who himself proposed an innovative method of doing vegetation management.

We have a manager of -- or a supervisor of design who was going to feed Oshawa Centre, a huge shopping mall in the middle of Oshawa, a design that was approved by multiple parties, but he identified opportunities to do that capital investment differently, which resulted in savings on capital expenditure.

So I believe that for me it was a phenomenal confirmation when PEG came back and they said, Yes, you will be efficient on an average by .87 percent throughout your five-year plan period.  And that, of course, was an evidence that we submitted as a part of the interrogatory when they calculated that, you know, at the end of our plan period we will be .87 percent efficient on an average.

Now, that's our interpretation of what the RRFE says when it talks about efficiency improvement and expectation under the RRFE for all of the three different streams of rate-setting processes.

But I do believe that the interpretation, which leads to a formulaic adjustment on top of a very comprehensive planning process, which bakes in efficiency as a culture, is not the right message and, quite frankly, it will be punitive to a distributor who is already efficient.

So to sum it up, I really believe that the benchmarking evidence is the right way of proving that a distributor is efficient or as efficient as possible, which is what the RRFE's focus is on that page 56 of the report.

So now to up the ante for continuous improvement.  Listening to what the Board's been saying in some of the decisions, and to share the risk and reward between the ratepayer and the shareholder beyond the proposed plan period, we explored the idea of developing incentive proposals.  And we have proposed two incentive proposals to stimulate innovation beyond what we already have in our culture.

One is for in incenting the improvements and processes for making capital investments in rate base, to reward a distributor like us, if we were to find -- if we were to find innovative ways to achieve the desired outcomes of a planned DSP project, but at a lower investment.  And of course, we should be penalized if, in achieving those stated outcomes, we have a higher investment cost resulting in a higher rate base.

While currently you do have penalties, they exist only for the plan period.  After the plan period, it is the customer who pays for a much longer time for the length of the asset life.

And the other one is again responding to Board's decision, where the Board's is appreciative of the fact that a lot of distributors may not find opportunities to sustainably change or optimize processes to reduce OM&A towards the end of the plan period.  So there is a perceived lack of that incentive in the current rate-setting, to find sustainable OM&A savings in the final years.

So the mechanism, called efficiency carryover incentive mechanism, really helps us address that situation.

Now, we looked for examples of such proposals for incenting the innovative behavior in other regulatory jurisdictions to support this.  We did not find the exact mechanisms that we had proposed, but what we were pleased to find was similar examples in Alberta Utilities Commission and the Office of Gas and Electricity Market, OFGEM, in the UK.

I know that this is a departure from the norm for all of us, certainly for Oshawa.  I know this because we have discussed this internally at management team and at our corporate board for the risk the utility will take in proposing these kind of incentive mechanisms.

But I do think that when these are implemented -- if, actually I should say -- if and hopefully when they are implemented, they can and they will produce the desired results in incenting the right behavior, which ultimately truly benefits the customers for a sustained period of time, much beyond the plan period.

And for this desired outcome, if and when we do a good job, yes, the shareholder of the utility should benefit from those efforts.

Now, to manage the risk on both sides, I am very comfortable with the 300 basis points limit that we have proposed.

So in response to a number of questions during this process of submitting and reviewing the application with the intervenor group and the Board Staff around the metric that the OEB can use to validate that OPUCN is in fact achieving value for money, particularly with respect to our capital investment plan, we've certainly paid attention to that, and I am pleased to propose that, first of all, we will of course commit to performance throughout the plan period in accordance with the OEB's scorecard.

And that would be, number one, to at least maintain current performance levels for the scorecard metrics.  And even though I believe the scorecard doesn't expect you to maintain it, but just to report those metrics, we are proposing that we maintain our current performance levels for those metrics that we report on.  And for those service quality indicators for which the Board has a minimum, to achieve at least that minimum.

Secondly, we want to suggest another metric that will help us address two key types of outages that we experience on our system.  And I would say that our system is not unique; it's probably across the province.  But we hope that you would accept this metric that we want to propose, and that is to reduce the number of outages because of animal contact and failed porcelain insulators and switches.

Why the emphasis on that?  Because these two outages are roughly, Madam Chair, roughly around 35 to 40 percent of our annual outages.

So what are we proposing?  We are proposing that by the end of the plan period, we will reduce that by at least 20 percent.  And the metric we propose to use will be based on a 36-month rolling average with 2014 as the base line. This will result in an overall reduction in outages from 78 to less than 62 events by the end of the plan.  We can certainly give you more details later on.

So I would like to submit to the Panel that the team at OPUCN has put in a tremendous effort to provide you a comprehensive application that addresses all of the expectations from an applicant under the RRFE.

Now, we were not able to present in application well in advance of the requested January 1st, 2015, rate order; we recognize that.  We currently have interim rates in anticipation of rates being finalized in this process.

What I am requesting of the Board is to award us the requested rate order effective January 1, 2015, as doing anything else would result in our shareholder not receiving just and reasonable returns.

In conclusion, I appreciate the opportunity to present the work done by OPUCN team, to respond to the RRFE expectations set by the Board, and Phil and I are available to answer any questions that the Board and intervenors may have on Exhibits 1 and 10, and the rest of our panel on the rest of the application.

Thank you very much.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Before we begin with cross-examination, counsel can assume that the Panel has reviewed the evidence, the interrogatory responses, read the technical conference transcripts, as well as the undertakings that were provided and the updated evidence that was marked today.

So with that background, hopefully we can expedite the questioning during the oral phase.

Mr. Rubinstein, we're going to start at ten after ten, so please proceed and take your break when you see fit.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.
Cross-Examination By Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Panel, my name is Mark Rubenstein, and I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  I have prepared a compendium.  I am not sure if the Panel has the compendium, or if --


MS. DUFF:  The Panel has it.  So it will be marked as --


MS. LEA:  Yes, Mr. Rubenstein, we will mark this as an exhibit for identification.  Does it contain any new information, or is it all a compendium of what is already on the record?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It does contain a couple of charts I provided my friends late last week.

MS. LEA:  All right.  We will mark it as K1.3, please.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Panel, I would just like to start off with the numbers, just so we can make sure we're starting from the same starting point with the questions.  If I could ask you to turn to page number 1 of the compendium.  This is from the June 23rd update.

Just so I understand how to read the table correctly, on the first row we have the revenue requirement that was originally filed, in the next row the revenue requirement as -- updated as of May 13th, and then the revenue requirements that are shown in the next charts are adjustments that you have made.  And the revenue requirement changes as we go down.

So then on the third from the bottom row, where it says "updated interest rates for 2015 loan", the revenue requirements that flow across from 2015 to 2019, that is what you're seeking, that is what the final adjustment made, that is the revenue requirement that you're seeking.  Am I correct there?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  That's the base revenue requirement that we're seeking.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That is the amount you're seeking from the distribution ratepayers.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.  And if we can turn to page 2 of the compendium.  This is one of the charts I provided you with last week.  At line number 2 it has the total revenue you got from both distribution and other -- and from other sources in 2014.  Am I correct?  That's the 19,504?  19,504,000?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then on line 3 we have the service revenue requirement, so that's the entire amount of money that Oshawa needs to conduct its operations from 2015 to 2019.  Do you see that on the table?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then the increase in revenue that you -- Oshawa says it needs from -- it needs to run its entire operation from 2019 over 2014 is an increase of 45.6 percent.  Would you agree with me, with that?

MR. MARTIN:  I haven't checked the math, but I will agree.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Take that subject to check?  All right.  Then on line 6 we have the -- for 2014 the operating revenue, so that is what you collected from distribution ratepayers.  Do you see that number?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then on line 7 we have the base revenue requirement, so that is the amount that you want to collect from distribution ratepayers only for 2015 and 2019.  So would you agree with me then that -- you can take this subject to check if you haven't looked at the numbers in advance -- that from 2019 over 2014 you're seeking an increase of 48.9 percent more from distribution ratepayers as a whole?

MR. MARTIN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.

MR. MARTIN:  Can I put some perspective on that?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I can ask the question, do you think that is fair, and I assume that will allow you to give your perspective.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  So in Exhibit 1 we had presented a table with average revenue per customer and compared that to a number of other utilities which were identified as -- from our peer group back when PEG had benchmarking and had cohort groups.

So as of 2013 -- and this is from the yearbook, the OEB yearbook -- Oshawa's average revenue -- distribution revenue per customer was $363.  Now, which was far and away the lowest out of the group of comparatives.

If we advance that to 2019, the average revenue per customer becomes $455.  Taking into account all of the revenue items, which actually only -- as of 2013, only two peers are lower than that in '13.  One is equal and ten are in fact even higher.

So while there is a significant increase, I think that the rates implied by the revenue per customer are still fair and reasonable.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would agree with me, then, that even for Oshawa, they're going to see on a per customer basis, that is an increase to serve those customers?

MR. MARTIN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could take you now to -- I want to discuss with you why you applied under custom IR.  There was some discussion this morning about why you think it is a better process, and I want to dig down deeper with you.

And on page 3 -- this is from your evidence, and at the end of the page you quote the section from the RRFE, and that section reads:

"A custom IR method will be the most appropriate for distributors when significantly large multi-year or highly variable investment commitments that exceed historic levels."

Do you see that?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then if we flip over to the next page -- this is the next page from your evidence, right up at the front -- it says:

"The main driver for OPUCN's application for approval of the custom IR rate plan is OPUCN's large multi-year capital investment requirements."

So it is a large capital investment requires at a high level that is driving the custom IR, why you think a custom IR is appropriate.

MR. MARTIN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And then you say that the main drivers for OPUCN's application -- and you talk about them.  My understanding from the evidence is it is primarily due to the following, and that is that your expenditure -- capital expenditure is caused by 3 percent annual growth and those caused by relocations.

Is that in a nutshell what we're talking about here?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes, it is the growth.  It's continued renewal activities and, plus, influenced by third-party requirements, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And on page 5 of the compendium -- this is also from your evidence -- I think you explained why you believe a custom IR -- you need a custom IR to accommodate those expenditures, and that is because the annual capital expenditures versus depreciation, in your view, you say -- this is on the top of page -- this is on page number 5, where you present the tables and you say in the second paragraph:

"Table 2 identifies the increase in rate base resulting from OPUCN's forecast capital investment requirements and the related shortfall in the deemed ROE resulting in a fourth-generation IRM model."

So what you are talking about is, because of your -- the ratio between your capital expenditures and your depreciation causes under the normal process, in your view, a shortfall in the ROE.

Is that at a high level what the issue is, in your view?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to talk about the capital needs.  Now, a significant portion of the capital expenditures are for really two projects, would I be correct?  That is the capital contributions for the Enfield TS, which are approximately 13.5 million, and then there is the new distribution station and the related feeders at 10.9 million.

Would you agree that those are really the two largest projects that you have?

MR. MARTIN:  They're the two largest projects, which represent about a third of the total cap ex requirements.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn to page 6 we can see those capital -- we can see those capital projects -- this is from your Appendix 2A, and we see them on line 48, 49, and 50.  Am I correct?

MR. MARTIN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn to page 7 we look again at 48, 49, and 50.  I simply just deleted those projects.  And that is a reduction of almost $29 million, about a third, as you were just saying.  Am I correct?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we remove those two largest rate projects, the rest of the capital expenditures are actually at or below historical amounts.  Would you agree?  And I'm looking -- if we take a look at your last rebasing case in 2012, and we look at 2012, 2013, 2014, and then we look at 2015 through 2019, would you agree with me that if you remove those projects the capital expenditures are roughly at or below historical amounts?

MR. MARTIN:  No.  They're at or below the levels of cap ex from 2012 to '14.  The five years prior to that cost-of-service application, we were approximately 3- to $5 million a year.  So historical, I don't believe is necessarily to -- represented by 2012 to '14.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we look at --


MR. MARTIN:  Sorry, in our cost-of-service application in 2012, it was acknowledged, we identified it, and we acknowledged that cap ex requirements for that rate term, 2012 to '15, we're going to be exceeding sort of historical levels and, in fact, exceeding depreciation levels, which I think is a proxy for -- in fact is a better proxy for historical capital costs.

It doesn't necessarily take into account a specific time frame.  It takes into account the profile of the rate base or asset base of the utility.

And as we have identified in relation to the plan term 2012 to 2015, we significantly under-earned in that period of time as a result of those capital expenditures.

So I think using those particular years as a reference point is completely unfair.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I am actually just asking a factual question, not even an interpretation question.

We know this -- are you saying from 2012 to 2014, let's just take those time frames, versus if you take 2015-2019 and you remove those two large projects, your capital expenditures are not lower on average?

MR. MARTIN:  No, sorry.  So in answer to your question, the factual question, they're in line with the 2012 to 2014.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Even if we go back and we start from 2010 and we look at 2010 to 2014?

MR. MARTIN:  No.  I mean, are you eliminating the smart meter investments?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am looking at just your capital expenditure table.  I am looking at table 2A.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That is all I wanted -- my question wanted to get at.

Are you familiar, Mr. Martin, with the report of the Board on new policy options for funding of capital investments, the advanced capital module report?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you are familiar with the advanced capital module concept?

MR. MARTIN:  I am.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And would you agree with me that two large discrete projects, the capital contributions for the Hydro One Enfield distribution station and for the Hydro One transmission station and the distribution, are largest rate projects advanced capital module could address?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So considering that, with the exclusion of the two large projects, your capital expenditures based on the 2A table are less than what you spent since your last rebasing proceeding, why is the custom IR appropriate and not a fourth generation IRM with the advanced capital module for those two projects?

MR. MARTIN:  Well, again, thanks for asking; that gives me an opportunity.  I do want to take us back to 2012.  In 2012, we had identified a need for capital expenditures.  There wasn't a custom IR mechanism available at the time.

The outcome of the decision, while it allowed us to earn a reasonable return in 2012, we had identified a problem or a situation as a result of the IRM mechanism at the time, whereby we were going to be under-earning thereafter in the rate term.

To give our board of directors credit, they still approved the capital requirements, or the capital plan that underpinned the five-year rate term, even though we were going to produce or under-earn.  And we had actually identified at the time that we would likely hit an off-ramp in either 2013-2014.

So I think we're a good example of what can happen to a utility, you know, under the old regime without a custom IR. So I think it is important to put that in perspective.

We under-earned; we had an off-ramp and we under- earned by 3 percent in 2013. So one year after getting rates, we triggered an off-ramp.  That off ramp -- and we triggered an off-ramp again in 2014.

In 2015, we would trigger an off-ramp again, based on those capital expenditures.

So it is interesting to me that you bring up 2012 to 2014 as the base line for not using a custom IR going forward, when in fact the capital expenditures that we're planning -- notwithstanding the MS9 and Hydro One is in fact, pretty much in line with those expenditure levels in 2000 and --


So even without those, there is a gap.  There would be a gap between the capital spending and the depreciation levels that would occur.  And those capital projects, in my interpretation of the ECM, do not actually fall or qualify or fit into the ECM mechanism because they're multiple.  They're not necessarily discrete.  They're subject to volatility, depending on third party influence, et cetera, et cetera.

So these capital projects still put us in a position where we would be under-earning for the period 2015 through 2018 and 2019, at which point in time we would pick up the two large projects.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So this is the capital expenditures versus depreciation ratio issue that you said that causes the --


MR. MARTIN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's explore that for a second.  First, am I correct that it is not actually capital expenditures.  Capital expenditures are not how rates are derived, am I correct?  It is in-service additions, capital additions which is what goes in rates.

MR. MARTIN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the proper analysis is in-service additions versus depreciation.  But I understand for you that the chart, the 2A cap ex chart, equals your in-service additions.

MR. MARTIN:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And while the Enfield TS station spreads out over numerous years, am I correct, the capital contributions, there is really only one project, and that is -- for the one transformer station for the Enfield station, correct?  And that is supposed to go in service in 2018, correct?  While you're paying the capital contributions, you expect multiple years?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes, we're not sure it is in-service in 2018.  That is subject to Hydro One's completion.

Are we talking MS9 or are we talking Hydro One?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We're talking about the Enfield TS.

MR. MARTIN:  Hydro One.  Our prediction is 2018.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So let me take you to page 8 of our compendium.  This is a chart we put together and sent to you last week.

What this chart shows is, on the first set of boxes, Oshawa's application, your test year capital additions versus net depreciation ratio.  Do you see that at the top?  It starts at 3.17, goes down to 2.08.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's what we're talking about is a multiple here.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what we have also shown is a cost of service applications as filed 2016 for January 1, the cost of service applications in 2015, the final decision or settlement agreement, and all of the ones for 2014.  Do you see that?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would agree with me there are some that are lower than yours, but there are also some that are higher than yours?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you explain to me why you are different, why you would need to deal with this issue through a custom IR, when all of these other utilities, some that have higher than yours, have chosen to deal with it, or believe they can deal with it under a cost of service approach?

MR. MARTIN:  Well, I'm assuming, first of all, they didn't experience the erosion of earnings that we did in 2012-2014 or 2012 to 2015, depending on the outcome.

I can't answer -- I can conjecture or I can make -- I can speculate, I suppose.  Again, looking at some of these utilities, I know from comparisons that we made to them relative to OM&A, et cetera, that they certainly are not nearly as efficient as Oshawa.  So perhaps they have room to cover it in other areas.

But I think, fundamentally, I don't think it's -- I believe we would be doing a disservice to our shareholder, an in fact to the ratepayers and to our board of directors, -- to accept under-earnings at any level.

I mean, I think you would agree that each of these companies, while they seem to have accepted these type of ratios, for whatever reason they've accepted the earnings impact that comes with it, all things being equal.

I am not sure that that's necessarily something that we should adopt simply because others have.

We've presented a very lean, honest rate application.  We have not built any contingencies in there.  And as a result, we don't believe that we could make these earnings erosion up anywhere else.

I would also like to add one, if you don't mind.  Horizon, who I think is the only successful example of a custom IR decision, they have spreads that are similar to ours as well.  I am not sure how I -- so 2015 they've got a 1.6 spread.  1.7 in '16.  1.9 in '17.  2.0 in '18, and 2.1 -- an average of 1.9, very similar numbers to ours.

And I'm assuming that they entertained the custom IR for the same reasons that we did.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could ask you to turn to page 9.  In this chart we've tried to normalize the ratio by removing the two large projects.  If we remove the capital contributions -- and you can see this in lines 7 through 9 -- and then for the depreciation we removed the depreciation, we made an estimate of a 40-year service life for the asset.  So do you see that?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you accept that as roughly a fair approach in doing it?

MR. MARTIN:  I will.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If you look at lines 14 to 15 you now see the capital -- the adjusted capital additions, and then in line 15 the adjusted depreciation.  Do you see the adjusted ratio on line 16?  Do you see that?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And do you see it compared to the history of 2011 through 2014?  We're getting significantly less than where we were in the past.  Do you see that?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go back to page 8 we have included this in, again, those adjusted numbers in the bottom lines, 30 through 38.  Do you see that?

MR. MARTIN:  Sorry?  Take me back.  What page?  Which page?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  Page 8 of the compendium.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would agree with me that now from some of other utilities on cost of service, being above -- having a ratio above where you are, now it is much more.  You would agree with that?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.

MR. MARTIN:  Can I add something to that?  Again, I don't want to keep -- well, I do, I guess, want to keep reminding the folks of the erosion in earnings in '12 to '14 that were underpinned by these ratios.

My calculation of the under-earnings that would be associated with these spreads, while they're compared to others, using depreciation rates between 25 and 40 years, the loss on earnings of these ratios, if we were to accept them, or did not at least apply for them under a custom IR, would equate to somewhere between a million and $2 million cumulatively.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So help me understand this.  If all of these other utilities can be at where you are or roughly where you are, in terms of the test-year capital addition, they have all decided to go on cost-of-service application, I assume can run the same numbers that you are running.  Can you explain to me why they would do that?  Wouldn't this be a crisis in the industry?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Let me try.  Let me try.  Do we have to follow every utility, because I think under the custom IR, if there is a mechanism that is available -- I know what we're trying to do is we're saying if we strip this out, this could fit this mould.

But what I want to understand is, in your opinion, what is the right multiple?  Is there a number in mind?  Because I don't see a number anywhere which talks about the fact that you have to be below two or above two to take this kind of an approach.

The whole idea was custom IR under the RRFE was available to those distributors who have higher than normal capital expenditures.  And I believe that, based on what Mr. Martin has been saying, and the DSP plan that we put together, that is what it dictates.  We are going to be spending at a higher clip.  That is not -- that's not disputable.

What is reality is now these two distinct capital expenditures that you're talking about, you're asking us to strip them out.  But I am trying to understand why.  Why does that help the process, because the application is in front of you.  That's what -- from a utility standpoint, I've got to -- we've got to manage our business on a $75 million spend.  Whether you strip this one out and that one out and try to fit that in a different mould, is that possible?  I guess it is.  But you're asking me why do the other utilities choose to do a cost of service and an IRM.  I don't know.  And I think the answer is, for us, this is an approach, this is under the RRFE, so we follow that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am not asking you to do anything.  I am just trying to explore the evidence and understand why you have chosen the custom IR.

MR. MAHAJAN:  That is why, because we do have higher than normal capital expenditures by taking into account each and every program and project and not stripping out the required capacity enhancements.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You talk about choosing a method.  Would you agree with me that the point of choosing a method of rate-setting and the Board then approving that method of rate-setting is not which method will provide the utility with the most revenue and thus the higher rates at the end of the plan.  You would agree with me that can't be the --


MR. MAHAJAN:  Sorry, come again?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would agree with me that the point in choosing a method of rate-setting and then how the Board determines if that is the appropriate method of rate-setting is not which method will provide the utility with the most revenue and thus the higher rates over the five-year term?

MR. MARTIN:  That's correct.  But they also -- but included in the rate-setting mechanism is to provide a reasonable rate-of-return as prescribed.  The rate-of-return is in fact prescribed by the Board.

So we're not talking about -- we're not talking about how to get the highest revenue requirement here.  What we're talking about is how to in fact execute our plan as required and earn a reasonable -- and earn the reasonable rate-of-return that is prescribed by the Board.

There is not an expectation, or I have not read anywhere that there is an expectation to earn less.  I don't know why the others have decided to earn less, if in fact that is going to be the case, so I can't answer your former question in terms of what the others are thinking.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about customer engagement.  You would agree with me at a high level the RRFE requires enhanced consultation between distributors and its customers?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding from your response to 1-SEC-8 -- this is in the compendium at page 10 -- is that the customer engagement activities that relate -- that you undertook as it in a sense relates to this application were taking part in the UtilityPULSE survey with a few additional questions than the standard ones that exist, and then doing a specific GS over 50 customer service -- customer survey, correct?

MR. MARTIN:  Sorry, repeat that?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It is my understanding that the customer engagement activities that you have undertaken for this or related to this application where you took part in the UtilityPULSE survey and you added a few additional questions, and you did a specific GS over 50 customer survey.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct that at no point in the surveys do you provide any information about the proposed application and customers -- and ask for customers' views on your spending priorities in this application?

MR. MARTIN:  No.  Not in the survey.  But we did, in fact, put on our website our distribution system plan for customers who were interested in looking at it, but did not receive any feedback.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Did you advertise it outside of --


MR. MARTIN:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.  So you did not engage your customers on the necessary and capital and operating costs that you believe you had and the associated cost consequences of that?

MR. MARTIN:  Not this time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as a result of the surveys, were any changes made to the application?

MR. MARTIN:  No.  The surveys indicated to us that the -- let me just step back for a second.

It is important to look at our capital spending or distribution system plan and keep in mind that there are categories of capital expenditure.

So when we're talking about customer engagement, while I am not suggesting they don't have the right to be informed, I am not sure that there's -- I'm not sure that they could influence, to any large extent, the capital expenditures relating to MS9, nor could they influence Hydro One, which is a third of the capital spending.

Another component of the capital spending -- another significant component of the capital spending relates to expansion requirements that the City of Oshawa and the Durham Region associated with the 407 ETR has basically imposed on the utility and unfortunately imposed on the ratepayers.

So again, not to suggest they shouldn't be informed.  However, I am not sure that they would in fact have been able to influence either of those categories.

So if we carve those out for a moment -- because those really aren't eligible for re-planning -- then essentially what we're left with is system renewal and things that affect reliability, like the porcelain insulators, switches, et cetera, you know, so from a reliability standpoint.  And that level of spending, you know, is kind of in the normal range for Oshawa, I believe.

So, no, we did not adjust our distribution system plan in relation to the survey.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Did the surveys shape the application at all?

MR. MARTIN:  The surveys -- I think what we're getting out of the surveys -- so the RRFE, which is fairly new in 2012, the requirement for this outreach program for customer engagements, it was pretty much left up to the utilities prior to the RRFE.

Oshawa has always taken a pragmatic approach to customer engagement.  We're a fairly small utility.  Our doors are open to customers.  We answer calls.  We do all of sort of the principal engagement activities.

From the RRFE, the onus is now on us to ramp-up those activities, but we didn't have the time; nor did we put the -- had the ability to put the resources in place in order to ramp-up those activities for this particular rate application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You add heed a few questions in the UtilityPULSE survey.  You didn't say --


MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  So the UtilityPULSE survey was, in fact, it is a survey that a number of utilities participate in.  We did ask UtilityPULSE to add questions that they typically -- so the focus of the UtilityPULSE surveys in the past were really about customer loyalty, trying to identify areas where customers were either unhappy or happy with the utility.  It really didn't focus necessarily on distribution system plans.  It didn't focus so much on reliability, et cetera.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Just to add to what Phil has been talking about in terms of that response to your question:   Did it shape the distribution system plan?  Absolutely.

It's not just those five questions.  The entire survey -- what I take away from that survey is besides billing complaints, the highest issue that is on top of their mind is reliability, which is not a surprise.

And the other part that came out -- not as a part of the survey, but as a part of our -- call it an engagement, it was more of a council briefing that was done a few years ago where the customers are talking about the other thing that bothers them is momentaries.  And that is why we do have a program to put squirrel guards in there, because animal contact is one of the biggest drivers of momentary outages that bothered the customers a lot.

So it was a great corroboration for us to make sure that, yes, we are on the right path when we are building this DSP.  So it did shape our DSP.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I just want to make sure we're using the same language.  I would say there is a difference between shaping the application, corroborating with the application -- and I am looking on page 10 of our compendium, and in the last paragraph, the fourth paragraph, you say the survey reinforced its distribution system plan.  
Now it seems to me that you did the distribution plan, you had your capital expenditure planning, and then you did the survey and, you know, you were doing the things that people say they wanted us to do.

That is different than shaping it, though, you would agree with me?

MR. MAHAJAN:  So besides the semantics, the reality is when we take a look at the response from the survey, which basically says outages do bother us, and the feedback from the customers is momentaries do bother us, and we look at our distribution system plan and it accommodates those two objectives, then we continue with that distribution plan; we don't change it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we turn to page 11 of the compendium, this is in response to question number C, this is from 1-GOCC-2, it says:
"Every GS over 50 interviewed is asked for one or two suggestions to help OPUCN improve their service."

And the number one suggestion received by all classes of customers -- residential, small commercial and GS 50 -- is to reduce rates.  Do you see that?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then if you are not asking your customers -- if they say reliability is important, but if you are not putting a cost on that improvement in reliability, what are you getting out of it?

MR. MAHAJAN:  So costs absolutely are important, but that doesn't mean that, you know, the reliability should suffer.

If it costs -- we have been talking about this benchmarking evidence in my opening statement, and the benchmarking evidence is all over the application.

We are paying attention to the costs, but that doesn't mean we don't get the job done.  We just do it more responsibly and more prudently when we are --


MR. MARTIN:  I don't think it would surprise anybody that the number one issue for customers would be rates.  But again for perspective, Oshawa has the lowest rates by far out all of the peers that we have identified.  In fact, we may be the lowest in Ontario.

Even with the significant jump in rates in 2015, which is basically a catch-up for spending in 2000, we're still the lowest.

So it is an unfortunate situation that we find ourselves in, where we've got to invest more than we have had to in the last ten or twelve years in the infrastructure.

Our average fixed assets per customer -- which again is a metric that is used by the Ontario Energy Board -- is, again by far and away lower than any of the other utilities.

It implies that -- in fact, that was identified by Mr. Jay Shepherd in our 2012 rate application, and I did reference it in the application.  So I do feel it is fair to bring it up again.

Even with these investments, we're still low.  So we do find ourselves in a situation where we have to spend, we have to invest.  The impact of that is going to be an increase on rates.

Again, we have to classify our investments.  Some of these investments -- the Hydro One, the MS9 -- certainly benefits the customers.  They're required expenditures for us.  They're going to benefit the customers that are there in Oshawa, but there is a significant amount of those investments that are going to basically service growth in the customer base going forward as well.

And on occasion, utilities are faced with the requirement to make these lumpy types of expenditures.  So since 2012, we have been spending primarily in renewable type of investments.

Our infrastructure was old, as indicated by the average cost per customer.  We had to invest; we had to bring it up to standard.  Reliability was beginning to suffer.  Our reliability statistics in 2013, 2014 and so far in 2015 are on a downward curve.

Reliability was expressed as -- I believe it would be the second-most important point to customers other than rates, and that had to be addressed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My only question was this -- and this goes back to what I asked before.  You didn't say to your customers, "We know reliability is important to you, but this is the cost increase that you are going to have to face."

You didn't provide that to your customers, did you?

MR. MARTIN:  We did not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you.  I want to move on to another section.  I just want to understand, and I think this was talked about during Mr. Mahajan's opening statement, about the approach you took to budgeting and it was a bottom-up approach.

You went through the five years and you determined what you are going to need.  Am I correct that is the basis idea of how you did this?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You talked about how it is not an index approach for some other mechanistic change year over year, correct?  You said what do I need in each of the years, what is our costs going to be in the years, what do we think the revenue is going to be in the years.  Am I correct?

MR. MAHAJAN:  We did not -- once we developed those forecasts, we did not reduce that by a certain productivity index, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what is the difference between that method and a five-year cost of service method?

MR. MARTIN:  So what we're talking about mere here is a methodology for budgeting.  So you have zero-based budgeting, you have a historical trend type of things to budget.  That is the way we budgeted; that is the way we built up our costs.

Both on the OM&A side and as well on the capital side we did our own designs.  We took into account the requirements, the information from the city, the region, et cetera, and we built those costs up.  Then we benchmarked them.

So in the case of the costs, in the case of the overall costs, so the total costs, we used PEG.  And I know this idea of an index continues to come up, and what I read is it's an X factor.

PEG has, in fact, defined for the Board the X factor under its benchmarking models and basically prescribes from that stretch factors.

So the outcome of the index that is applied, for example, under an IRM is basically to ensure or impose through the stretch factors the efficiencies.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I --


MR. MARTIN:  That's the outcome --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- my question was not, what is the difference between -- my question was simply what is the difference between what you have done and a five-year cost of service.


MR. MARTIN:  I am getting there.  I think it is important to -- because what you're talking about, you're suggesting that our budgeting process, which is just a mechanical way of coming up with -- I mean, I presume everybody, in order to do a five-year plan, would have to sit down and start to determine FTEs, determine costs, et cetera.  It is a process.

We then indexed that process.  We indexed the outcome of that process by benchmarking it, using the models that are currently used to underpin or define the -- the results of that benchmarking told us that, in fact, the efficiencies, you could reverse-engineer stretch factors, and in our case it was a .87 stretch factor as indicated by PEG.  Not by us.  That .87 is a total product -- a total productivity factor.  If you bifurcate those between OM&A and capital, the OM&A is over 2 percent.

So I actually think that -- so while we followed a certain process in order to come up with a budget and a plan, we believe that the benchmarking indexed that plan against the model or the X factor that is applied under current IRM.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask the question in another way.  In determining the five-year budgets that underpin your application, if this was a cost-of-service application instead of a five-year custom IR, what would you have done differently?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Probably not any difference.  You know, when you develop -- whether you develop it as a five-year cost of service or a custom IR, I think from a budgeting standpoint, from an operating standpoint, that is what you would do:  You would come up with a budget that underpins a five-year forecast.

What we did extra under the RRFE guidelines is to say, does this five-year forecast give us continuous efficiency evidence?  And it does.  And that is the difference, that's the key difference.

But in terms of how we develop the budgets, I think it will be similar.  It shouldn't be -- to my knowledge it shouldn't be any different.

MR. MARTIN:  I think, to expand on that, it is a hypothetical question:  What would we have done?

I think the question is, what would we have done if the benchmarking had suggested that we didn't have an efficient forecast?  That would be the indicator to us that we would have to exercise some sort of decision or influence on the budget.

It is not a question of -- that's the importance of the benchmarking.  It's not a question of how we budgeted it.  It's a question of how we tested that budget.

And we tested it against the benchmarking.  And it passed with flying colours, according to PEG.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So --


MR. MARTIN:  Which told us that we didn't -- we didn't have to rework it.  In fact, it suggested to us that we might be, in fact, short.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So to be clear, that is your interpretation of what the report said.  The report doesn't say:  Go change -- you don't need to change your budget or you do need to change your budget.

MR. MARTIN:  That wasn't the -- the idea behind the report was to test the forecast to see whether or not we, in fact, had efficiencies built in relative to the X factor.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So as we have discussed, there is no stretch factor in setting the adjustments.

Is there any externally --


MR. MARTIN:  Sorry, there is no stretch factor?  There is an interrogatory that required PEG to reverse-engineer a stretch factor.  They did.  And they came up with .87.  PEG's report came up with .87.  So I don't think to suggest there is no stretch factor --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You're not annually adjusting based on a stretch factor, am I correct?  You are determining -- you have decided -- you have reverse-engineered that the results of your budget may come to -- there may be an implicit stretch factor.

MR. MARTIN:  That's true.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But there is no adjustment based on a stretch factor.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's all I was asking.

So is there any externally imposed improvement incentives in your budget that are externally imposed?

MR. MARTIN:  Externally imposed?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. MARTIN:  Can you give me an example?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there an annual adjustment that -- or in your budget did you -- in setting your budget for those years was there something external to you --


MR. MARTIN:  The result of -- I keep -- I'm not sure where we're getting here.  But the result of our budget, in fact, implies that there is an index or an annual -- or the result is that it equals -- or the outcome of the budget performs or produces the same thing that we would have applied if we had put an index in place.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But in setting your budget, there is nothing that says we need to do even better.  Am I correct?

MR. MAHAJAN:  No.  In setting our budget it was more about, what is needed to do the job.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. MAHAJAN:  And there was no external index or any adjustment to reduce it, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't know if the Panel wants to take a break now or...

MS. DUFF:  That's perfect.  It is three minutes to 11.  Let's take our 15-minute break, and we will be back just before quarter after then.  Thank you.
--- Recess at 10:57 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:15 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  Mr. Rubenstein, do you want to continue with your cross-examination?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, thank you very much.  If I could have a moment here.

Mr. Martin and Mr. Mahajan, you're familiar with the Board's annual stretch factor analysis, where it determines a stretch factor for utilities under fourth generation IRM?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is you're currently in the second cohort, being the second best cohort?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is, under the plan and under PEG's analysis, in 2015 and 2016 you drop to the third cohort.  Am I correct about that?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when you're talking about improvement, that would seem to me that you're becoming less efficient.

MR. MARTIN:  Well, according to the PEG report we do, in fact, return to the second cohort group in 2018 and 2019, and perhaps as early as 2017.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So until you return, because you slipped in efficiency, the ratepayers are not getting an adjustment for that.

MR. MAHAJAN:  So you're right.  The short answer is yes, but here is what we all need to understand.

When we say that we have used a bottom-up process, why it goes up -- I think it is important to understand the story behind the numbers.  What's happening is, we have to plan for a lot of retirements, and we need to hire the technicians and the linemen well ahead of the retirement date that they are going to be replacing.

So when you do that, your costs will go up.  But then they will come down, because the individual is going to retire.  For example, in 2017 and 2016, we have a bunch of retirements; but we need to start replacing them now.

And if we do that, then yes, those calculations would reflect that.  But the reality is that by the end of that term, once the retirements do take place, then you are back to cohort 2.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could ask you to turn to page 12 of the --


MR. MARTIN:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, can I just add -- and it did come up during the technical conference.  As you're aware, we did identify an error in the reported kilometres of line for the company.

We identified that while we were reporting our RRRs in 2014 -- sorry, 2015, and there was a question in regards to whether or not that would have changed the historical position of the company.

So would he passed that, we did run that by PEG recently and, in fact, we would have been in cohort 3 in 2013 and 2014 as a result of that adjustment.

And as you recall, we did embed that correct kilometre of line metric in the benchmarking forecast.  So we didn't carry the error forward into the mechanism.

So in fact, we're actually, on an adjusted basis, staying in 3 up until 2017 or 2018 and then moving to 12 -- sorry, to cohort 2.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And there is five cohorts, am I correct?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You're in the middle cohort?

MR. MARTIN:  The middle cohort would be 3, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  If we can turn to page 12 here, this is from the RRFE report.  It is a chart comparing the three methods.  Do you see that?  The three rate-setting methods, the fourth generation IR --


MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to go through a couple of things.  So the first thing is under form, just to confirm.  Under custom IR it says "custom index", and I think we have discussed this at length.  There is no -- you have not provided an index, correct?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go down to sharing of benefits, do you see that?  Do you see where it says case-by-case for custom IR?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. MARTIN:  Sorry.  We're talking about form.  Let me just go back to this index question again.

So the process we followed was to prepare, as you mentioned, a bottom-up budget.

We then tested that against an index, tested it with PEG's model.  The implication that I am hearing, I think, Mr. Rubenstein, if I've got it right, is that what we should have done is started with our rebase year and applied an index which, if that is the process we would have followed thereafter, given the end result, we would have had to have built a plan, a top-up plan.  You can't operate a company, as you know, based on a number.  You have to put a plan together.

So simply by doing it in a different order, we get -- we are at the same result.  In fact, the result of our budgeting process is -- and as informed by PEG's analysis, in fact results in what would have, in fact, occurred if in fact we applied an index from the start.

At some point in time, you have to build a plan.  Whether you start with it or you end with it, given the target that you have given, you have to build a plan.  You can't operate off a number.

The index gives you a number; I think we can all agree on that.  It doesn't give you a plan.

I do believe -- I disagree that we did not incorporate an index into our planning process.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All it says is "form", I am assuming form of the proposal.  It is the Board's document, not my document, and it says "custom index" and the answer is no.

MR. MAHAJAN:  No, we didn't.

MR. MARTIN:  So I still --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think we understand --


MR. MARTIN:  Form is form, but there is a substance over form.  What is the substance of the point?  Substance of the point, I believe, is to create an outcome.

MR. MAHAJAN:  So you're right we did not apply custom index.  But here is something that Mr. Martin and I have been trying to say. It will be punitive, and I'll tell you why.

Once you develop these plans -- whether you call them cost of service plans or custom IR plans, we have to develop -- I think the expectation, whether the RRFE is expecting that from us, or we are expecting, or our customers are expecting, we have to develop a solid business plan.

Once you develop the business plan and we apply a custom index -- let's say 1 percent, for the sake of argument.  At the end we give it to PEG.  Instead of saying a .87 percent productivity at the end of the plan period, it may be 1.9.

Now, that doesn't help, because it will be punitive.  We will not be able to operate safely and reliably.

So the idea of just artificially applying a 1 percent or two percent, or whatever the number is -- because I believe right now our productivity is zero, and the stretch factor for our cohort is .4.  So you take the inflation and you apply that.

You will have a PEG result which says you are super-efficient.  But that doesn’t mean we can operate based on that super-efficient.

I am happy with the fact that PEG is saying you're efficient, and we are demonstrating that not just with our current results, but with our forecast results.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you're saying then the budget that you have that, then after it was done, that PEG reviewed, you can't be more efficient than that?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.  We are already demonstrating the efficiency based on -- we are being more efficient.  We are currently efficient, based on a five-year planning which I have confirmed to you.  The answer to your question is yes, it was done based on planning exercise, both from an operating and a capital standpoint.

After we did that, we gave it to PEG, and PEG says you have an implied productivity of .87 percent.  I don't know if that is enough, Mr. Rubenstein, but that's the way we believe that it is efficient.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if we go down to sharing of benefits here, you’ll see it says a productivity factor for each of those and there is a stretch factor for custom IR, a case-by-case, annual IR index.

So there is no explicit stretch factor; I think we can agree on that much.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And there is no earnings sharing, or any other sort of mechanism like that.  If you over-earn, if you do become more, that you share some of that during the plan with ratepayers, correct?  There is no earnings sharing mechanism.

MR. MARTIN:  No earnings sharing.  But the capital incentive mechanism -- so again, the stretch factor is on a total cost basis, not just earnings, and the capital incentive mechanism does provide for sharing of efficiencies relative to those capital plans.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But not any of sharing of those extra efficiencies that happened within the plan.  Am I correct?

MR. MARTIN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you.  Do you see, sir, it says "term of the plan", it says the minimum term is five years?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, based on where we are at the hearing, end of June, early July and where the arguments are happening, the schedule is, would you agree with me that it is fair that there may not be a final decision or at least a rate order until October?  That's not an unreasonable assumption to make?


MR. MAHAJAN:  I hope not, Mr. Rubenstein.  I don't know when it would be, but I hope not.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, Mr. Martin, in your regulatory experience do you think -- I mean, at the very least, six months of the year is already gone.  You would agree with that?


MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  In my one regulatory experience, yes, I would agree, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would you agree then if the Board does not set your rates effective January 1st, 2015 that you are seeking, then the plan will be materially less than five years.  At the very least it would be four-and-a-half years, probably more.


MR. MARTIN:  I am not -- I haven't predisposed myself to that outcome, but I am not sure why it would, therefore, have to end on December 31st, 2019.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you seeking to have rates set for January 2020?


MR. MARTIN:  No.  We're seeking to have rates set for January 1st, 2015, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Til the end of 2019?


MR. MARTIN:  Correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then at the very least if the rates are effective today, it's only four-and-a-half --


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, sir.  Yes, sir.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.  I want to talk about some of the other important aspects of the RRFE, and this was discussed in your opening statement.


You talked about ensuring value for money for customers.  Do you agree that that is an important aspect of the --


MR. MAHAJAN:  Absolutely.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Where in the application sort of generally would we find information that shows customers are getting their value for their money?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Okay.  So in the application I believe we have shown that currently Oshawa's rates are the lowest amongst our cohort group, if I am not mistaken.  Oshawa's cost, in terms of OM&A, in terms of our rate base per customer, is amongst the lowest.  And in terms of our reliability, while it may not be four 9s, but it is two 9s and a 9-8.  I don't know if that is not good value.


I do believe it is a good value.  I am a customer too.  And, you know, and I would -- I would think that that is a good value, in terms of keeping our costs low.  That's what translates to low rates, and from a reliability standpoint, on an average over the last several years, we can do better, but it's been, you know, three 9s and an 8.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So going forward and for the plan --


MR. MAHAJAN:  So just one second.  May I ask you what do you think -- because I am really interested in knowing your opinion -- what is a good value for service?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I am not up on the witness stand.  It is your application with your onus.  I have my own ideas.


But let me ask you:  Going forward for 2015 to 2019, we have talked about before, there's going to be an increase per -- dollars per customer that they will have to spend.


Where are we measuring that they're getting a -- that that's -- that that added amount they're going to pay they're going to get value for?  What are the outcomes you are going to measure the plan at the end of the day when we're back here in 2020 and looking to see if the plan is a success and they got value for money?  What are we going to look at?


MR. MAHAJAN:  We talked about the metrics that we proposed, and the metrics that we proposed is, number one, you know, from a scorecard standpoint we will maintain the metrics that the scorecard talks about.  And the metrics where there are minimums we will maintain or try to beat those.


And in terms of reducing the outages for the two primary causes, which is animal contacts and porcelain insulator and switch failures, with polymer replacement, that is -- you know, that is significant.  Those are the two measures we are proposing.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  To be clear, you provided those for the first time this morning?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, sir.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So can I ask you then for the amount of money -- how much capital -- maybe you could push this to panel 2 if it is better, but, I mean, the question I want to know is how -- what type of capital expenditures are you investing in that will have the effect of reducing the animal contacts and the polymer switch failure?


MR. MAHAJAN:  So thank you for suggesting that we can push that to panel which will follow our panel, but I will tell you at a high level.  That is not implicit in our system sustainment.


In terms of our total capital plan, as you know, we are planning for capacity, which is significant, and in terms of maintaining our system, that is a part of the standard now, and wherever there is overhead we will put scorecards.  Wherever you have porcelain -- whenever we are doing the land rebuilds they will be all polymer.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is this a small part of your capital expenditures that are going to deal with this issue?  Or is it a large part of...


MR. MAHAJAN:  It is the sustainment part of our capital.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So all of the -- I assume by "sustainment" you mean renewal work?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It goes to that?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So for the about $4 million a year that you're roughly spending on sustainment, this is the benefit customers are getting?


MR. MAHAJAN:  No.  There are two outcomes.  For the sustainment we will maintain our performance on reliability, two 9s and an 8, three 9s and 8, or four 9s.


In addition to that, outages that bother our customers for momentaries, and related to -- which is principally related to animal contact -- will be -- in that, you know, number of outages we want to reduce by 20 percent, and absolutely further details we will be more than happy to provide you through the next panel.


MR. MARTIN:  And again, to be clear, so I think what you're referring to would be the existing customer base in Oshawa.


And again, I think it is important to keep perspective on the capital expenditures.  There is significant capital expenditures in this case that is really in support of MS9, Hydro One, Hydro One's regional planning, MS9 is due to capacity expenditures.  They're lumpy expenditures.


I am not sure that we can relate those specifically to benefits -- sharing benefits with the customers over the plan term.  Those are investments that will essentially accrue benefits to the customers for a long time in the future.


So I think what we're talking about here, relatively speaking, so if we're going to infer that the expenditure on the squirrel guards and -- in respect of what we're doing for the reliability is small in relation to the total cap ex, I don't think it is small in relation to the cap ex that is outside of those sort of third-party requirements or the projects that are influenced outside of this.


Again, there's an unfortunate aspect to this, from the ratepayers' perspective, in that we do have to spend these lumpy amounts, and the only way to recover those is through the rates.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn to page 13.  You can turn if you want -- this is page 13 of the compendium.  I want to talk about the annual adjustments in your variance accounts that you have included in your plan.


I just want to make sure I have got them all correct, and you can correct me if I am wrong here.


My understanding of the plan structure is that there will be a number of adjustments made every year.  Let me list them, and you can tell me if I have them correct.


The first is that there will be a change to the cost of capital, the ROE, to the long-term debt and short-term debt rates.  Am I correct?  That's one of them?


MR. MARTIN:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Will that also include if there is a change to the capital structure, the Board's deemed capital structure?


MR. MARTIN:  It does.  I have to admit I didn't take that into account or didn't consider that, but, yes.  It would.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then the second thing is there's changes to forecast revenue.  So the load forecast based on updated customer growth demand and consumption forecasts.  Am I correct?  That's the second one that you will be updating every year?


MR. MARTIN:  Yes, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The third one is there will be a working capital allowance resulting from the changes in the cost of power?  Am I correct?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then there will be changes in forecast new and net new customer connection costs?  Am I correct?


MR. MARTIN:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then on top of that you are still eligible for the Z factor, so the Z factor events you can still apply under the normal rules for the Z factor.  Am I correct?


MR. MARTIN:  I am not sure it is in our -- I am not sure we're able to eliminate the Z factor, so, yes, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding that as well there will be a bunch of deferral and variance accounts and to record and then subsequently dispose of.


Am I correct there will be revenue-requirement impact of the cost variances from forecast third party requested distribution plant relocations?


MR. MARTIN:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There will be another one, revenue requirement impacts of cost variances for new customer connections.


So this would -- not only are you planning to adjust the forecasts going forward, there will also be an amount to record from the previous year, an adjustment in the new customer connections.  Am I correct?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes, one counters the other; correct.  One is a reduction -- if in fact the customer growth does not materialize in the load forecast, that would be a change to the -- that would in fact be a reduction to effectively our revenue.


The adjustment for the cost of customer connections is intended to -- if in fact the customer connections do not materialize, then there will be costs that we currently have planned in relation to that expected level of connection which would, in fact, not be required.

So that's an offset to a certain extent, if in fact the customer connections don't materialize.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I meant -- maybe I wasn't clear.  So there will be an annual adjustment for forecast net customer connections.  And then there will also be a variance account to deal with the customer accounts in the year previous; am I correct?

MR. MARTIN:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No?

MR. MARTIN:  No, I don't believe so.  Customer connections -- it's the cost of the customer connections.  So maybe I am misinterpreting it, Mr. Rubenstein.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It is your application.  I trust that you know it better than I do.

MR. MARTIN:  So we are adjusting -- we have asked for an annual adjustment mechanism and perhaps, given my recall, maybe we should push this to the third panel just so that I can clarify.


But the annual adjustment mechanism for the load forecast was for customer connections, given that we've got -- we have indication that there's growth that is more than normal, and we've asked for an annual adjustment mechanism to adjust for that on a prospective basis.


We have not asked for a true-up variance account to true up historical customer connections, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.  On top of that, there will be rate riders for the following costs once finalized, am I correct?  There will be revenue requirement impacts of contributions to Hydro One Networks, which will have an amount built into rates.  And I assume this is for the capital contributions for the Enfield TS?  There's differences?  It will be adjusted by rate rider afterwards?  Am I correct?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.  Under 13b on page 13b, yes.  Really the context is, these are costs which are outside of our control.  But you are right, yes, that is what we're proposing in terms of adjustments, so that we are not putting either the customers or the shareholders at risk.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the revenue requirement as well, there will be one for the revenue requirement for unbudgeted distribution projects.


MR. MAHAJAN:  As a result of regional planning, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, right.  You would agree with me that this is a more lengthy list than other parties have brought forward with respect to annual adjustments, variance accounts, rate riders?

MR. MARTIN:  I am going to take your word for that.  I can't attest to that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that on top of the -- while you will be putting amounts for the variance accounts, putting amounts in variance accounts for Hydro One changes in Hydro One contributions and the third party forecasts and you will clear them at the end of the year, you still plan to bring forward evidence annually on that?  Am I correct?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. MARTIN:  Yes, yes.

MR. MAHAJAN:  I think, Mr. Rubenstein, the reality is we always get tempted to box every distributor.  I think the comment that I am referring to is:   Have you compared yourself to other parties, and do they have a long list or not?


I don't know if they had Hydro One capacity needs.  I don't know if they have regional planning driven by 407.
If they did, I would imagine they should include those kind of adjustments, because it is not in the best interests of their shareholder or their ratepayer to be subject to variations of Hydro One capacity contributions and regional-planning-driven projects.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could take you to page 17 of the compendium?  This is from the renewed regulatory framework for electricity, and I am in the first full paragraph.  In the last sentence, the Board says the following:
"In addition, the Board expects a distributor's application under custom IR to demonstrate its ability..."

MR. MAHAJAN:  Sorry, just a little slower.  Page 17 of the RRFE?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Page 17 of my compendium, from the RRFE.  I am reading from the second --


MR. MAHAJAN:  Of your compendium?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It is on the screen.  You can look at the screen.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  This is from the first full paragraph, and the last sentence says:

"In addition, the Board expects a distributor's application under custom IR to demonstrate its ability to manage within the rates set, given that actual costs and revenues will vary from forecast".

Do you see that?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, I do.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How exactly does Oshawa's plans demonstrate that, considering the very large amount of adjustments you have planned to make?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.  To the extent that the DSP is in our control, yes, we will live within that.  Okay.

To the extent that the DSP execution on that DSP is outside of our control, we believe we should not put the shareholders or the customers at risk.

So there is a big component of DSP which is in our control, and that is where we would live or manage within the rates set.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you --


MR. MARTIN:  Further to that, Mark, there was an undertaking from the first technical conference, so TC1.2, where we were asked to estimate the percentage of revenue requirement that was at risk.


We produced a table that in fact showed the amount of revenue requirement that was at risk in OPUCN's plan that ranges from 87 percent to 94 percent.


So again, you're right.  The Board has prescribed that the utilities will live within a forecast, but again we believe we've accommodated that, given that the large majority of our revenue requirement is in fact at risk.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me understand the load forecast adjustment, the proposed annual adjustment in that better.


Why do you need an adjustment for the load forecast?

MR. MARTIN:  Again, it comes back to the certain conditions being outside of Oshawa's control.


So in Oshawa's case, the historical -- we have had growth over the last ten years, which averages somewhere around one to one-and-a-half percent.


Given the amount of development that's taking place in the north end of Oshawa, there should be a ramp-up in that load growth.  And our information tells us that that population growth or annual customer connection growth will be in the area of 3 percent a year.


However, the timing of that 3 percent is highly volatile.  So trying to predict or trying to contain that forecast within a five-year rate term is very difficult.


So our understanding is that the city and the region believes that that development will occur, and in fact we have evidence from actual developers and building permits, et cetera, that indicates that that is going to be the case.


However, we have experienced, in the past, delays and a fair amount of it revolves around the completion of the 407.  If there's project creep on the 407, or if certain development plans don't occur in the time phrase -- if there is labour strife.  There are a lot of things that could occur within a five-year period that may impact that 3 percent growth materializing.


MR. MAHAJAN:  And just to --


MR. MARTIN:  So we took the position that we could have gone two ways.  We could have basically forecast the load based on historical trends, which has been the typical past.  Or we could take into consideration the fact that there appears to be this population growth that's going to occur.


In fact, we're confident that the population growth is going to occur.  We're just not confident that it is necessarily going to occur within the plan period.


That's evidenced, I think, by the update that we presented on June 23rd where we -- where we adjusted the 2015 forecast, for example, because the trend for 2015 has in fact, while it's up from the historical trend, it is only up by a half percent.


So we believe that the annual mechanism is necessary for us, in order to protect the ratepayers and us from that growth either materializing slower or quicker, or over some other period of time other than the rate period.

MR. MAHAJAN:  I think the other -- sorry.

MR. MARTIN:  Now, just to add to that, we have done it on a prospective basis.  What that basically means is we're willing on a year-by-year basis, going forward, we would accept the risk associated with changes to that rate forecast, which is fairly typical, but we don't believe that it's prudent to essentially over a five-year period have an accumulating effect if in fact the population doesn't materialize as it is planned or expected.

MR. MAHAJAN:  The only thing I would like to add is, you know, we're going through a period of tremendous technological change.  You know, I know the Board is taking a look at revenue decoupling and we're going to roll this out.


The conservation first framework has been baked in in the load forecast, but what we don't know is what would be the take-up of solar plus storage, and that's a factor that I think would get addressed in revenue decoupling.


But right now, if you were to say that, can we reasonably predict what would be the load of Oshawa in 2019 in terms of, you know, a kilowatt-hour's erosion because of solar and storage or any other technology, including co-generation, on-site co-generation, given the current spark spread that exist in the marketplace, we don't know.  And I don't think it would be fair to take that risk.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mr. Mahajan, how is it different than any other distributor?

MR. MAHAJAN:  It isn't.  It isn't.  I think this is an issue that the entire industry is dealing with.  We are here talking about our application.  And I would hope that every other distributor who is concerned about such a situation -- and they should be, because that is not something, a matter of if.  It is a matter of when.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And let me put a hypothetical where you come in -- so you come in to change or adjust your load forecast.  Will you also be adjusting your capital and OM&A budgets accordingly?

MR. MARTIN:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, we're already in July of 2015.  Will you be adjusting again your 2016 forecast?

MR. MARTIN:  We may.  I haven't -- yes.  So if the decision includes an annual mechanism, then we would start that annual adjustment mechanism for 2016 if time permitted.  Yes.  I believe typically the more mechanical-type of rate applications are filed somewhere up until -- up and including late September or early October time frame.  So if time permitted, we would, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask, I want to talk about the two incentive proposals that you have provided, the total cost efficiency carryover mechanism and the controllable capital investment efficiency incentive mechanism.

So let me start with the total cost efficiency carryover mechanism.  My understanding at a high level of the proposal is at the end of the five years Oshawa will take the average weather-normalized ROE and compare that with the Board-approved ROE in those years, the average in those years.  And if the difference is positive, you will be entitled to recover in the years 2020 and 2021 a rate rider equal to 50 percent of the difference, up to a maximum of 50 basis points.  Did I get that correct?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, you did.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

If we can turn to page 24 of the compendium.  You set out the three steps of how you do that calculation.  In the first step you say:

"It will be exclusive of costs and revenues associated with the two controllable capital programs subject to the CCEIEM.  See below."

And my understanding is that those two projects are the DS station and the system renewal program.  Am I correct?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand how you can remove the costs.  Can you explain to me how you would remove the revenues associated with those projects?

MR. MARTIN:  I fail to see the --


MR. MAHAJAN:  So the revenue would be any benefit that we have collected under the CCEIEM.  So any benefit that we collect, so we don't want to double-dip.  So let's say the cost of -- we earn hypothetically $200,000.  That should not be included in the ROE calculations.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, can you repeat that?

MR. MAHAJAN:  So under the CCEIEM, Capital Cost Investment Efficiency Incentive Mechanism, I got it, if we earn a certain revenue, that should be excluded from the calculation of the efficiency carryover mechanism.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I thought what the idea of the mechanism here is you're essentially comparing your actual ROE, the average of your actual ROE over those five years, minus the average of the Board's approved.

Because you have two mechanisms, you don't want to double-count, you're going to remove essentially of the ROE the parts that involve those two programs.  Am I correct to that point?  This is the DS station and the system renewal project.


MR. MAHAJAN:  You're right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I understand how you can remove the cost.  You have just removed -- you know, because when you're determining your actual ROE you're looking at the net income and you remove the costs.  That is easy to calculate.  You know what the costs are.  But I am not sure what revenues we're talking about here.

How do you attribute revenues to a renewal project?

MR. MAHAJAN:  I can't think of it right now.

MR. MARTIN:  Sorry, I think I can --


MR. MONDROW:  Just before you go on, did you say, Mr. Rubenstein, how do you attribute revenues to a renewal project?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  One of them is a renewal project, so if you're removing the costs of it, I'm trying to understand how you renew the revenues of that project.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, I just didn't hear your word.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No problem.

MR. MAHAJAN:  The intent of this -- if we get away from the words, I will tell you what the intent is.

The intent is that these are two mechanisms, distinct mechanisms.  The benefit from one should not creep into the other.  That is the intent.

I will take a look at what the right word should be or these are the right words and I will come back to you.

MR. MARTIN:  I think -- so in the event that there is a -- we are -- we earn an incentive off the CCEIEM, it is as a result of underspending or creating efficiencies or not spending as much as we have in the plan.

So I think the only connection we're trying to make there is, we're just covering the -- so obviously the costs associated with that savings would be one component.

I think we're just -- and we may have used the terminology incorrectly, but we are basically just, we're also talking about the associated revenue requirement of that efficiency.

So we're already -- I mean, let me go back.  Sorry.  We're already getting an efficiency out of that particular component, the capital component.  And because we've got lower costs, the revenue requirement that's baked into the rates would essentially generate higher earnings than they otherwise would have if we had have in fact not created the efficiencies under the capital mechanism, which would in fact then improve the ROE.

So what we are suggesting is, we would have to calculate those revenues -- the associated revenues that we earned on the difference between the actual costs and the projected costs would be essentially removed or subtracted from the ROE in order to clean it up and make it specific to the operating efficiencies.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I'm going to ask you to think about what I said, because I'm having -- based on the wording -- I mean, I understand the purpose, and I am not disputing the purpose.  You don't want to double-count.  But you're asking the Board to approve a mechanism, and the mechanism doesn't make any sense, or it doesn't work as intended.

MR. MAHAJAN:  I think the mechanism makes sense, but perhaps the way --


MR. MONDROW:  I think Mr. Martin just explained what the adjustment may be.  You might not understand it or agree with it, but I think he explained it.

MR. MARTIN:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, I know it is -- I'm stumbling here a little bit, but I think if you would -- if in fact we create efficiencies on the capital side we would in fact have earned -- we would be earning revenue on the planned cost.

That revenue doesn't go away.  So essentially we've got revenue that's improving our return on equity, because we have revenue associated now with actual costs that are less than predicted.


So do you understand that that would in fact -- are you following me there?  Do you understand that that occurrence would result in a better return on equity?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Because of lower capital spend.


MR. MARTIN:  If in fact we had spent the money or not achieved the efficiencies on the capital.  So the return on equity would be in fact better.


So what we're suggesting is that we're going to calculate that premium on the revenue from the return on equity, so that we don't in fact double-count that as part of the efficiency mechanism which is based on the return on equity.  Does that help?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I withhold judgment until I can think about what you just said.  Anyways, at a high level, the purpose of the mechanism is for you to incent further efficiencies; am I correct?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. MARTIN:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as we discussed before, there is no earnings sharing mechanism; correct?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if you earn more than your allowed return on average over the life of the plan under this mechanism, you keep all of that.  And on top of that, you get essentially an ROE bonus for the next two years in your next plan.  Am I correct?


MR. MAHAJAN:  You're correct, as long as we find those sustainable savings, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What's the downside to the utility, if the Board approves this mechanism?  What risk are you taking on?  You're getting a reward.  What is the risk?


MR. MAHAJAN:  There is no risk.  I mean, if we come up with the savings, then we share them.  If we don't come up with the savings -- I think the purpose that the Board, I believe, in the other applicants' decisions that we saw, the idea was to incent the distributors to identify savings in the last few years of their plan period, because the concept being or the perception being that in the last few years of the plan period, the distributors don't identify savings because they're going to be reset at the end of the plan period.


This mechanism gives them the incentive to find those savings and then share the benefits.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, have you provided any evidence in the application to show that there's something special about Oshawa, that it is unable to, under the current regulatory structure, get those efficiencies, why you need something in addition?


MR. MAHAJAN:  So let me repeat that again.  The whole idea here is to incent a certain behavior where the perception is towards the end of the plan period, you don't drive those efficiencies.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But have you provided evidence that shows why Oshawa requires this incentive mechanism?


MR. MAHAJAN:  No.  I think the evidence is that this is one of those incentive mechanisms that Oshawa is proposing.  And if it works, I would hope that other distributors who follow this application may apply something similar.


MR. MARTIN:  Yes, I think -- so there's a perception that there's a disincentive built into the current rate mechanism to basically achieve efficiencies at the end of the plan term.


That's not an Oshawa perception.  That is -- I believe that is a Board -- I think that everybody has that perception.


The reason there is a disincentive is because those efficiencies in the end of the plan term effectively disappear upon rebasing.  So the utilities don't benefit from that.


So we're addressing that perception, and we think we're addressing it in a fairly innovative way.


If in fact we -- so this particular mechanism incents Oshawa to achieve the incentives up and until the end of the plan term, which is currently, as I say, a perception that doesn't exist in the marketplace today.  So we actually think -- we believed it to be a fairly innovative way to address that particular -- in talking about risk, the risk really comes from the capital incentive.


There's significant risk built into the capital incentive.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm talking about this one.


MR. MARTIN:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you expect that you're going to get further -- you're going to be able to find further efficiencies, is that an expectation?


MR. MAHAJAN:  We don't know.


MR. MARTIN:  We don't know.


MR. MAHAJAN:  We would hope so.  But if there is an incentive --


MR. MARTIN:  There is nothing we have currently identified that would allow us to achieve efficiencies.


What this allows us to do is take advantage of efficiencies that hopefully or may materialize in the future.  As again, not suggesting Oshawa would do it, but the perception is that utilities may bank those efficiencies until the next time they rebase.


This incents -- this takes away that particular --   Hopefully, this takes away that particular kind of behavior.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, you referenced the similar mechanism in Alberta, the AUC mechanism.


And am I correct that that efficiency mechanism was applied to a tradition I-minus-X formula that they used, their PBR mechanism?


MR. MAHAJAN:  So like I said earlier, you know, we did not find an exact replica of what we were proposing.


But we believe that the intention of this mechanism addresses one fundamental -- you know, I know we are repeating ourselves.  But the reality is that we need to find -- and I believe, as Mr. Mondrow said at the beginning, we have provided an update that these -- we would provide evidence.


I guess, in a way, you could say that is the risk.   We identify a saving and then we come up with the evidence that this will be sustainable beyond the plan period before we get to share in that benefit.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But just back to my question.  Is it your understanding as well that the AUC model is based on a traditional I-minus-X PBR system?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Now, in the application, you cite the Enbridge decision.  This is on page 22 of my compendium which is from your application, and you say -- and I am reading here from the bottom:

"While rejecting EGD's particular efficiency carry over mechanism, ECM incentive proposal, in its reasons for decision on EGD's application, the Board found merit in such mechanisms in encouraging sustainable efficiency improvements, particularly near the end of the incentive regulatory term."

That is what you were talking about before; am I correct?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now I want to ask about the proposed mechanism.  So in your June 23rd update, you have now added a component and you say you will have to demonstrate sustainable efficiency to be eligible.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you explain how that would exactly work?  What evidence would you have to provide?  What does sustainable mean?


MR. MAHAJAN:  If, let's say, the amount turns out to be $100,000, we need to demonstrate that, you know, we can carry over that benefit into the next plan period.  So for example, maybe there's a position that is redundant.  Maybe there's a contractor that does vegetation management who has come up with this new technology, and he is willing to reduce his tree-trimming costs, that is the kind of proof that we will submit.


MR. MARTIN:  So we don't have -- we don't have the -- the onus will be on Oshawa to provide evidence and proof that the efficiencies that we're going to put forward for the incentive mechanisms are in fact sustainable.


We haven't identified the efficiencies, so we really can't identify the elements of proof.


Now, we have suggested that we would weather-normalize.  I think that's a fairly easy one, in that that takes the weather equation out of the picture.  But we can't identify currently how we would go about proving the sustainable efficiencies until in fact we have some to produce.


But what we're doing here is we're committing -- the important thing is we're committing to provide that evidence going forward in order to support it.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could ask you to turn to page 27.  This is from the Enbridge decision, I want to talk about some of the criticisms of their mechanism, and just how yours addresses it.


Two in particular, I think, are apt, and there you can find sort of in the middle of the page it says "The Board finds that the following aspects of the current SEIM proposal are of particular concern...", and there’s two I want to ask you about.


The second one says:

"The proposal does not appear to distinguish between early term productivity measures and late term productivity measures, and therefore may not adequately address the concern about diminishing incentives to invest in productivity toward the end of the term."

I heard you essentially say the same thing, that you believe there is not an incentive at the end of the term.

How does your proposal solve for this concern of the Board?

MR. MARTIN:  It doesn't.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the second --


MR. MAHAJAN:  Sorry, if I may just -- you know, in terms of the evidence that we submit, we will be taking that into account, that the sustainable efficiencies that we have found are in the -- near the end of the plan term.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if they're in the beginning of the term, what happens?  You don't get to -- if they're at the beginning of the term, does that mean then you don't get to have that carry out over?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Depending upon what the beginning of the term is defined as, right?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  2016, 2015.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you saying that if you find efficiencies in 2015 and 2016 and those lead to a higher actual ROE than your deemed ROE, you will not carry those efficiencies over?

MR. MAHAJAN:  If that addresses the concerns, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Then the second one I want to ask is, the SEIM has the potential to reward inflation forecasts for capital or operating -- sorry, has the potential to reward inflated forecasts for capital or operating expenditures.

How does your plan not lead to the same thing?  It is an incentive for you to over-forecast more so than normal?

MR. MARTIN:  I think --


MR. MAHAJAN:  Well, I think in the Enbridge Gas Distribution, the Board also commented that there was no third-party benchmarking evidence that was provided by Enbridge.

In our forecast that we provided you, we also submitted third-party benchmarking evidence which actually says that our costs are in fact better by .87 percent on a total cost factor basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it is based on the benchmarking evidence you reviewed --


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- you reviewed, that that is how we can determine that your costs have --


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.  I think it is a good way to take a look at whether the costs are inflated or not.  Nobody comes here and says, you know, that these are the costs that we believe we have added a percentage to it.

The whole idea is to demonstrate independently, through third-party evidence, that in fact these costs...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if we turn to page 29 of the compendium.  This is again from the RRFE.  I am looking about halfway down the page.  It says:

"Additional regulatory mechanisms may be necessary to achieve the objectives of the renewed regulatory framework.  The Board will engage stakeholders in further consultation on the following in due course."

One of them says:

"The establishment of an efficiency carryover mechanism."

Do you see that?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would agree with me the Board has not actually engaged stakeholders in a further consultation on this yet?

MR. MARTIN:  I am not aware of any.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  I would like to now talk about the second mechanism.  This is the controllable capital efficiency incentive mechanism.

My understanding at a very high level is what this proposal does is it tracks the actual costs for two programs -- this is the system renewal and the new MS station and the associated feeders for that station -- and tracks the actual costs over the plan versus the forecast costs.

And if there is a variance that exists afterwards, it shows that the total spend for the programs are less than forecasted.  Going forward upon the rebasing, 50 percent of that underspend, Oshawa will get to keep the revenue requirement for that avoided rate base, and the flip side, that if the actual costs come in above the forecasted costs, Oshawa will lose 50 percent of that incremental rate base.  Is that at a high level --


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That is?  Now, with respect to if there is an overspend, is that only prudent overspending?  Or does that include non-prudent overspending?

MR. MAHAJAN:  It is overspending, you know.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So --


MR. MAHAJAN:  Any overspend.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Any overspend.  So if the Board -- if you say something is going to cost a million dollars and it ends up costing $3 million, and the Board in its normal prudence review upon rebasing determines that extra $2 million was imprudently found, you shouldn't have done what you did, knowing what you knew at the time you shouldn't have done that, you're saying that that's the amount we're calculating from, still that 3 million?

MR. MAHAJAN:  We're not --


MR. MARTIN:  Sorry.  No.  We've not considered that.  Are you suggesting that in the future, if the Board declines costs, essentially eliminates costs?  Is that the outcome of an imprudent cost?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I'm trying to understand -- I want to differentiate between prudent overspending from a forecast and a Board-determined imprudent overspending.

MR. MARTIN:  All I need for clarification is what happens in the event of an imprudent cost?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, in the normal course of things, if you forecasted a cost to do a project and upon rebasing it is more than that, the Board has the ability to say that amount, based on whatever its test that it determines that is an imprudent overspend, you normally wouldn't get to put that in rate base.

MR. MARTIN:  Okay.  So we did not consider that, but, I mean, now that the question is proposed, I wouldn't -- I don't believe we would consider that to be part of the mechanism.

That would be basically penalizing us twice for the -- for that.  So we did not contemplate that type of a cost. We didn't contemplate a cost that ultimately gets reversed from the rate base in our original application.

MR. MAHAJAN:  What we're proposing here is overspend.  Any overspend, prudent or imprudent, you know, it is an overspend.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, if I could.  I believe the evidence does somewhere address this question.  Mr. Rubenstein, I don't have it at hand, but if I could just ask if we could clarify the question.  The witnesses might not understand the implications of a prudence finding that you are putting to them.

If you don't mind, I think what you are asking, Madam Chair, sorry, through you, I think what Mr. Rubenstein is asking is, to the extent that there is an overspend on one of these two -- sorry, they should hear this.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Sorry, go ahead.

MR. MONDROW:  I think what Mr. Rubenstein is asking is to the extent that there is an overspend on one of these two projects that is proposed to be subject to this incentive mechanism, and the Board finds that that spend in excess of the approved budget is imprudent, would that overspend nonetheless count as to 50 percent towards a capital incentive or towards this incentive mechanism in the coming years.  Is that your question, Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, generally, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  So the parameters are, there's an overspend, but the overspend is found to be imprudent by the Board.  What happens in respect of that overspend in the calculation of the incentive under this efficiency mechanism?  Is that fair?  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In my understanding, at least before the question was -- Mr. Mondrow's clarification was, it doesn't matter if it is imprudent or it's a prudent overspend.

MR. MAHAJAN:  I guess if the Board has determined that it is imprudent, I guess it should be stripped out, right?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Well, that -- well, I would ask that you address that position in your argument, whatever position --


MR. MONDROW:  We will address it in argument, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- you finally land on.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And I understand the general thrust, the rationale behind the proposal is to incent you to do capital work more efficiently at a lower cost.  Am I correct?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you expect that over the five years you will be able to find efficiencies in your capital work?

MR. MAHAJAN:  That's the idea of proposing this mechanism, right?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you do?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Now, why is it limited to those only two categories of expenditures?  Why not general plant or some other categories?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Because what we have talked about is the controllable capital.  So any capital outside of our control we can't really forecast the budget, and that's why they have adjustment mechanisms proposed.

These are things like general plant relocation, driven by the Region or the City of Oshawa or by 407.  Or for Hydro One contributions.  Or for...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What about general plant?  Vehicles, IT, all of those things?  Those are as controllable as system renewal.

MR. MARTIN:  We didn't -- we didn't include the general plant primarily because there's -- there's less -- there's less risk associated with them, I mean, in terms of vehicles and plant, et cetera, and we also felt that those particular items are -- well, quite frankly, we thought there would be less of a challenge in terms of trying to create efficiencies, et cetera, and they're also, I think, more subject to changes in -- for example, if we're talking about software or upgrading computer systems, et cetera, those types of things are hard to predict.  It is hard to predict what may occur in the next few years, et cetera.  And similarly with vehicles, et cetera, I mean if we decided to go electric versus gas or something.


So we just felt the conditions associated with the general plant activities really didn't lend themselves as much to the -- we're trying to achieve certain goals with the projects we have identified.


We don't really see purchasing vehicles as really a goal or an outcome.  It's a much different type of investment.


So that is primarily why we didn't include them.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It’s my understanding that the mechanism is on a per program basis, not on a per project basis.  So it is on the sort of a system renewal -- in 2020 when we're looking at this, you're going to be looking at it on a per program basis for system renewal.  We're not looking at each individual project.  Am I correct?


MR. MARTIN:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, what happens, you know, you're forecasting for five years, there will inevitably projects that are delayed, projects that are deferred, scope changes that will come in, projects you didn't think you needed to do under this category, but you now need to move forward.


How exactly is that going to work?  How are we going to compare what actually happens?


MR. MAHAJAN:  So under that program, we will still be tracking each and every project.


So to the extent that in that program there are ten line replacements, right, and we only do eight for whatever reason, then to the extent those two will be not done in the plan period, we will strip that out.


MR. MARTIN:  So the idea here -- again, the onus will be on Oshawa to produce the evidence at the end of the program to show that we achieved the objectives or the goals of the programs that we put in place.


We don't, however, want tie ourselves down to -- if a project in the end doesn't make sense to do and we should be deferring it, certainly we don't want to put ourselves in a position to go ahead and invest and build it anyway because it is part and parcel of the incentive program, one way or the other.


So we do have to have some flexibility.  And again, if in fact we are able to achieve benefits, or if in fact we spend more than we had planned, it will be up to Oshawa to produce the relevant evidence at the end of the plan term to expedite a decision on the incentive.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Say you substitute out a project, you need to do a renewal project somewhere else you didn't know, but things have occurred that you have to do it.


So you change projects; one that was lower priority falls off, and one that comes in. But they may have different costs.



If we're looking at a per project basis -- sorry, a per program basis, how are we going to compare the two? There will be no base line for this new project.


MR. MAHAJAN:  So let me -- in a program, if you have ten projects, right, and we strip one out and replace it with another one, to the extent that we are tracking the other nine for which the budgets have been presented and the actuals are now known, the efficiency incentive would be calculated on those nine and not on the tenth, because the costs were not known for the new project at the time that we proposed this mechanism.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So in that example, we're only measuring on the nine?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The ones where there are scope changes -- what about scope changes?  If the project is built in but the scope changes, you thought you needed to replace a certain amount of transformers, and you need to do more or less.


MR. MAHAJAN:  The reason why we are proposing these on the controllable part of our DSP is because we do believe that these projects that we are proposing, MS9 and other system renewal projects, are very well defined.


The only efficiency we should be rewarded for is if we find a different way of building that line and yet still achieve the same objective.


If Yonge Street had to be replaced and we just find a different way of replacing it, that would not be a scope change unless we increased the length of the line.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You talked about if you find a different way to do something, but you know, you solved the objective.  Can you help me understand what objective you are talking about?


MR. MAHAJAN:  MS9 is easy, so I won't go into that.  But if we are replacing the line on Simcoe Street, or if we are replacing the line on Richmond Street, and the objective is to change it from one end to the other end and that happens to be five kilometres, we will still be achieving that objective.  But as long as we have that line rebuilt in an efficient way, we believe that will be tracked in the mechanism.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How do we know that the project costs that we're going to use as the base line are not inflated?


MR. MAHAJAN:  I think, Mark, there was evidence submitted of third parties that had benchmarked the costs that we had submitted.  And I believe NBM engineering had come up with a higher cost estimate.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But am I correct that NBM did not review your costing information?  It simply was asked to provide, at a very high level, a cost assessment based on its own assumptions, not Oshawa's cost structure, not Oshawa's material costs, not Oshawa's labour costs; am I correct?


MR. MAHAJAN:  That's correct.  We provided them the design, because we wanted an industry spent estimate as to what that design would drive.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How does it tell us that your costs
-- based on your cost structures, your labour rates, and your burden rates and -- are an appropriate base line, if they didn't look at any of that information?


MR. MAHAJAN:  So another way to look at it is if Oshawa's costs were higher than what they should be, then to that extent the budget would be inflated.


We wanted an independent assessment that if NBM wants to get it done through a contractor, or whichever way they wanted to get that objective fulfilled, what would those costs be.  We didn't want it to be skewed by --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you agree with me, based on a lot of what you discussed this morning, that if Oshawa has a low cost utility and your costs are lower, you would expect to be able to do it, to do the work at a lower rate than the average utility.  Am I correct?


MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  But I think there is an important point, as Mr. Mahajan pointed out.  We did do our own.  So we started with our own design, budget, et cetera, based on our own costs. We benchmarked that against our -- or NBM benchmarked that, essentially independent against what would be typically -- our costs were in fact higher.  Our projected costs or budgeted costs were, in most cases, higher than what NBM came up with, and we maintained those particular -- we maintained those costs -- higher?  Sorry, lower.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. MARTIN:  So ours were lower.  NBM's typical costs, if we want to call them that, came in higher.  For purposes of the application, we retained the lower cost projects.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But nobody has independently reviewed the costs of the projects based on looking at your cost structures, your material costs, your labour costs.  Am I correct?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Then I think we will be getting the same result. See, maybe you can help me understand that.


If I gave them my cost structure, my equipment costs, then you would hope that, you know, when these planners and these construction folks get together, they will come up with the same estimate.


So I don't see -- I am trying to understand the value of an exercise where I give them my cost structure, my design, and then ask them to come up with a different number.  So I really don't get that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I am hoping they would come up with the same number.  That's the point.  They're verifying your costs, so the Board and the parties feel comfortable that the costs that you are proposing, the base line for this mechanism, is not inflated.


MR. MAHAJAN:  So whether right or wrong in our wisdom, what we thought was it would be important to benchmark what an independent design and engineering firm would come up with as an estimate.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me just briefly, as I finish, just ask you one final question.


My understanding is that for your rate smoothing proposal, you're implementing it by way of a variable rate rider; am I correct?


MR. MARTIN:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now as the Board is moving for residential to 100 percent fixed rates, and there is a consultation for commercial and industrial, how is that going to work as the Board moves to fully fix rates?  Are you still going to have a variable component for the smoothing?

MR. MARTIN:  I will be honest.  We didn't take that into consideration, so we would be open to suggestions, but I guess at this point we would continue doing it on a variable basis, yes.  Yes.  If that is how it was decided upon.

The key for us here is to exercise the -- is to give the ratepayers the benefit of the smoothing.  And we want to do it in the most fair and appropriate way in order to achieve that particular benefit.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you, Panel.  Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Oh, thank you very much.  All right.  So it is 25 after 12:00.  I think it is an appropriate time to take our break.  We will take one hour.  Panel 1, thank you.  I think you are standing down and -- in order to enable panel 2 right after the lunch break, Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:28 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:30 p.m.


MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  All right, Mr. Mondrow, I see the second panel is seated.

MS. DUFF:  We are going to proceed with, this is the E&Y witness and Mr. Martin.  Do you want to introduce the witnesses, and then we will have them affirmed?

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much.  Seated closer to the dais is Mr. Chris Stepanuik -- and I am going to check the spelling myself -- it is S-T-E-P-A-N-U-I-K, first name Chris.

And I will introduce Mr. Stepanuik more fully in a moment through having him adopt his evidence.  His CV was filed yesterday.  Our letter of June 29th attaches an Exhibit 1, tab H, schedule 6, the first page of which is the Form A that Mr. Stepanuik executed and we filed, and the second and third pages of which are Mr. Stepanuik's CV, which I will take him to in just a moment.

And of course, Mr. Martin is sitting on this working capital panel as well.  He has already been introduced and affirmed.

If I could proceed, please, Mr. Stepanuik, with you.  I have spelled your name for the record, and you need to be sworn or affirmed.  One of the panel members will do that for you.

MR. STEPANUIK:  I will be sworn.
OSHAWA PUC NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 2


Chris Stepanuik, Sworn


Phil Martin; Previously Affirmed

MS. DUFF:  Okay, Mr. Mondrow, do you have any direct examination?

MR. MONDROW:  I do briefly, thank you, Madam Chair.
Examination-In-Chief By Mr. Mondrow:


MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Stepanuik, I have just confirmed before the hearing Panel came in that you do not have a hard copy of this in front of you.  But what is now Exhibit 1, tab H, schedule 6, which was filed on the electronic record yesterday, includes as its first page a document titled Form A, and I have just shown that to you.

Do you recall signing the Form A form yesterday?

MR. STEPANUIK:  I do recall that, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And you have read and acknowledged its contents?

MR. STEPANUIK:  I have, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Then pages 2 and 3 of that exhibit, as I referred to a minute ago, are your CV.  I understand you have a copy of your CV in front of you.

MR. STEPANUIK:  I do.

MR. MONDROW:  And you are employed by Ernst & Young, I will refer to them as E&Y, in their working capital advisory services practice?

MR. STEPANUIK:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And can you just explain in a nutshell what that practice involves, please.


MR. STEPANUIK:  Yes.  We are one of the only dedicated working capital practices of the big four accounting firms. Really what we do is help companies identify, value, and realize improvement opportunities within working capital balances.

This includes accounts receivable, accounts payable, and inventory, and more fully the processes underlying those three key drivers; a meter cash process for AR, the procure to pay process for AP, and the forecast to fulfil process for inventory.

MR. MONDROW:  And what is your current title with E&Y?

MR. STEPANUIK:  Vice president.

MR. MONDROW:  And you have been in that role since what year?

MR. STEPANUIK:  Since 1998.

MR. MONDROW:  You have been with E&Y since 1998.  You have been vice president since?

MR. STEPANUIK:  Vice president since 2006.

MR. MONDROW:  You are currently the leader of the working capital advisory services practice for western Canada?

MR. STEPANUIK:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And you have provided in your CV, Mr. Stepanuik, a number of selected major engagements.  I wonder, rather than take you through them, if you could briefly describe your working experience with respect to working capital advisory services, that is most relevant in your view to your engagement by OPUCN to do the lead/lag study filed in this case.

MR. STEPANUIK:  Certainly.  So, again having a wide range of experience helping small, medium to large size companies identify value working capital opportunities, this includes calculating the amount of funds required to finance the day-to-day operations of the business, i.e. working capital.  And hence, I find it very relevant to kind of completing a lead/lag study from a utility perspective.

I have also conducted work with utilities in terms of helping to drive performance improvement within the metered to cash and procure to pay processes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, Mr. Stepanuik is not providing an opinion per se, but he is here to speak to a study that he prepared, or oversaw the preparation of, which I will take him to in a moment, in support of OPUCN's working capital request.

I would ask that the Board accept Mr. Stepanuik as qualified to provide evidence on working capital concepts and calculations, based on his experience as he has just related it to you.

MS. DUFF:  I will just ask the parties, does anybody have any comments regarding this request?  Okay, yes.  Please proceed.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Just briefly then to identify the evidence that you will be speaking to, Mr. Stepanuik, labelled as Exhibit 2, tab A, schedule 1, in this proceeding is your -- I'm sorry, it says updated February 20, 2015, which was the date on which the full study was filed as part of Exhibit 2, tab A.  So schedule 1, the cover page of which is on the screen, is Oshawa PUC Inc.

Just scroll down to the bottom of the first page, and there is your E&Y logo.  I refer to that as the lead/lag study.  Can you identify that this document was prepared under your guidance and control?

MR. STEPANUIK:  I can.

MR. MONDROW:  And were you personally involved in the preparation of the report?

MR. STEPANUIK:  I was personally involved.  Our principal author with Matthew Chretien, who was part of our team at that time.

MR. MONDROW:  And are you prepared to adopt this report as part of your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. STEPANUIK:  I am.

MR. MONDROW:  You were involved in responding to some interrogatories and technical conference transcript undertakings related to your work on this report?

MR. STEPANUIK:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And do you adopt those interrogatory responses to the extent of your contribution to those responses?

MR. STEPANUIK:  I do.

MR. MONDROW:  And were you consulted in respect of the recent -- this is now Exhibit K1.2.  It's the June update to OPUCN's working capital calculations?  The letter is on the screen, and if you could scroll down --


MR. STEPANUIK:  Yes, I was.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, the witnesses are available for cross-examination.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, that's fine.  I just wanted to confirm you were consulted with respect to that exhibit?

MR. STEPANUIK:  That is correct, I was.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  All right.  Energy Probe, Mr. Aiken.  Can you lead your cross-examination?
Cross-Examination By Mr. Aiken:

MR. AIKEN:  Good afternoon, panel my name is Randy Aiken, a consultant to Energy Probe.  I have a compendium of material that I will be referring to.  I hope the Board members have a copy of that.

MS. DUFF:  We do.

MR. AIKEN:  I was wondering if we could get it marked as an exhibit number.

MS. LEA:  Yes, we will mark it for identification as Exhibit 1.4.  Mr. Aiken, does this exhibit contain new information, or is it a compendium of information already on the record?

MR. AIKEN:  Both.  There are some calculations based on information on the record.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Exhibit K1.4.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  Cross-Examination compendium of Energy ProbE


MS. DUFF:  Mr. Mondrow, to the extent there is calculations contained in this exhibit, were the witnesses provided with a copy?

MR. MONDROW:  I haven't been through the entire compendium, a hard copy of which I got this morning, although it was sent out on Saturday night, I believe.

Mr. Aiken did provide us with some materials in advance, and I have provided a copy of this compendium to you, Mr. Stepanuik.

MR. STEPANUIK:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  So he has seen it. Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken, do you want to proceed?

MR. AIKEN:  I want to start with Exhibit K1.2; this is the June 23rd update letter.

On page 2 of that letter, there are a number of changes and corrections that Oshawa has made to the working capital allowance calculation, reducing the rate from 13 percent to 10.9 percent.

Then if you turn to page 7 of the compendium, so this is K1.4, I have recreated the calculation based on the changes and corrections in the update, and I have highlighted all of the numbers that have changed in red.

And there's a small difference in your number of 10.91 percent and my number of 10.95 percent.  But for all practical purposes, they are the same.

So my first question is:  Do you agree that the calculation shown accurately reflects the changes and corrections?

MR. STEPANUIK:  I do.

MR. AIKEN:  Was the -- I am going to refer to it as the E&Y lead/lag study.  Was the E&Y lead/lag study a collaboration between E&Y and Oshawa?  Or was Oshawa's involvement in it limited to providing the data necessary?

MR. STEPANUIK:  It was a collaboration, to the best of my knowledge.

MR. AIKEN:  Were the calculations done by E&Y?  Or -- and/or by Oshawa?

MR. STEPANUIK:  Both.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Did the concepts and methodologies used originate with E&Y or with Oshawa or with both?

MR. STEPANUIK:  Both.  Principally E&Y.

MR. AIKEN:  In the response to Undertaking TC1.1 there are three authors of the study listed.  And it mentions that the lead author of the study of this report, Mr. Chretien, has not previously completed a lead/lag study with E&Y.

My question is, has he completed a lead/lag study for a regulated distributor for someone other than E&Y?

MR. STEPANUIK:  I do not believe so.

MR. AIKEN:  The question in TC1.11 asks for a list of lead/lag studies that the authors of this report for Oshawa had prepared anywhere in North America for the last three years for a regulated electricity or natural gas distributor.

Since none were provided in the answer, am I correct that none of the authors has done a lead/lag study for a regulated electricity or natural gas distributor?

MR. STEPANUIK:  That is correct, none of the authors have done a lead/lag study.  However, E&Y has considerable experience in performing lead/lag studies, and Matthew Chretien and our team has consulted those individuals and looked at prior lead/lag studies, as well as reviewing other lead/lag studies filed.

MR. AIKEN:  That takes me then to the Board's letter of June 3rd, 2015, which I have included at pages 1 through 6 of the compendium.  And in that letter the Board indicated that it had reviewed eight lead/lag studies filed with the OEB since 2010 and evaluated the key factors in those studies.

So my question for E&Y and for Oshawa is:  Did you review any of those previous lead/lag studies filed with the Board before preparing the current study?

MR. MONDROW:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair, is Mr. Aiken referring to the eight studies reviewed by the Board?  Or any studies filed with the Board?  And if the former, could you just point us in the letter, Mr. Aiken, to where you are referring to.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, it is the -- on page 3 of the letter, which is also page 3 of the compendium, under the heading "analysis" it says:

"To support the OEB's consideration of a new default value, OEB staff reviewed eight lead/lag studies filed with the Board since 2010."

So my question is, did Ernst & Young and/or Oshawa review any of those previous studies filed with the Board?

MR. MONDROW:  So Madam Chair, I am sorry, just to clarify, I don't mean to be obstreperous, but I'm not sure that eight was all of the studies that had been filed with the Board since 2010.  The letter doesn't say that.

I don't know; if Mr. Aiken intends to ask whether the team that was involved in the E&Y lead/lag study reviewed any studies filed with the Board since 2010, that's quite an appropriate question.  I just want to be clear on which studies Mr. Aiken is referring.

MR. AIKEN:  That's fine.  So did you review any studies filed with the Board since 2010, and if so, which ones?

MR. STEPANUIK:  I can comment that some of the studies that we reviewed are.  Whether these were filed with the OEB or not I would have to go back and clarify, but we reviewed the Hydro Ottawa 2010 lead/lag study, the Veridian 2012 lead/lag study, the Horizon 2014 lead/lag study, and numerous other lead/lag studies, but I believe after -- or, pardon me, prior to 2010.

MR. MARTIN:  I have personally reviewed several lead/lag studies as well, going back to our 2012 cost-of-service application as well.  I can't name them all, but I can -- I have looked at Veridian, I have looked at Horizon recently, I have looked at Waterloo's in the past, Guelph's, et cetera.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.  My cross-examination is going to concentrate on two numbers, and if you look at page 7 in the compendium, the first number is the cost of power expense lead of 20.89 days.  You will see that on line 16 under the "expense lead" column.

And on -- the second number is the service lag of 17.44 days, which is on line 4.

So first with respect to the cost of power.  If you could turn to page 11 in the compendium.  This is part of your study, and I am looking at section 5.1.  This is where you explain how you calculate the cost of power lead expense days.

And basically what you do is you take the accounts payable for power, divide by the total power expense.  Is that correct?

MR. STEPANUIK:  That is correct, Mr. Aiken.

MR. AIKEN:  Can you explain why you used this methodology rather than by directly measuring the gap based on payment dates?

MR. STEPANUIK:  So I believe when the original component was compiled, the author had decided to use that method just from a simple working capital methodology that we have used previously.

I know we have resubmitted, and I have provided one based on the actual invoice amounts in terms of payment amounts and payment dates for the year of 2013.

MR. AIKEN:  When you say you have provided that calculation based on actuals, where did you provide that, and when?  Sorry, the reason I ask is because the 20.89 was not one of the changes mentioned in the June 23rd update.

MR. STEPANUIK:  That is correct.  However, I know when we provided -- or when Oshawa provided it back, I believe -- and we will just confirm the component of that, but I believe there was a larger number than the 20.89, which was provided for 2013.

MR. MARTIN:  Sorry, Mr. Aiken, I'm just looking up -- there was an undertaking in the technical conference where we did provide this history of payments.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, you did provide the history of payments, but you didn't change the 20.89, is my understanding.

MR. MARTIN:  I believe we did.  I believe it was changed -- sorry, can you scroll back up?

MR. AIKEN:  You may be thinking of the change in the service lag that you reduced by four days.

MR. MARTIN:  That's possible.  So this is now 22 point -- yes, you're correct.  We did not change it.  The results of the actual payments, in fact, were higher than the 22 point -- sorry, the 20.9.  It resulted in 22.2, and we left the original amount at 20.89.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, based on that response that shows the payment dates, do you agree that using the time between payment date and the invoice date is an accurate measure of the gap?

MR. STEPANUIK:  Yes.  I believe both methodologies will get you to a similar answer.  However, using the weighted average method would be the more detailed calculation version, which we would view as being proper.

MR. AIKEN:  Your explanation states that the -- your calculation is based on month-end average accounts payable for power versus total supply expenses for the year.

Can you explain to me why the month-end accounts payable figure were used?

MR. STEPANUIK:  Similar to calculating the lag, we would be looking at the month end similar to -- let me back up.

When we looked at identifying a collection lag, we would look at month-end balances and then have the weighted average based on those calculations.  We used a similar methodology originally to do the payment processing.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you agree with me that the accounts payable for power would be different on different days of the month?  Reflecting when actual payments for the power were made?

MR. STEPANUIK:  Yes.  But on a yearly -- looking at it on a monthly amount on a year-to-year component, it would be appropriate to look at those month-end balances being -- because we're doing the weighted average of those over that full year, in fact, we did the full two years, that it would give you a representative view of what the accounts payable balances would be looking like.

MR. AIKEN:  So your cash flow is -- your cash-flow analysis is based entirely on month-end numbers, not on the cash flow ebbs and flows during a month?

MR. STEPANIUK:  For the purpose of that calculation, yes, we used month end.  Perhaps you can clarify.

I think what we're trying to suggest is we use month-end balances, which we view as appropriate to show us the average AP balance on a month-to-month, which wasn't significantly fluctuated.

However, subsequent to that, again, we have come back and resubmitted, looking at the actual payment balances, using the actual weighted average days to pay for the year of 2013.

MR. AIKEN:  Would the accounts payable for the power be different at the end of the month if you've paid the IESO on the 15th of the month, as compared to paying them on the 20th of the month?

MR. STEPANIUK:  It would have an effect if you're paying part of that payment in the middle of the month and part of the payment in the subsequent month or future months, as what happened with Oshawa Public Utility.

MR. AIKEN:  My question was quite specific.  Would your accounts payable be the same if you paid the IESO on the 15th of the month, or if you paid them on the 20th of the month?

MR. STEPANIUK:  If we're going back to using the average month end and the accounts payable balances, then yes, it would have the same -- it would have no effect by paying on the 15th or 20th, assuming you're paying the full balance on either one of those two dates.

MR. AIKEN:  Could you turn to page 14 of the compendium?  This is the response at 2-Energy Probe-22.  In part (a) of the question, I asked if the 20.89 expense lead in 2013 meant that payments were made, on average, 5.68 days following month end -- first of all, I want to ask: Do you agree with the calculation of the 5.68 days being the difference between the 20.89 days that you have calculated and the midpoint of the average month being 15.2 days?

MR. STEPANIUK:  Yes, I agree with that.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, the question was not answered, so I am asking again.  Does the lag of 20.89 days mean that payments were made 5.68 days, on average, following month end, based on your analysis?

MR. STEPANIUK:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  How long after the end of the month does Oshawa get an invoice from the IESO?

MR. MARTIN:  I can't be precise.  I know that the IESO invoice comes out, and the typical payment date for us ranges from somewhere between the 13th of the month to the 16th or 17th of the month following.

MR. AIKEN:  Isn't there something in the market rules that the IESO sends out its invoice within -- or at eight business days following month end, something like that?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  I believe it is six business days, and then there is a certain amount of time allowed to pay, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So based on your analysis, Oshawa is actually paying its cost of power before it gets an invoice from the IESO?

MR. MARTIN:  I can answer that.  So as per the chart that we provided where we listed the payment dates, depending on the magnitude of the invoice, there are -- the IESO requires margin payments once the amount of the payable exceeds a certain amount.  And Oshawa's experience is when the invoices are around ten million dollars or so, in that range, it typically triggers a number of margin calls.  It could be one margin call a month, or as many as two or three, if the amounts are 14 or 15 million for the month.

So as a result, we have prepaid -- based on those margin calls, we have prepaid amounts prior to the final invoice being submitted.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And so that leads me into my next questions.  On page 14, I had asked for a table showing for each month the amounts billed and paid to the IESO along with the payment dates.

And so if you turn to page 12 of the compendium, this is the data which we've been talking about.

This is the response to technical conference question TC1.9, and it is the data for 2013.  The numbers and columns in red are some of my calculations, and I will get to them in a moment.

But I just want to make sure I understand what the numbers that you provided mean.  So I want to walk through the January line, the very first line in the top table.

My understanding is that for the entire month of January, your invoice total from the IESO was about $11.7 million, of which you paid $3.1 million on February 19th, which is the due date of the IESO invoice.

And previous to that, you had a number of margin calls.  You had one on January 25th, for just under 2 million, and another one on January 31st for 2.1 million, and similar amounts on February 6th and February 13th.  Is that correct?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, moving to the calculations that I have added, I have come up with a weighted average days or gap between when service is provided and when payment is made.

So going back and looking again at the same line, and looking at the red columns, the payment you made on February 19th took place nineteen days after the end of the month that service was provided.

Do you agree with that?  That's the difference between February 19th and January 31st.

MR. STEPANIUK:  Sorry, can you repeat that, Mr. Aiken?

MR. AIKEN:  Sure.  You will see the first red column and in the first line for January, it's got 19 in there in red.

MR. STEPANIUK:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  That's the number of days between when the payment of three million dollars was made and the end of the service month.

MR. STEPANIUK:  Right.

MR. AIKEN:  Correct?

MR. STEPANIUK:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Similarly, the second red column shows minus 6.  That means you paid the 1.95 million dollar margin call six days before the end of the service month.

MR. STEPANIUK:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And so on with the other margin calls.  And then the very last column in red, labelled the weighted average days from end of month, and in the January case it is 7.76.  So that is the weighted average of those, I believe it is five payments.

MR. STEFANUIK:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then if you go down that column to the second-last number, 9.44, that's the average of the 12 monthly numbers.

MR. STEPANIUK:  It's a simple average of the 12 previous numbers, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Because I already weighted, based on dollars paid in each month.

MR. STEPANIUK:  Yes.  I would agree.  I think we just had a slightly different number, actually using the full weighted from both, which just gives us a slightly smaller number.  But nevertheless, I agree with the principle of how you calculated it.

MR. AIKEN:  The difference between the 9.44 and 26.64 following it is by adding the 15.2 days, being the midpoint of the average service month.  Correct?

MR. STEPANIUK:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Would you agree that this is a more accurate estimation of the cost of power expenses lead, since it is based on both actual amounts and when the amounts were paid?

MR. STEPANIUK:  Yes.  So I agree that similar to the one that Phil had mentioned, I believe -- perhaps not having provided, and we will clarify that.  But the 22.2 days was the one we calculated versus yours at 24.64.

We agree that that methodology is more applicable, the slight differences in both of our numbers just due to variances in how we have calculated some of those formulas.  But the principle of calculating that, we agree would be more accurate.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you agree to undertake where you filed this 22.2 day calculation, or to provide that calculation?

MR. MARTIN:  Sorry.  So E&Y provided the -- so in the undertaking, we provided a list of payments.

E&Y produced the 22.2 at our request.  And looking at the update now, I missed it.  I missed the -- I missed changing the 20.89 to the 22.2 in our case.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake, then, to provide the calculation that E&Y did that came up with the 22.2 days?

MR. MARTIN:  I could.  I am actually -- I'm willing to take the 24. in your calculation, if that cuts to the chase, sure.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, sure.

MS. DUFF:  So just to clarify, everything in red, Mr. Aiken, are the numbers that you have calculated and added to this table?

MR. AIKEN:  That's correct, yes.

MS. DUFF:  All other numbers are sourced directly from the evidence.

MR. AIKEN:  From the evidence, yes.  Now, while we're on this table, can someone explain why the invoice total for 2013 of a little over $119 million is significantly different from the figures shown in table 8 in the lead/lag study, which is back on page 11 of the compendium of 102 million?

MR. MARTIN:  I am not completely sure, but I believe that the timing of the report that was provided -- sorry, the timing of the lead/lag study was completed prior to the end of 2014.

So there would have been -- oh, I'm sorry.  I'm talking about '14 now.  I'm not sure.  I'm not sure, I'm sorry.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MR. MARTIN:  I can't explain it.

MR. AIKEN:  Moving to the second table on page 12 of the compendium, would you take it subject to check, of course, that if you did not have any margin calls in 2013 and you continued to pay your IESO invoice on the date paid, which is at the third column in in the first table --

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, Mr. Aiken, can I just interrupt for one second.  Could it be that on page 11 it says the total power expense of net of HST is that 102 million and the actual invoices shown on page 12 might include HST?  Because the actual invoice amounts --


MR. AIKEN:  I had thought about that, but  13 percent --


MS. SPOEL:  That might be the reason for the difference?

MR. AIKEN:  -- difference would only be about 13 million, not $17 million difference.

MR. MARTIN:  I think that is part of it, but I can't -- I can't tie it in either.

MR. AIKEN:  That's fine.  That's fine.

So I was moving on to the second table on page 12 of the compendium.  And would you take it subject to check that if you did not have any margin calls in 2013 and you paid the full invoice amount on the date it was due, that the number of days from the end of the month would be 17.69, and you will see that in the red column, second-last line.  It is the same methodology, but adds up the lags from each of the month -- each of the months, I should say.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  I haven't checked it, Mr. Aiken, the 32.09, but directionally it looks like it would be accurate.

MR. AIKEN:  And just to confirm, the 32.89 is the average lag plus the 15.2 days being half the service period?

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, Mr. Aiken, you have added up and got 17.69, whereas in the first table you took an average which was 9.44.  But 17.69 isn't the average of those numbers; it is the total.

MR. AIKEN:  It's the sum of those numbers.

MS. SPOEL:  Why would you use a sum in one case and an average in the others when you're doing these calculations?

MR. AIKEN:  It is because of the way you weight the dollar numbers.

MS. SPOEL:  All right.

MR. AIKEN:  In the second --


MS. SPOEL:  These two tables are not apples and apples?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, they are.  What I am saying is that in the second table I don't have to weight five or six payments each month to come up with an average days.  There is only one payment each month.

MR. STEPANUIK:  If I may, I think in the second table what Mr. Aiken has done, to be clear, is he has just assumed all of the payments happened on February 19th, rather than the multiple payments that we're seeing in the table above, and hence the weighting is different.

MR. AIKEN:  So if you could now turn to page 6 of the compendium.  This is appendix A from the Board's June 3rd letter.  And on that you will see that the Board's -- I guess my question is:  Would you agree that the 32.89, assuming no margin calls, is comparable to the 32.7 days shown on line 1, which, as I understand it, is the median of the studies reviewed by staff.  So it is quite comparable?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MARTIN:  I agree that the number in your chart, Mr. Aiken, and the number that is provided in appendix A are based on the same premise.  However, according to Oshawa's payment schedules we do have margin calls and, therefore, the facts are that in our case, given those margin calls, the amount that is in appendix A and the amount that is in your chart is not representative of what actually occurs in Oshawa's case.

MR. AIKEN:  And that is actually what I am moving on to next, and that's discussing these margin calls.

Am I correct that you have a potential of some sort with the IESO, and when your monthly charges exceed a certain percentage of that potential you have the margin call?

MR. MARTIN:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  What form of potential do you have with the IESO?  Is it a letter of credit?

MR. MARTIN:  Currently we have a letter of credit.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  How much is that letter of credit for?

MR. MARTIN:  7.5 million.

MR. AIKEN:  Is that 7.5 million in addition to the operating line of credit of $10 million that you also have?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And is that operating line of credit, being the 10 million, also to be used to assist with working capital requirements?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  What is the annual cost of the letter of credit for 7.5 million, roughly?

MR. MARTIN:  Roughly $50,000.

MR. AIKEN:  And where has this cost been included in the revenue requirement?

MR. MARTIN:  It would be in OM&A.

MR. AIKEN:  What would be the amount needed in a letter of credit so that Oshawa did not have any margin calls?

MR. MARTIN:  I can't be precise.  But based on the activity, it would need to be in the range of 10- to 12 million to eliminate all of the margin calls.

MR. AIKEN:  And --


MR. MARTIN:  Which in several months would be far more than would be required, right?

MR. AIKEN:  And would the incremental cost of that be about $50,000 or something in that neighbourhood?

MR. MARTIN:  Well, that would be the direct costs of the letter of credit.  But there is obviously a cost of tying up that money.  We've never taken the consideration of what it costs for the 7.5 million, for example, but in any event there is a weighted average cost of capital for tying up funds, whether it is the 7.5 or 12.5.

MR. AIKEN:  I'm glad you talked about the weighted average cost of capital, because I was a little surprised when you said that the cost of your letter of credit was included in OM&A.

Wouldn't that be included as part of your short-term debt costs?

MR. MARTIN:  No.  Not from an accounting standpoint.  Well, first of all, I don't see it as being material.  It is 50,000.  And it's a direct bank charge.  So we have recorded it as a bank charge up until now.

MR. AIKEN:  I am going to move on to the second of the two numbers that I indicated earlier I was going to concentrate on.  This is the service lag of 17.44 days.

So in response to 2-Energy Probe-18 -- and this is page 13 of the compendium -- you provided the numbers used to calculate the service lag.  And in the response to part (a), if I look at the calculations for 2013, what you've done is you've divided the average unbilled revenue at month end, which is the 12,566,000, by the average billed revenue at month end of 11,164,000, and then you take that ratio, multiply it by 365, and divide by 12, and that gives you the figure of 34.23 days.  Is that correct?

MR. STEPANUIK:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And then you're dividing that by two to get the midpoint.  And in your original evidence, you added four days to account for bill processing.

Now, in the update, you've removed the four days for bill processing because that was a double-counting.

MR. MARTIN:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So stopping there for a minute, what's the difference between the 17.44 in your update, and the 17.11 that results from this interrogatory response?  Or that is stated in this interrogatory response?

MR. MARTIN:  The 17.44 was -- so, sorry, the original was --


MR. STEPANIUK:  One sec.  21.44 less --


[Witness panel confers]

MR. MARTIN:  The 17.11 at the time I responded to the interrogatory may have -- I took a simple calculation.  I might have put the wrong amount in.

The update was based on E&Y doing a proper re-evaluation of all of the components and came up with the 17.44.

MR. AIKEN:  So you're saying the 17.44 was based on more -- I shouldn't say more recent, because we're talking about 2013.  The numbers wouldn't have changed, but more accurate numbers than the 17.11?

MR. MARTIN:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:   Okay.  Now I have to admit when I first saw this methodology in your study, I thought this was an estimate of the billing lag, since it is based on billed and unbilled revenue.

So I obviously need an explanation of what is included in billed revenue at the end of the month.

MR. STEPANIUK:  This was trying to identify a typical methodology using 15.21 days.  Our view is that because the average unbilled revenue in each month is greater than the amount getting billed each month, Oshawa should be getting recognized that they're actually having a larger unbilled balance each month than what they're will billing.

Hence, if we look at our calculation, we get into that.  It is almost an extra two days of -- from a service lag, which we wanted to be taken into account.

So again it was looking at the average unbilled revenue being greater each month than what is being billed, showing us there was a component not getting captured.  Hence, we tried to capture that through that calculation.

MR. AIKEN:  But my question was:  What is in billed revenue at the end of the month?

MR. MARTIN:  In our case, we bill each day based on meter readings and I -- so I mean at a high level, billed revenue would be what you would expect.

I think what you are trying to get at is what is the time frame of the billed amounts?  I'm not exactly clear on the point.

We billed distribution revenue, which is kilowatt-hours, consumption, et cetera.

We do bill monthly.  I suspect what we're getting at here is that we have an amount of unbilled, generally speaking, that is slightly higher than what our billed amounts are, which suggests to me that the timing of the meter reads, the timing it takes to produce the invoices each day, there's a level of a lack of precision, let's say, that causes the amount of unbilled to be a little bit greater than what you would typically find, which would be just a certain month.

So I can't precisely tell you exactly what's in the billed revenue each month.

I think it is complicated by the fact that Oshawa bills every day, based on cycle billings.

There is always an element of things like defective meters, or we may be chasing down or looking at anomalies in meter data, et cetera, which those types of things could contribute to the unbilled amount to be -- or to be a bit longer of a lag than generally speaking.

So it is a bit of -- it's not a perfect situation where we bill exactly from the first day of the month to the last day of the month each time.

MR. AIKEN:  And I guess that goes back to my original point, that I thought this more had to do with a billing lag than the service lag.  Because all of your explanation talked about the time from when you read the meter to when you get the bill out.  You have all of these other things that you need to do.

And you have indicated you're billing lag is 17 days.  So looking at billed revenue versus unbilled revenue, that is purely a function of your billing lag.  Isn't that correct?

MR. STEPANIUK:  I would suggest -- no, I would suggest unbilled revenue hasn't been billed, so it is not part of your billing lag.

In effect, we calculate that as part of the -- let me take a second.

So because we're saying it is the unbilled component -- sorry, give me one moment to contemplate a response to that.

I'm not sure if this would make it more clear, but again, I think if you look at the unbilled component and the unbilled and the service lag and then the collection lag, all three components really being a component of the revenue lag, we've taken a portion of -- if you want to call it, you know, from the billed component and captured it as part of the service lag, then perhaps that is how we have calculate it.

But we're saying again because we're actually providing more service than the 15.2 would be calculating, we've had to modify that by using that calculation method to give us a bigger service period because we're actually having more service, if you will, being provided than what would typically be being billed.

It is not quite the same as what you're potentially suggesting, Mr. Aiken, but that is how we have calculated it.

MR. AIKEN:  Let me give you what I hope is a simple example, because I don't want to have to stop and think about it either.

Let's take January as a month.  On January 31st, you have a certain amount of billed revenue and a certain amount of unbilled revenue.  That billed revenue would include all of the invoices that you've completed for meter readings in January, and where you have actually invoiced the customer -- you may not have put it in the mail, but you have invoiced the customer based on meter reads in January.

The unbilled revenue would be for all of the meter reads that you haven't got around to sending out the bill yet.  I think that is a simple definition of billed versus unbilled.

So with a billing lag of 17 days, that means if you read the meter on January 14th, that meter read is in the billed revenue.  If you read the meter on January 15th, that is not in billed revenue because you haven't sent out the invoice yet.  That will be done February 1st.  So that's in the unbilled revenue.

So if your billing lag declined from 17 days to ten days for example, our billed revenue would be higher an your unbilled revenue would be lower.  And by your methodology, the service lag would change.  Is that correct?

MR. STEPANIUK:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And in one of the IR responses, you talked about that you think it is greater than 15.2 days because some of your large revenue customers are billed near the end of the month.  And therefore, the billed revenue is lower and the unbilled is higher, and therefore it is greater than 15 days.

And I asked if, well, if you switch the billing cycle so those large revenue customers were billed earlier in the month, could that potentially reduce your service lag below 15.2 days?  Would you agree that would be possible, based on your methodology?

MR. STEPANIUK:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  So if I could have you turn to page 10 of the compendium, section 4.1.  This is from your study again.  You indicate that the service lag -- sorry.

Yes.  Sorry, I just covered that part.  So, yeah, I was right.  Page 10, section 4.1, the service lag.  You describe the service lag as being the amount of time from when service was provided to customers to the date the meter read is performed.

Do you agree that the midpoint of the period over which service is provided is from immediately after a meter reading to the next meter reading?  In other words, you have the cycle meter reading just like you have the cycle billing.  So that the month -- the service period would be, for example, from December 15th to January 14th, and then from January 15th to February 14th, and so on.

MR. STEPANUIK:  Yes, I would agree.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, based on your methodology noted in the last paragraph on page 8 of the compendium, where it says:

"When start date and end date are unknown, the service is evenly distributed over the duration of the service period.  For calculation purposes midpoint is equal to the service period and days divided by two."

So this is how we come up with the 15.2, right?

MR. STEPANUIK:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  So then if I take you back to appendix A of the Board's letter, page 6 of the compendium, you will see under the heading "element", the first thing "under element" is "service period".  Under the heading "determination", right next to it, the service period is defined as part of the Board's policy, as exactly what we just talked about, right, 15.2 days?

So my question is, why isn't your service lag the same, and if it isn't the same, does this mean you don't agree with the Board's policy?

MR. MARTIN:  Well, maybe I can answer that.  The Board's policy came out a couple of weeks ago.  The lead/lag study was done ahead of the Board's policy.  So before there was a prescribed amount.  So we're not saying we disagree.

We did a calculation based on a certain methodology, which supported a number.  The Board's policy, up until the new policy, was to basically rely on the lead/lag studies produced by companies, all of which, at least the ones I have studied, do have different attributes.

In this case, our unbilled balance was, on average, on a consistent basis, higher than the amount that is billed, which suggests that the unbilled amount is slightly higher or has slightly more days than this prescribed amount.

So I'm not sure we can use the Board's policy in this context.  I think when we did the lead/lag study the Board's policy was to base -- first of all, the allowance was 13 percent, and the Board's policy was to base the working capital allowance on lead/lag studies.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  In all of those lead/lag studies that you reviewed, did you find anybody who used something other than 15.2 days if they were monthly billing or 30.4 days if they were bimonthly billing, or some weighted combination of those two?  For the service lag?

MR. STEPANUIK:  No.  Everyone typically uses the 15.21, or again, if it is bimonthly, the larger weighted average basis of that.

MR. AIKEN:  You agree the service lag is the midpoint of the service period?

MR. MARTIN:  I don't agree with that in our case.  I agree with the concept.  If you define the service period as being a month with 31 days, then 15.5 is the midpoint.

But I think you would agree, if that was the case, the results that would be produced from that would be that the unbilled amount would typically be approximately equal to the amount billed in any given month.

MR. AIKEN:  And as we've --


MR. MARTIN:  So it's -- I mean, I think there is a flaw in both calculations.

MR. AIKEN:  But if you wanted the unbilled and billed revenue to be roughly equal to one another, that's a function of your billing lag.  That's not a function of when you read the meter.  That's a function of how quick you get the bills out so that you move amounts from unbilled to billed.

MR. MARTIN:  So are you suggesting that our billing lag as presented is not -- it should be advanced or increased, as opposed to -- so if we're going to reduce the unbilled lag, are we simply going to add that to the billing lag?  Is that what you're suggesting?

MR. AIKEN:  No.  I'm suggesting your service lag is actually an estimate of your billing lag, which is very close to the estimate you have given us of 17 days.

MR. MARTIN:  But that would produce equal amounts, in my mind.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, we will --


MR. MARTIN:  That would result -- that would produce  -- that's where I'm -- that's where I can't get -- to me then, using a two-year average on a monthly basis, you would typically come up with amounts that are closer -- the billing amounts and the unbilled amounts would be typically closer than what ours are producing.

MR. AIKEN:  That's fine.  We will leave that for argument.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes, okay, thanks.

MR. AIKEN:  Those are my questions, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  I'm just getting out my hearing plan and marking that down.  We're ahead of schedule.

Are there any other parties that were going to cross-examine this panel?

MS. LEA:  I have one question of clarification.

MS. DUFF:  Please proceed, Ms. Lea.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Lea:

MS. LEA:  With some trepidation, I have to confess, I will ask this question.

Gentlemen, I think it was actually Mr. Martin who agreed that he had failed to recognize in the update an amount -- I think it was a number like 24.6 or something like that -- and I wrote down what I thought it was, and now I recognize that I was wrong.

What is that number?  And where does it fit in this calculation?  And of course, the follow-up question is:  And what effect would it have on the end result, if any?

MR. MARTIN:  The number can be found on page 12 of 24 of Mr. Aiken's compendium.

MS. LEA:  Yes.

MR. MARTIN:  Far-right corner in the first chart, 24.64.

MS. LEA:  Yes, and what is that number there?

MR. MARTIN:  24.64.

MS. LEA:  No, I mean, what is its description.  Thank you very much for --


MR. MARTIN:  You did say it with trepidation.

MS. LEA:  Yes, I know.  I shouldn't have gone there.  That will teach me.

Okay.  So I am going to look at the compendium, and it is the weighted average days from the end of the month, am I right?

MR. STEPANUIK:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  If you accept that number as correct, does it affect -- does it affect the end result of 10.9, which you provided in your June 23rd update?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes, it will reduce it, but I don't -- I haven't -- we haven't recalculated the impact.

MS. LEA:  Would you be willing to do so?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Can I have an undertaking, please, to do that, Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  Absolutely.

MS. LEA:  J1.1, please.  Recalculation of the end result of the working capital allowance calculation, recognizing the correction that we just talked about.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO RECALCULATE THE END RESULT OF THE WORKING CAPITAL ALLOWANCE CALCULATION, RECOGNIZING THE CORRECTION DISCUSSED.

MS. DUFF:  The Panel has one question.
Questions by the Board:


MS. DUFF:  I just want to ensure, there is no accruals done at month end, when you're using that accounts payable number, that you are accruing for any unbilled amounts?  I mean, from the IESO, that accounts payable number.  You would remember if you do that every month.

MR. MARTIN:  I may not, actually.  I would have to -- we might have to check with our -- the actual accounting expert in panel 3, if that is okay.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, we will defer that.  I just wanted to eliminate that or understand it as a possibility.  Thank you.

And with that, Mr. Mondrow, do you have any redirect for this panel?

MR. MONDROW:  I do not, thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you very much, gentlemen, you are excused with the Board's thanks.

Would this be a convenient time to break, or do you want to proceed forward?

MR. MONDROW:  I am in your hands, Madam Chair.  We can proceed if you wish.

MR. MARTIN:  Sorry, it will take a few minutes just to pack up and switch...

MR. MONDROW:  Five-minute break, perhaps, or the afternoon break if you wish.

MS. DUFF:  Well, we'll just take a -- let's take a five-minute break and let the gentlemen -- and then we will proceed forward, okay?

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 2:32 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:40 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  My apologies for not being clear on the length of the break there, but I appreciate everybody coming back.

All right, Mr. Mondrow, we have reconvened panel number 1.  And I believe CCC, Ms. Girvan is next.
Cross-Examination By Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Just to let you know the good news I will be less than my prediction, given Mr. Rubenstein was very thorough and having regard to the fact that there is a great deal of evidence already on the record.

So just a couple of things, and I have spoken to Mr. Mondrow about this, in terms of your updates.

One of the things that I am looking for, just so that we're all crystal clear, is given your updates in May and in June, the rate impacts of everything so that we have that complete.

And if you turn to Exhibit 1, tab C, page 45, which is the main piece of evidence, Mr. Martin, it sets out the year over year change for 2015, 2016, 2017, and 2018 both on an unsmooth and smooth basis.

I realize you can't provide that today, but Mr. Mondrow said he would update this schedule.  He believes he can do that, hopefully for Thursday.  If not, we will do it by an undertaking.

MS. LEA:  I'm sorry, Ms. Girvan, we don't have the schedule on the screen yet.  Where is it that you're referring to?

MS. GIRVAN:  It is Exhibit 1, tab C.

MS. LEA:  Exhibit 1, tab C.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  It is the management discussion and executive summary.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  It is on page 45.

MS. LEA:  Page 45?

MS. GIRVAN:  Go up.  It is tab C, so you're into the next tab, I think -- there we go.

So I just want to be clear, so that we know at the end of the day what we're dealing with in terms of all of the evidence updates and what the rate impacts are.

MR. MARTIN:  We can produce that, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  That would be helpful.

MS. LEA:  Undertaking J1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  To update the rate impacts set out at tables 20 and 21 on Exhibit I, tab C, page 45, given the May updates and the June updates, and also include for residential consumption at 400 kilowatt-hours per month and 1,000

MS. GIRVAN:  I just have one little component to add to that.

MS. LEA:  I beg your pardon.

MS. GIRVAN:  That's okay.  With respect to the residential, I would like to get the 800 kilowatt-hours per month.  But I would also like to see the impact at 400 kilowatt-hours per month and 1,000 kilowatt-hours per month -- sorry, sorry.

I meant to add -- you go back to page 44, there's the bill impacts, and I would like to see those.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Ms. Girvan, what are the three consumption levels?

MS. GIRVAN:  800.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  1,000 and 400.

MR. MONDROW:  I do acknowledge Ms. Girvan has been talking to me about this, and I just haven't looked it up so thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  We can go off-line if not to sort of make sure I get everything I need.

MR. MARTIN:  We can produce the charts on page 45.  I'm not -- I am not sure of the exercise involved in getting the -- I mean, the 800 kilowatt-hours for residential customer is typical and given we're moving to fixed rates, this might be a simple thing.

MS. GIRVAN:  I think it is in the work forms.

MR. MARTIN:  Okay.

MS. GIRVAN:  It is just pulling it into one place.

MR. MARTIN:  Okay.

MS. LEA:  Can someone please restate the undertaking in its entirety?

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  To have the rate impacts set out at tables 20 and 21 on Exhibit I, tab C, page 45, given the May updates and the June updates.  So recast them, but also include for residential consumption at 400 kilowatt-hours per month and 1,000.

MR. MONDROW:  Just to clarify, Ms. Girvan.  As I understand it, when you say recast, what you would like is the most current impacts reflected on the table to be provided in response?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  You don't want a continuity schedule; you want where we're at today.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  That's fine, yes.  So essentially your application as updated, what does that mean in terms of rate impacts.

MR. MONDROW:  That's fine, thank you.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  Great.  Sorry for the confusion, I appreciate that.

And one other thing that I did discuss with Mr. Mondrow is the application was filed on January 28th or 29th, and the formal application is found at Exhibit 1, tab B, pages 1 to 6, which really sets out the relief that the applicant is seeking in this case.

And I am pretty sure -- but I would like to confirm and maybe they can do this for me -- is that the only differences between what's in the original application and given all of your updates is that the rate levels have changed, and there's a small change to the total cost efficiency carry over mechanism.

Otherwise, I would just like you to confirm the relief you are seeking is consistent with the original application, because it hasn't been updated.  So if you could provide that, that would be great.

MR. MONDROW:  I can confirm the relief -- I can confirm now the relief is consist with the original application, save for the changes in the numbers, the rate impacts and bill impacts of which -- in respect of which you asked for, which we will provide.

And the two changes in the June update, Exhibit K1.2 to the efficiency, proposed efficiency carry over mechanism or total cost efficiency carry over mechanism being weather normalization and an onus on OPUCN to demonstrate sustained efficiency gains, which Mr. Mahajan spoke to this morning.

Subject to those changes, the prayer for relief remains as filed.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, that's helpful.  Thank you.  Okay.  So I would like to go to Exhibit 1, tab C, page 5, which again is the management discussion and executive summary.

Mr. Rubenstein took you through this to some extent, and it says that the main driver for Oshawa's application for approval of a custom IR plan is the large multi-year capital investment requirements, and driving these multi-year capital investment requirements are the expected 3 percent annual average growth in customer connections and aggregate customer demand, and the significant capital expenditures for relocation of distribution assets to accommodate the infrastructure related to that growth.

And it is my understanding that now you've changed your load forecast for 2015.  And I just wanted to ask you: doesn't that then change the very premise for your application?

MR. MARTIN:  No.  So the reference here to the 3 percent, while it is coincidental, the 3 percent here refers to the expected increase in the level of demand in the City of -- in Oshawa.

It doesn't necessarily -- and demand being peak demand.  It doesn't necessarily co-relate with the load forecast, which is based on customer connections and average consumption.

They are two different -- they are two different metrics.  So we still expect the demand to go up by 3 percent.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, all right.  Thank you.

We spoke a bit earlier about the RRFE and I think we're all familiar with the paragraphs setting out, on pages 18 and 19, about the expectation of the Board.

Just to repeat, the Board expects a distributor's application under custom IR to demonstrate its ability to manage within the rates set given the costs and revenues would vary from forecast.

So we have had a discussion about what you are intending to do, and you discussed about cost of service and your annual adjustments.

So do you still believe that what you are proposing is consistent with that expectation about managing within the rates set that the Board set out in the RRFE?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  And again, from a statistical standpoint, again I will refer to TC -- excuse me.

So at TC1.2, we provided a table which estimated the amount of revenue requirement that was at risk, net basically of the annual adjustment mechanisms that we're proposing.

The results of that analysis was that it ranged from 87 percent in 2019 to 94 percent in 2015.  That's our estimate of how much of the revenue requirement is in fact at risk in this application, given the annual adjustments.

So based on that, we believe we've met the criteria.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So under your annual adjustments there's several accounts that essentially allow you to pass-through actual costs.  Those are your relocation costs and your customer connection costs, would you agree with that?  You want to true-up those amounts.


MR. MARTIN:  I think so, yes.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  There are various components in your application that envision a true-up; is that correct?


MR. MARTIN:  That's correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  So within the structure of your plan, I guess what I might argue is that you have eliminated some of the risks that a normal utility would have under an incentive regulation program.


MR. MAHAJAN:  On both sides, though, right, not just for the utility.  Also for the ratepayer.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And would you agree that in terms of -- it does eliminate some of the normal risks, but would you agree it also, to some extent, creates disincentives for you to reduce your costs?


MR. MAHAJAN:  I think these projects are really driven by third parties, and, you know -- so really, it's not any cost risk.  It is more about estimating accurately what would be required.


MS. GIRVAN:  But to the extent that the projects are driven by third parties --


MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.


MS. GIRVAN:  -- the costs that you incur will be passed through to your customers, right?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  So where in the context of that is the incentive for you to do that in the most cost-effective manner possible?  If you're saying, we want to recover all of the costs related to third-party relocations, we want to do all of that, where are you going to look to, in terms of trying to demonstrate cost-effectiveness?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Well, once we know the design of what we are supposed to do, you know, we do have systems in place to do it in the most efficient manner as possible.


MS. GIRVAN:  But the fact that they're being passed through, wouldn't you agree that there is some disincentive to do that?


MR. MAHAJAN:  There is disincentive for us to be efficient?


MS. GIRVAN:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. MAHAJAN:  So what would be the incentive to be efficient?


MS. GIRVAN:  If you had some sort of incentive mechanism embedded in that.


MR. MAHAJAN:  I would be open to that, but I think it will be very difficult to benchmark, because we don't know which street they want us to relocate the plant on so that the designers can get to work and come up with an estimate.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.


I'm just going to move on to some questions about the effective date.  You indicated earlier today in your opening statement that in 2012 and '13 and '14 that you were under-earning; is that correct?  You moved very quickly to under-earning in those years.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.


MS. GIRVAN:  When did you first inform the Board that you were under-earning significantly in those years?  Did you inform the Board?


MR. MARTIN:  Well, in July -- so in July of 2013 -- so as I understand it, you need to trigger an off-ramp -- under the old scenario you need to trigger an off-ramp --


[Cell phone sounds]


MR. MARTIN:  Sorry about that.  Prior to informing the Board.  So that would have been at the end of 2013.  We file our reports with the Board at the end of April.  So somewhere around April or May we would have been in a position -- 2014, we would have been in a position to inform the Board.


However, under the RRFE, with the custom IR application mechanism that was being contemplated, we filed a letter with the Board in July of 2013 basically notifying the Board of our intent to file a custom IR.


However, at the time, the rules had not been defined, or it was unclear as to whether or not early rebasing rules were going to change or -- so we were in a position where we weren't exactly sure whether or not -- we didn't receive acknowledgement from the Board they were going to accept it.  It was simply a notification.


So roll forward to 2014 when we triggered the off-ramp.  At that point in time we were, in fact -- the rules had been -- we were at least comfortable with the rules with respect to the custom IR in order for us to proceed with a custom IR.


So it didn't become necessary for us to report to the Board the off-ramp for the early rebasing, because in fact we were already working towards or starting the process of working towards a custom IR.


MS. GIRVAN:  So in none of those years you wrote to the Board saying, We need to seek some relief with respect to our under-earning?


MR. MARTIN:  Well, we wouldn't have been in a position to seek relief until April of 2014, at which point in time we were doing a custom IR.


So I don't -- so, no, we didn't feel it was necessary at that point to inform the Board.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So when did you decide that you couldn't live with rates set on the basis of fourth-generation IRM?  When did you formally sort of make a decision within the company that you had to file, as you said, a custom IRM?


MR. MAHAJAN:  I think we just said '13, right, so that's when we --


MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  So we knew coming out of 2012 that we were -- given our capital expenditure requirements, we knew we were going to trigger an off-ramp and likely be in front of the Board for an early rebasing.


At the time there wasn't anything other than the IRM mechanism.  So we had to -- we were in a position to have to wait until we triggered the off-ramp.


As with the Board's RRFE report that was delivered in October 2012, the custom IR was a -- was now a new mechanism or a new opportunity for Oshawa to investigate to see whether -- because that would certainly provide relief for Oshawa, in terms of dealing with its high capital expenditures, not only for some of the planned term that we were in, which ended in 2015, but also for our future requirements, you know, in this case going through to 2019.


So we informed the Board in July of 2013, we notified the Board that we were, in fact, planning to file a custom IR.  So it was at that point in time, I guess, that we officially notified them.


We didn't notify them of the earnings problem, but we notified them that we were planning to do a custom IR in order to mitigate the earnings issues.


MS. GIRVAN:  Why didn't you notify them about your earnings problems?


MR. MARTIN:  I thought I answered that earlier.  So we weren't in a position to notify the Board until April of 2014.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.


MR. MARTIN:  At which point in time we were already in preparation to do the custom IR.  So it was a moot point at that point.  The custom IR was dealing with it.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.


Now, in your update on page 5 -- sorry, he has borrowed something of mine -- you set out a number of reasons why you couldn't comply with the rate filing for a decision by this Board in January 1st -- sorry, do you want to confer?


MR. MARTIN:  Sorry, could you start over again?


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.


MR. MARTIN:  Sorry.


MS. GIRVAN:  In your update that was filed on June 23rd, just at the back there is some narrative, and it talks about why you felt that you couldn't comply with a rate filing which would allow this Board to make a decision by January 1st, 2015.  Do you recall that discussion?


You discuss regulatory complexities and the need to acquire the necessary expertise to assist you in preparing a complete, sufficient, and appropriate application.


MR. MARTIN:  Oh, yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  So I guess my question is really, other LDCs were able to comply with the Board's required dates, and it is just not clear to me why you weren't, why you couldn't move the process along a little bit further.


MR. MARTIN:  Well, again, I'm not sure I can attest to the others.  The others that I am aware of who filed at the same time that we did was Horizon and Hydro One, both of whom are significantly larger, have significantly larger staff dedicated to regulatory processes.  We have none dedicated to regulatory processes.


And unfortunately, while we made every effort to get the application done as quickly as possible, we weren't able to.


I do believe as well we were the only utility that was filing effectively early.  We were doing an early rebasing.  And the rules weren't totally clear to us, in terms of whether we were going to be able to, in fact, rebase early under the custom IR, or whether there was going to be any other.


So we got off to a bit of a late start.  But it is principally because of the complexity of the application, the limited resources that we've got, and the timing of which we started -- and in addition to that, trying to organize third parties around things like benchmarking and other aspects -- NBM, for example, Utiliworks on smart meter.  These were all things that were new to Oshawa in relation to filing rate applications.

MS. GIRVAN:  In the context of that, how did you gauge how much you thought you needed to spend with respect to that?

MR. MARTIN:  On the cost of -- how much did we budget for the rate application?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. MARTIN:  I believe our initial budgets were in the neighbourhood of $900,000, roughly, $800,000 to $900,000.

MS. GIRVAN:  How did you decide internally how much you thought you would devote to that, to developing all of these studies and --


MR. MAHAJAN:  One of the metrics was the previous cost of service, given the fact we were not going to come, again and again, whether it is through cost of service or through some IRM updates.  Really it was driven by taking a look at, I think, Horizon's numbers and trying to apply some kind of --


MS. GIRVAN:  You can say benchmark.

MR. MAHAJAN:  An estimate, a benchmark.  Thank you, thank you very much.

But the whole idea was -- just going back to your previous question and Phil's very eloquent response, I always get hung up on the size difference.  Really for us there was a lot of work being done by our finance group and assisted with operations.

But there was definitely an emphasis placed on what else can we do that the Board has looked at, in terms of a custom IR that Oshawa can present.  And that was principally third party benchmarking, benchmarking not just for our DSP, but also for our total costs.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And just if you could please turn to one of CCC's interrogatories, 1-CCC-8.  If we could pull that up?

It is really the question I'm sort of going to ask it to you again, but so you're proposing that rates be effective January 1, 2015.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Madam Chair, if we could just have a moment?  Thank you very much.

MS. GIRVAN:  So my concerns and my question are really around your customers, and I think we talked earlier today that, you know, we have this proceeding going on, we're going to have argument, we're going to have a decision, rate order -- we may not get a final rate order until October, for example.

My concern is, really, have you said anything to your customers that they might be experiencing a rate increase as of January?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  There was the -- there was a report from the OEB that was filed as part of the process.

MS. GIRVAN:  The notice?

MR. MARTIN:  The notice, yes.  Since that time, we have presented information at our annual general meeting which was open to public, to the public as well.

MS. GIRVAN:  I guess my concern would really be -- is under your proposal, you really are saying to your customers we want to go back and ask you now to pay more for the electricity that you have already consumed.  And that's essentially the impact of that.

MR. MONDROW:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair, I have to interrupt.  That is not the proposal.  What Ms. Girvan is describing is retroactive ratemaking, and we are not proposing to rebill previous consumption.

The proposal is to recover the variance account shortfall driven, if approved by the Board, from the effective date versus the implementation date and recover those deferred costs over future consumption.

So Ms. Girvan has characterized this, and CCC did so in its interrogatories as well as retrospective ratemaking, going back and recharging customers.  That is not the proposal.  There is a legal distinction.

MS. GIRVAN:  I think we can deal with that in argument.

MR. MONDROW:  If it is a matter of argument, we should deal with it in argument.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, I agree.  I agree.  There are a few things I want to talk about as metrics, and I think this morning the panel was saying that you can and will do better, right?  That you are happy with your performance now and you can and will do better.

But it is my understanding that you haven't really developed beyond the sort of OEB scorecard any set of metrics and targets that measure your performance during the term of the plan, so going beyond the scorecard.

And I guess, from a senior executive perspective, I'm wondering how are you going to measure your performance?  And how do you intend to measure productivity going forward?  What are you going to be looking at?

MR. MAHAJAN:  So a couple of things.  As far as reliability is concerned, we definitely want to pay attention to literally 30 to 40 percent of the outages and momentaries we experience through the mechanism that we proposed on tracking outages due to two key causes.

In terms of productivity, this is where we proposed the incentive mechanisms, where we actually have an opportunity to do better than what PEG believes we already are doing.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry to interrupt, Madam Chair.  I didn't want to interrupt the flow before, but I misspoke earlier and it may assist Ms. Girvan at this point for me to interject.

The question was whether there was any update to the prayer for relief, other than the efficiency carry over mechanism and the change in the various revenue requirement components, and associated rate impacts.

My answer was, no, that's it and that was a mistake.

The additional change, which was just spoken to this morning due to requests that had been put to OPUCN and throughout this process and continuing efforts to come up to a response, that response was offered this morning by Mr. Mahajan in his evidence in-chief, and that is the so-called metrics issue.

He spoke in his evidence in-chief in his opening statement about the performance commitments to the scorecard, the SQRs, and the reduction in outages from these two animal or interference events and the porcelain insulator equipment failure.

So I should have advised Ms. Girvan -- and she may want to ask questions about that now -- that that is also an amendment to the prayer for relief, in the sense that Oshawa PUC is proposing those metrics for approval by the Board as part of its custom IR package.

We will review the transcript and make sure that the statement of that proposal is clear on the transcript.  I believe it is.  And to the extent it is not, we will clarify it, but those metrics are formally part of the prayer for relief at this point.  So I apologize, Ms. Girvan --


MS. GIRVAN:  So are you proposing new metrics and targets associated with those metrics?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.  So I think the proposal is -- no, I think we know what we are proposing is --


MS. GIRVAN:  I was going to say you think the proposal --


MR. MAHAJAN:  We know we're proposing for those two key causes, we will improve over the 2014 base line, which will be a 36 month rolling average by 20 percent.

So currently we have 78 outages, out of roughly about 171.  We propose to bring that 78 down to less than 62.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Over the five years?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  All right.  I guess the other thing I would like to ask you is -- and I have been dealing with in some other cases.  Would you be willing, as a company, to meet with Board Staff and intervenors to develop some meaningful metrics and targets beyond what you have just stated, that could be put in place for the five years?

MR. MAHAJAN:  We're always open to developing that, and I am hoping that this would be also an industry-wide exercise.

MS. GIRVAN:  Because you can understand the concern on this side is you're getting money from customers over a five year term, and your customers want to be able to see, at least people representing the customers, how well you are doing with those funds.

And I would expect as a senior executive, that you are going to be looking continuously to, internally at the metrics.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Just a suggestion that might be helpful.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  I think that maybe we could move forward with some industry standards and --


DR. ELSAYED:  Can I just ask a clarifying question?  When did you actually introduce those two additional measures?

MR. MAHAJAN:  That was today.

DR. ELSAYED:  Oh, today?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Today, yes, yes.  As Mr. Mondrow said, we have been listening to this request and you know, based on those requests we've been developing a metric that we can actually deliver on, over and above the SAIDI and SAIFI which is a part of the scorecard.

DR. ELSAYED:  So for those you would have your current performance, and then you proposed certain numbers for the five-year period?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.  Additional metric.  We proposed a mechanism to calculate that, so the 2014 base line would be set, based on a 36-month rolling average, and I believe the number is 78.  And then we will calculate that on a 36-month rolling average.

DR. ELSAYED:  The targets?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.

MS. GIRVAN:  So it might be useful -- I know it is on the transcript, but it might be useful to file something to set out specifically what you are proposing, and then we can comment whether we think that is a good idea or not in argument.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  I don't know if Mr. Mondrow wants to do that or...

MR. MONDROW:  That's fine, Madam Chair.  So we can mark it with an undertaking number, and I think what I said earlier is we will review the transcript to make sure there is a clear description.  It may be by reference to that transcript.  It may be with an additional page that is filed, but either way we will make sure there is a clear description of the proposed metric.

MS. DUFF:  I think the additional page being filed would be helpful.

MR. MONDROW:  That's fine.  We will do that.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Lea?

MS. LEA:  Mr. Mondrow, do I understand that panel 3 is actually the one that we would talk in detail about the metric?

MR. MONDROW:  Panel 3 will certainly be able to deal with the calculation of the metric, yes.

MS. LEA:  The calculation, and also, I understand the general -- I don't want to ask my questions now, but I understand the general idea is the reduction would occur over the five-year period.  Is there, for example, an annual rate, how do we track progress over the plan, that kind of thing is all panel 3?

MR. MONDROW:  I do suggest anything in respect of this description which we will provide in advance of panel 3 can be taken up with panel 3, particularly given the timing, absolutely.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, that is helpful.  Panel 3.

MS. DUFF:  So the undertaking number, are we at 1.3?

MS. LEA:  I should know that, shouldn't I?  Oh, here we go, thank you very much.

Yes, it is 1.3, thank you very much, Madam Chair, yes, it is, Undertaking J1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE A DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED METRICS

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  I just have a couple questions in another area.  So as you know -- and you have reviewed other plans -- that earnings sharing mechanisms are what I would call a common attribute among many of the custom IR plans that have been approved by the Board, Union Gas, Enbridge Gas, Horizon all have ESMs.  Would Oshawa be willing to have an ESM as part of its plan?  That's a nod?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, we would consider that.

MS. GIRVAN:  You would consider that?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Do you have any preference as to how an ESM would operate if you were to propose one yourself?

MR. MAHAJAN:  We will have to listen to your proposal as to what are you thinking about in terms of...

MS. GIRVAN:  I'm just saying, I mean, there is different ways of dealing with ESMs, and I wondered if you had any sort of preference in terms of how you think an earnings sharing mechanism could be structured.

I mean, there's earnings sharings with no dead band, 50/50 sharing above the Board-allowed return.

MR. MAHAJAN:  So I'm certainly interested in listening to and reviewing this concept, because what we had proposed were two mechanisms, and if the -- if there's interest to also look at the ESM, we will certainly, you know, come back to you.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, that's useful.  That's great, thank you.

I have a few questions, just sort of random questions, just sort of picking up on a few things that were asked this morning.

So customer engagement.  I think it is clear you really didn't discuss your -- in terms of your customer engagement -- your proposed rate increase with your customers.  I think that is what you confirmed with Mr. Rubenstein this morning.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  You didn't say, Here are rate increases, what do you think about these?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.  Other than that posting that we filed.

MS. GIRVAN:  The notice.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Or advertised, yeah --


MS. GIRVAN:  So in terms of your customer engagement activities that you filed with -- in your evidence, you didn't discuss that with your customers?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yeah, so there were just two things done.  One, you know, those additional questions that were added to the survey.  And the other thing that we did was we put the plan on the website.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  And got no comments, right?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And I understand in the context of this application you're moving -- you're increasing your fixed charge, right?  This is sort of prior to the Board's decision to move to revenue decoupling.  You are in any event moving towards increasing your fixed charge, right?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Driven by the cost allocation model, yes?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Did you survey your customers in any way with respect to that change?

MR. MARTIN:  No.

MS. GIRVAN:  Saying, What do you think about increasing the fixed charge, here could potentially be the impacts on your bill, maybe for lower-volume customers, you didn't talk to customers about that?

MR. MARTIN:  No.

MS. GIRVAN:  In terms of customer engagement going forward, I know that -- and we will get to this in a minute -- you intend to file customer satisfaction survey results.

But do you intend on an ongoing basis to sort of enhance customer engagement with your customers?  Do you intend to do anything over and above what you did in the context of this application?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  So we need to -- again, we have taken a fairly pragmatic approach in the past, which I think is fairly typical of utilities our size or smaller.  Based on the Board's requirements for customer engagement and a number of other initiatives, certainly we are -- we will be responsible to formalize additional customer engagement activities.

We do have a budget for communications.  We don't have an FTE budgeted for, but we do have costs budgeted for an outreach program and customer engagement activities, but we have not finalized those activities or those plans as yet.

MS. GIRVAN:  Something you intend to do in the future.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Great, thank you.

So you have said -- and I think it was sort of a theme this morning -- that you're pretty happy in terms of relative to others you have low rates, right?  When you compare yourself to others.  And that you have lower costs to serve your customers.

Now, have you ever undertaken any studies to look as to whether or not that is really a function of your specific service territory and the characteristics of that service territory?  Rather than just saying, Look, we're low-cost compared to all of these other utilities, have you ever drilled down and said, you know, maybe that is because we serve high-density communities, those are lower costs, so that's really the reason why we have lower costs.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Two parts.  One, the short answer is, no, we haven't done a study.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. MAHAJAN:  In terms of looking at the comparables in our cohort group, I believe we have looked at it.  If we're not the lowest one, we are one of the lowest.  Then we have looked at the GTA utilities, comparing us to a mix of, you know, what would be -- right now I think we're 50/50 in terms of underground and overhead, and there is a certain percentage of rural and urban territory.

You know, when we compare ourselves to similar groups, we do have the lowest rates.  Quite frankly, I think Phil has mentioned earlier not just -- not just our cohort group but also the GTA utilities.  That's fairly broad population to compare yourself to.

MR. MARTIN:  I mentioned earlier as well that the comparisons that we are making are to what we refer to as the peer group.

So in PEG's former benchmarking methodology, they identified cohort groups where they basically categorized utilities into like cohorts based on some of the attributes that Atul has mentioned, so kilometres of line, proportion of underground, overhead, customer size, customer growth, those types of things.

And we -- so basically presuming those to be good utilities to compare ourselves with, because, to your point, we are already -- our service territory should be more or less alike.

In comparing to those on just about every metric, OM&A per customer, FTE, or customers per FTE, rate base per customer, rates, we are better than all or most of those peers.

So I think implicitly, while we haven't done the study ourselves, I believe that we can rely to a certain extent on PEG's benchmarking exercise in terms of putting us into groups that we can compare ourselves with.

MS. GIRVAN:  But it couldn't -- maybe it is a reflection of the fact that you've got a lot of greenfield subdivisions that are highly dense.  Have you looked at that?

MR. MARTIN:  No, we don't believe so.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, all right.  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Can I just again ask a clarification question here.  In the PEG report -- I have to admit I didn't read the whole report -- when you say for the cohort group there is a comparison in a number of areas like OM&A per customer, for example, does the report just show your so-called, what you called earlier your productivity factor?  Or does it actually go into detail and show your numbers versus the numbers for the other -- the rest of the cohort group?  For each of those measures you talked about.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  Sorry, so what I was referring to there is actually PEG's former methodology, which took into account only OM&A, basically grouped utilities based on characteristics.

DR. ELSAYED:  Right.

MR. MARTIN:  -- and then put those into groups and then measured, did their economic -- econometric modelling and basically put utilities into various categories for the purpose of the stretch factor.

In terms of talking about OM&A per customer and those types of things, those are metrics that we have compiled from essentially the OEB's year books from each year.

So when we're comparing ourselves to other utilities, it is a combination of PEG's benchmarking report, which basically -- so the new methodology from PEG is to basically benchmarking utilities against a predicted outcome.

So we're no longer -- we're no longer compared, we're no longer grouped into peer groups or into cohort groups.  You're essentially compared to all 75 utilities.

They come up with a predicted cost and the productivity factor is based on that.

So we've got the benchmarking report that we use to test our forecasts, but we're also using metrics like OM&A per customer, et cetera.  We're deriving those metrics from the Ontario Energy Board year book ourselves.

DR. ELSAYED:  So when you say "benchmarking" in the PEG methodology, the current methodology, you're really talking about benchmarking against yourself?

MR. MAHAJAN:  But there was a previous benchmarking --


DR. ELSAYED:  I realize that.  But the current methodology, you're not -- when you say there's an improvement in your productivity, you're actually talking about your own improvement, not relative to anybody else.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  So the type term "benchmarking" sometimes is a little misleading because benchmarking is you're looking at a benchmark.  In this case, I am just confirming the benchmark that PEG is using is your own current performance?

MR. MARTIN:  Well, it is using -- so let me clarify.

So what PEG has done is they've benchmarked our forecast, and we have -- so we have tested the results of that against -- and what that benchmarking tells us is that we should expect to be in sort of the second-most efficient group in 2018 and 2019, relative to today's information.

We can't benchmark our forecast against others, because we don't have their forecast.

What we did do is take a look at what PEG did.  They did look or we did compare our productivity results against the historical efficiencies of the other utilities.

Now, it's not apples and apples, but it is the best we can do under the circumstances.

DR. ELSAYED:  That's helpful, thank you.

MR. MARTIN:  Thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MS. DUFF:  Please continue.

MS. GIRVAN:  One of the things that you were discussing this morning was the fact that you did zero-based budgeting, so you did bottom-up.

I just wanted to get a sense of that process that you went through, in terms of saying to your managers here is a five-year period and we want you to present us with budgets.

So can you just explain what you did in that context?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Certainly.  So really seventy percent of our costs are really, you know, people.  So we started with HR plan and the idea was to take a look at all of the retirements, identify any skills gap based on things such as customer engagement that we were talking about, what kind of a communications budget do we need to have.

So based on that exercise, we came up with the HR plan that got translated to costs and so on.

And then, of course, taking a look at all of the other major components, and the key one in that is subcontractors that we work with.  So that is how we developed it.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So essentially you said to your senior management, Provide us with your budgets.


Following that process when they sent you your budgets, did you go back to them and say, okay, we've got your budgets.  Now go back and build in some productivity, because we want to do better and we want you to find productivity.

Did you undertake that step, both with capital and with O&M?

MR. MAHAJAN:  So one of the things what we do is that if there is -- one is that we are going to replace people who are going to be retiring.  So that's sort of like the succession planning.

In addition to that, if there is a request that because of growth we need one more FTE -- and I can talk about one specific example.  There was a request to add one FTE, for instance, in the design group.  So the managers have to develop a business case of what are the workloads in terms of number of hours.  They have actually developed a written business case that, you know, we as management team review.  It's only when we are satisfied that we go ahead and approve that plan.

But the simple answer to your question is that because of this process, no, we didn't ask them to go and provide productivity over and above that in that process.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, all right.  Thank you.

So one of the things that I'm quite interested this is your annual reporting and your annual rate adjustment process.  And there are two sections of the evidence which I am not going to get into any great detail, but Exhibit 10, tab D, pages 1 to 9 sets out your annual rate adjustment process.  Then Exhibit 10, tab E, sets out the annual reporting.

So in annual reporting -- actually, this part is good.  It describes what you have set out in the rate adjustment process.

So what I am looking at is something concrete in terms of -- I understand that you want to file your RRR filings. You want to do that at the same time in terms of what your actual proposal is.

So this year might be a little different because of where the rate process is.  But when are you going to file each year?  What's the process, and what does it really look like?  Is it going to be a discovery process?  What kind of supporting evidence will you file?  Because there's different extremes.

There is a cost of service filing and then there is an IRM filing.  And you talked earlier, Mr. Martin, about the IRM filing being fairly mechanistic, so we could file that in October and boom, boom, boom, it is sort of -- it falls into place because the adjustments are fairly mechanistic.

What I see in what you are proposing is adding a bit more complexity, in terms of saying we are now going to update our forecasts of certain capital items, we are going to update our load forecast.  That, to me, is a more extensive process.

So what I am looking for from your perspective is:   What is that process going to be?

And again, you could think about that and file it in an undertaking.  But I think at the end of the day, we really need to know whether what you are proposing is sufficient, in terms of being able to test the evidence if that is required, and get rates in place.

So it is timing, what you are going to file, what kind of process you envision.

And if you could help me with that, that would be great.  As I said, it might be something you want to think about, but I get a sense that you are going to merge your sort of annual reporting with your rate adjustment process.  But how do you see that unfolding?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes, you're right.  I think we're all in a bit of a - in a bit of a new world here.  I think the custom IR approach, the ACM approach, the changes that are being made are going to impose on utilities and everyone else -- the Board Staff and intervenors, et cetera -- an obligation or a commitment to file something other than an IRM in mechanistic update.

What we were contemplating, and I can't say that we've got it perfectly set out yet, is we have the adjustment mechanisms that we are proposing.  Those would have to be tracked.

The process, however, would be -- and we would presume it would be around -- and I'm only aligning this.  The more complex IRM applications are typically required to be submitted to the Board by the August time frame currently.

So our process, our plan process would be to, sometime around August, to provide whatever adjustments we are proposing for the following year and the evidence to support that, along with any other reportings that were required that allowed for Board to determine how we're doing against our plan, those types of reporting.

Again, some of these are -- some of these are incorporated into the RRFE, but so far have not been prescribed.

So we're kind of hoping to follow along what actually -- as these rules crystallize, we will certainly comply with those as they come along.

So we had contemplated in around August to provide evidence around adjustments that we were proposing for the following year, along with information that was required in order to allow parties to see how we're doing against the plan.

We did contemplate, as is the case with the IRMs, there are -- it's available for intervenors, et cetera, to provide written arguments, et cetera, and our contemplation was that because these are essentially adjustments that are premised originally on the application, given that there's a knowledge base of that application, it should be fairly mechanistic.

We should be able to take what was originally contemplated, map that to what we're proposing to go forward, in terms of the adjustments, provide the information relative to impacts on rates, et cetera.  That we believe would allow parties sufficient time to review that information, provide their questions, and allow enough time for us to respond to those questions and allow for decision from the Board to step in.

We certainly did not contemplate a requirement to go through a cost of service each year.  So I think you have it characterized right.  It is going to be something in between a cost-of-service application and an IRM mechanistic filing, which is going to have to be done, and depending on the decision, we will have to accommodate whatever we need to in order to update the parties.

MS. GIRVAN:  So do you envision filing an update in this proceeding?  Do you envision in your final argument setting out specifically the process that you think would work best and seeking approval from the Board to move forward with that process?  Or are you waiting for the Board to dictate what that process should be?

MR. MARTIN:  We weren't planning to update any further what's already in the application.  So we have outlined in the application what we are proposing to provide, but, no, we weren't prepared to propose the Board's process for making a determination or a decision on those annual reports.

We are really describing what we're planning to report on an annual basis, and I suppose we're leaving it up to the Board to decide on what the process is for deliberating on those.

MS. GIRVAN:  So you wouldn't prefer to kind of put your proposal out there first and -- I see Mr. Mondrow moving forward.

MR. MONDROW:  I think Mr. Martin has said, Madam Chair, that in the evidence -- and I believe there is an interrogatory or two on this -- Oshawa has provided its view of what that process would look like, and that we weren't planning to provide any more prescriptive description of that process other than what is in the evidence to date.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  So I was getting a little bit confused this morning about your description of the total cost efficiency carryover mechanism.  I am not sure if this is possible, but is there any way that you could provide an example how this is supposed to work?

MR. MAHAJAN:  I can try again.  When we talked  about --


MS. GIRVAN:  I'm saying like a real-life kind of written example of how it is supposed to work.

MR. MAHAJAN:  A real-life written example.

MS. GIRVAN:  With calculations and -- yes.

MR. MONDROW:  I think this question was asked in an interrogatory, and there is a response that provides a written example of both of the incentive mechanisms --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Okay.  Then I --


MR. MONDROW:  I can refer Ms. Girvan to that, Madam Chair.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And can you explain how you intend to weather-normalize that?  I think that is part of your update.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, it's already been done, right?  It's in the update we have talked about.

MS. GIRVAN:  Weather-normalizing.

MR. MARTIN:  Well, there is a method currently used to weather-normalize the kilowatt-hours or consumption.  We would --


MS. GIRVAN:  Is that in your evidence?

MR. MARTIN:  That would be the -- that would be the methodology we would use, unless something better than that comes up.

MS. GIRVAN:  Is that in your evidence?

MR. MAHAJAN:  I believe it is.  No?

MR. MARTIN:  No.  But...

MR. MONDROW:  I don't believe there is any evidence on -- the weather-normalization amendment to the incentive mechanism proposal was made in the June update, and there is no calculated example of that on the record.

MS. GIRVAN:  Do you think that you could provide that?  I mean, your proposal, you're seeking approval to weather-normalize actual earnings for the purposes of calculating the ROE within the context of that mechanism.

I think it would be helpful if we could understand how you were going to do that.

MR. MARTIN:  It would be the -- in my mind, it would be the same process that's used currently to weather-normalize events.

I don't think we're planning to invent anything new.  So in terms of developing a load forecast, for example, there's a methodology to weather-normalize consumption.  That's what we would utilize.  That's the methodology we would utilize to weather-normalize the historical consumption --


MS. GIRVAN:  And that is set out in your application?

MR. MARTIN:  No.  But I am sort of assuming that weather normalization is a fairly well-known event.

MS. GIRVAN:  I mean, the point is that there is different ways to weather-normalize.  There are various methodologies used across the board.  So I guess what I am just seeking is some clarification as to how you intend to do that.

MR. MARTIN:  Sorry, I only know of one.

MR. MAHAJAN:  We can use the weather normalization that we have used for our load forecast, and the same methodology would be used to come up with any overearnings or under-earnings.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So this might be helpful.  You said there's some examples of how the total cost efficiency carryover mechanism would work in the evidence already.  Maybe what you could do is add to that the way that you would weather-normalize.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, perhaps I could ask through you, the witnesses, whether there is a way to provide -- in an undertaking response -- a description of the weather-normalization mechanism that Mr. Martin has referred to.  And if there is, we will provide that.

MS. DUFF:  Is that acceptable, Ms. Girvan?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, that's fine.

MS. DUFF:  I guess one of the thoughts I had in listening to the cross-examination was, weather normalization may not apply to some of the carryover, depending on what the item is that's being developed and...

MR. MONDROW:  I think in the context, Madam Chair, of the ROE calculation, it is that calculation, the ROE, that would be weather-normalized, regardless of the mechanism to obtain the efficiency.  I think that was the question.

MS. DUFF:  That's helpful, thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  And that is indeed the nature of the numerical example.  And so through you, perhaps I could ask Mr. Martin whether there is a written description or a way to provide a written description of the weather-normalization mechanism that he is thinking of.

MR. MARTIN:  Sure.  I can try.

MS. DUFF:  Well, that's helpful, I think, and hopefully that can -- parties can review that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  It is a request that they're making, and I would like to be clear on how you intend to do it.

MS. LEA:  So what I am gathering is we would mark it as Undertaking J1.4, provide example of weather-normalization process to be applied to ROE, with respect to the carryover incentive.

Do you need me to add the note on a best-efforts basis, Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  Perhaps I could ask Mr. Martin if it could be provided right now.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Couldn't we just simply state that, you know, whatever weather normalization we used for doing the load forecast, we will use the same.

There is a methodology that we're using for weather normalization for load forecast.

MR. MONDROW:  I think the request is whether Oshawa can provide a description of that methodology.  Can that be provided, Mr. Martin?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, J1.4, please.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO PROVIDE EXAMPLE OF WEATHER-NORMALIZATION PROCESS TO BE APPLIED TO ROE, WITH RESPECT TO THE CARRYOVER INCENTIVE.

MS. GIRVAN:  So from what I understand, you're putting these mechanisms in place because you're trying to generate efficiencies, right, correct?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.  Incent.

MS. GIRVAN:  Here is a question as a publicly-owned utility.  Why wouldn't you in the normal course just want to do all you could to generate savings for your customers?

MR. MAHAJAN:  So the answer is we do, and I think, if I understand what the Board is directing, the Board is -- not directing, but the desire under the RRFE is to provide the incentives to the distributors.

For example, a distributor like us -- and we have been talking about this quite a bit today -- we already are efficient.  And we continue to be efficient.  And now we're proposing these innovative incentives to incent the behaviour above and beyond that.

So even in our plan period, based on PEG's methodology, we would be .87 percent better, in terms of our productivity.

So we can go above and beyond that through these two mechanisms.  So whether you are an IOU like Enbridge, or you are a publicly owned utility, we should all be working to serve the customers and shareholders and balance the needs of all of the stakeholders.

But the incentive mechanisms are there to get to that right behavior, above and beyond what you are already doing.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. MAHAJAN:  It doesn't have to be a zero-sum game, is what I believe.

MS. GIRVAN:  All right.  That's fine, I understand your answer.

You have requested, in the context of your deferral and variance accounts, a separate regional planning account.  And I just wondered why this wouldn't be captured under a proposed Z factor framework.  Why do you need a separate account for regional planning?

Is this for this panel?

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Mr. Martin, just a minute.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  I believe, Madam Chair, that a Z factor is for an unforeseen event, and we've got reams of evidence about anticipated growth and potential sensitivities to those forecasts, potential changes to the pace of that growth.

So I am not sure we could even qualify for a Z factor given the transparency on where the growth forecasts are coming from, how they change, how they have changed historically.  So I am not sure how to answer that question.

MS. GIRVAN:  Mr. Martin, do you have anything to add to that?

MR. MARTIN:  The regional planning is -- I mean, even during the course of preparing the application, the regional planning, the regional plan has taken us -- in terms of dollars, the regional plan has taken us from six to three to nine to twelve.

So I actually think we know it's going to change.  We know something is going to change between now and when Hydro One completes its plan, completes its budgets.

So again, in knowing that there's a high likelihood that there's going to be a change to the regional planning scope and the regional planning budgets, et cetera, which are completely out of our control, why not contemplate that with a deferral account, rather than to pretend that we don't know that it's going to change and wait for it to happen and do a Z factor thereafter?

Why not plan and have everybody sort of in tune with the fact that there is a high likelihood this would change, and we're protecting ratepayers and we're protecting shareholders and all of the parties involved with a deferral account contemplating that change.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, I just have -- just one last area.

So you are proposing to update each year your customer connections and your load forecasts, and expenditures for relocation of distribution assets.

Do any of those impact O&M?

MR. MARTIN:  Not dramatically, no.

MS. GIRVAN:  Not at all?

MR. MARTIN:  No.  What it does is it's -- so again, we benchmarked this outcome with PEG.  It reduces our overall productivity efficiency factors, but still -- so even at a one and a half percent, and this is in an interrogatory, even at a -- so at a typical growth rate of one and a half percent, in terms of the benchmarking exercise for PEG, the only difference was -- it lowered the productivity of efficiency factors somewhat.

But the only principal change is that it probably means that Oshawa would be in the cohort group 3 for one more year.  So instead of going to the second-most efficient group in 2017, we would go into the -- we would go into the second most efficient group in 2018.

So we're still -- we still believe that we are efficient.

There are -- I should couch that. There are minor changes.  So we do have a couple of positions later in the plan, a customer service position for example, who at this point in time has been budgeted really in response to the growth.  But even at one and a half percent growth per year, you know, by the time we get to 2018 or 2019 that customer service person is still going to be a requirement in order to accommodate all of the requirements that are there.

So we have annualized it.  We have in fact benchmarked it, or have had PEG benchmark it, and we don't really see an opportunity to change the OM&A to any large extent.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, all right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, Ms. Girvan, you were just five minutes over your estimate.

Mr. Janigan, before we break -- I’m sorry, Ms. Spoel has a question.

MS. SPOEL:  Yes.  Ms. Girvan, before -- and you don't need to respond to this right now, but you asked about whether or not Oshawa would consider an earnings sharings mechanism.  And I think it would be helpful, given the stage of this process that we're in now, that if you in your argument you intend to put forward a suggestion or a request that that an earnings sharing mechanism be imposed, that CCC should have a specific proposal --


MS. GIRVAN:  We will.

MS. SPOEL:  -- to put to the witnesses that the witnesses can comment on, and that we can ask questions about and understand how it is going to work.  Because if there are any issues that we want to ask about, final argument is not the time.

MS. GIRVAN:  No, I realize that.  I will put that together.

MS. SPOEL:  So if you have something specific, this panel will be back on Thursday.  Maybe you can put something in writing that they can actually respond to rather than coming up with something that is not their idea.

MS. GIRVAN:  I agree.  Thanks, I will do that.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, just on that point, Ms. Girvan -- not on that point but a related point.  Ms. Girvan did ask for examples of the calculation, I think it was the TCECM incentive mechanism.  I would refer Ms. Girvan to interrogatory responses 10-SEC-46 and 10-SEC-47, which respectively provide the examples on the record for the two incentive mechanisms.

And I would like to indicate through you to Ms. Girvan if she does have questions about those, whether it is the continuation of this panel on Thursday or panel 3, we would be happy to try to deal with them if she has further questions on the calculation.

MS. GIRVAN:  I appreciate that, thank you very much, Mr. Mondrow.

MS. DUFF:  Before we break, Mr. Janigan, your estimate was an hour.  Are you prepared to go forward after the break?

MR. JANIGAN:  I am, Madam Chair.  I expect I may be somewhat less than that, but it is difficult just looking at the --


MS. DUFF:  You had a half hour today, and a half hour that was supposed to be deferred to Thursday?

MR. JANIGAN:  I think so.  I may be able to end up wrapping it up today.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, that's great.  The panel will break and resume at five after.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:50 p.m.
--- On resuming at 4:05 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  Panel 1, Mr. Janigan.  Please proceed.
OSHAWA PUC NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1, resumed

Atul Mahajan, Previously Affirmed

Phil Martin, Previously Affirmed
Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair, Panel.  My friends have covered a lot of areas that I would be dealing with.  However, there are still some areas that I wish to cover, and I apologize if any of my questions seem repetitive of what you have already answered, but it is somewhat difficult to separate out some of these issues.

So the first thing is -- and you touched upon this earlier today in your conversation with Mr. Rubenstein -- that how the plan differs or compares with a custom -- differs from a fourth-generation IRM plan.

You've provided a few different responses on how this plan differs from a price cap, and if I could direct you first to my compendium.  And Madam Chair, I have actually two documents, one being a cross-examination compendium that is not numbered, and the other one is cross-examination compendium number 2.

I am going to be referring to them separately.  So perhaps if I could have an exhibit number for each one, that would be helpful.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Certainly.  So the compendium -- they're both dated the same -- which is unnumbered will be Exhibit K1.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  UNNUMBERED panel 1 Cross-examination compendium For VECC

MS. LEA:  And the one which has number 2 written on it, although it also -- mine has number 1 in the corner.

MR. JANIGAN:  That's the page number.

MS. LEA:  Oh, okay.  So the one in the title of the document is listed as number 2 will be Exhibit K1.6 -- no, pardon me, I'm looking at the Js.  I've got to get my act together.

No.  I'm so sorry.  You know, I was right, okay, good.  So somebody hire a new Board Staff counsel, please.

MS. DUFF:  I don't think we want to do that.

MS. LEA:  You haven't even heard me cross-examine yet.

K1.5 is the first one and K1.6 is, in fact, the second one.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  NUMBERED panel 1 Cross-examination compendium For VECC

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.

I wonder if you could turn up K1.5, and I am looking at pages 3 and 4 under tab 1 of that compendium.  I am looking at your evidence.  Am I correct in saying --


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Mr. Janigan --


MR. JANIGAN:  Sorry, have you got that, page 4 -- page 3 and 4?

MR. MONDROW:  If you could just give Mr. Martin a chance to get the materials.

MR. JANIGAN:  Certainly.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  We're looking at Exhibit K1.5, which is the first of the two compendiums, Mr. Janigan?  Is that correct?

MR. JANIGAN:  I'm sorry, I was engaged with Ms. Girvan here.

MS. DUFF:  That's correct.  K1.5, the one where page 2 is actually -- says the words "tab 1".

MS. LEA:  What is on the screen is not the compendium.  I don't see it in electronic form.

MR. MONDROW:  I am going to get back to that in a moment.

MS. LEA:  You may not have it, okay, thanks.

MR. JANIGAN:  All right.  I am looking at page 4 of that compendium.  That is K1.5.  And am I to understand that if you were to price -- if you were to go to a price cap, that by 2019 the revenue requirement would be 23.177 million versus the 26.193 million, or would it be something different?  That's TC2.4, if you can't find the compendium.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I wonder if I could ask Mr. Janigan if the compendium was filed on the Board's RESS system?

MR. JANIGAN:  No.  It was sent simply to all the participants.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, so I am not sure we have it on the right computer, but I will see what we can do as we go along.

MR. JANIGAN:  I can refer to the document that underlies the compendium.  It was filed -- the technical conference 2.4 undertaking was filed on 2015-05-28.

My compendium was filed, I guess, was sent out yesterday.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Did you say 26.1 million?

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Mr. Mahajan, just a minute.

I am sorry, Madam Chair.  I am happy to get it up on the screen, but it will take me a minute, and I can't do that and listen.  So if we could take just a minute, I will get it on the screen.  If you prefer just to proceed, I won't get it on the screen.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, that's fine.  We will just wait a minute.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

Madam Chair, it will take longer than a minute, because my computer is not booted up.  So I have it in my e-mail.  It is not on the Board's website.  So I can do it, but it will take a few minutes to do.

MR. JANIGAN:  If it is more convenient, Madam Chair, I can stand down and Mr. Stoll can proceed with his cross-examination.

MS. DUFF:  Unless you think the witnesses are at a disadvantage, I'd prefer to go hard copy.

MR. MONDROW:  I'm happy to proceed.  They have a hard copy that we did manage to print.

MS. DUFF:  When I was a hearing clerk this is all we had.

MR. MONDROW:  I wish we were in different places at the moment.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Now we have both.

MR. JANIGAN:  And once again, panel, I am referring to pages 4 and 5.  5, I believe, contains the update of Undertaking TC2.4.

Am I to understand in comparison to the -- with these numbers that the revenue requirement, if we were to go to a price cap model, would be 24, looking at page 5, 24 million-680 versus 27,431,000?

MR. MARTIN:  That's correct.  I think it is important -- so we're talking about a price cap model.  We're not talking about a price cap.

So we were asked specifically to prepare a set of revenue-requirement numbers based on a set of conditions outlined by, I believe it was Mr. Rubenstein during an undertaking.

So we followed those instructions to prepare the results.  And, yes, based on that 27.4 million is what we have as per the application, and 24.7 million from the escalator.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And in general terms, where does this difference predominantly come from?  Is it the capital program?  The customer increase?  Or the succession plan?  Or all three?

MR. MARTIN:  So again, I can't answer that question specifically to this table.  This table was in response to specific directions.

But we can tell -- I can tell you that the reason for the difference in revenue under the custom IR approach versus under an IRM is for the most part spending on capital.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I believe my friend took you through the idea of proceeding with an IRM -- fourth-generation IRM approach with an ICM model for your two large projects.

I was unclear as to whether the answer to the question was whether or not that was doable for Oshawa, or whether or not it was -- would simply result in an untenable situation for the company?

MR. MARTIN:  It's inappropriate to do.  It does not -- we do not -- first of all, it was in relation to an ACM.

MR. JANIGAN:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. MARTIN:  And in terms of -- in our interpretation of the requirements under an ACM, this does not fit under the conditions that would be associated with an ACM.  So it's not a case of untenable or something we wouldn't do or the results.

It's not a -- it's not an appropriate mechanism for the conditions that we're facing.

MR. JANIGAN:  And it doesn't meet the definition of an ACM, as you see it?

MR. MARTIN:  No.

MR. JANIGAN:  What are the problems that you see?

MR. MARTIN:  Well, if I take it very simply, if I look at -- there are three primary conditions.  First of all, an ACM is used, as we see it, the ACM is for discrete, identifiable, large projects that are planned, as opposed to an ICM, where the ICM would be used for projects that arise that weren't planned.

There are three elements -- there are three criteria that are identified in the ICM, and I will just read them.

So eligible discrete capital projects that are identifiable and not part of a typical annual program.  So these are the things that an ACM would be used for: LDCs who do not have multiple discrete projects, is not seeking business as usual amounts that are incremental to its typical spend, and is not using total envelope in one particular year.

So I think, as Mr. Rubenstein identified this morning in the notes, we do have -- even after moving the MS9 and the regional planning projects and adjusting the capital spend for that, we do have a spread between our capital expenditure requirements and the depreciation rate, which would predispose us to having an erosion in earnings.

I think the position Mr. Rubenstein was taking was that we should accept that on the basis that others have done that --


MR. MONDROW:  Is it on?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes, it's on.

MR. JANIGAN:  And in your view, there is no way these two projects could be characterized under the requirements of –-

MR. MARTIN:  The two projects could.

MR. JANIGAN:  Could, yes.

MR. MARTIN:  But the expenditure level that exists after these two projects are removed still put us in a position where a custom IR fits, and those additional -- that level of capital spending does not lend itself to a ACM because their business as usual type of projects, they're multiple projects.  They're not discernible, discrete large planned projects.

MR. JANIGAN:  So it is not your two big projects that is driving this is.  It is basically the rest of the --


MR. MARTIN:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  All right.  Now, I would like to deal with your variance accounts, and I am not going have you list them all again.  But I wonder if you could turn up, on page 10 of the compendium, K 1.5, which sets out in your response that between 78 and 94 percent of the company's revenue requirement is at risk under this plan.

Is that correct?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, what is the definition here of that risk?

MR. MARTIN:  So what we tried to do here was look at elements of the revenue requirement that were in fact not  -- we were not proposing adjustment or annual adjustment mechanisms for.

So walking through this, things like OM&A, we're not asking for an annual adjustment mechanism for OM&A.  If we overspend, we overspend.

PILs, estimated interest, et cetera.  So we have outlined a set of revenue requirement determinants that are not impacted or we are not proposing adjustment mechanisms for.

MR. JANIGAN:  So what this essentially says is that all of these items are maybe subject to a degree of change that is negative to the company, but the amount of change that they may be subject to, you haven't calculated?

MR. MARTIN:  The amount of change?

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, they may be subject to change, which constitutes the risk.  But the amount of risk that they may be subject to, you can't -- you haven't calculated or couldn't estimate?

MR. MARTIN:  We have not done that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  It is just when we say it is 87 -- when we say these large numbers in terms of what is at risk, it sounds much more threatening than if we knew how much of a risk that each of these numbers are subject to.

MR. MAHAJAN:  We don't know.  I guess, you know, the idea of defining that risk or quantifying that risk is you though that risk.

What we're talking about is that's the amount of revenue that is subject to fluctuations, and is not being protected under the adjustment mechanism.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in terms of the reduction in risk that you do plan for, particularly with the various variance accounts, in your view, what compensation do ratepayers get for the reduction in risk under the plan?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Just to clarify, when we say risk, it is not just to the shareholder; it is also to the ratepayer.

MR. JANIGAN:  Hmm-hmm.  And can you give me an example of that?

MR. MAHAJAN:  So let's say we estimate that the Hydro One station contribution is 10 million and it turns out to be actually seven million because, I don't know, they figure out some way of coming up with savings.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  And in that case?

MR. MAHAJAN:  So we will adjust it downwards to seven.

MR. MARTIN:  The revenue requirement associated with that would be captured and repaid to the ratepayers.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So there are circumstances where the variance account may work to the benefit of the ratepayers; that is what you're saying?

MR. MAHAJAN:  That's right.

MR. JANIGAN:  What are the productivity incentives in this plan, some of which you have gone through with my friends.  But apart from the different, the controllable capital investment efficiency account and the account associated with -- hold on, the efficiency carry over mechanism, what other productivity incentives are in this plan?

MR. MAHAJAN:  There are no other productivity incentives, other than the fact that we provided a benchmarking evidence which demonstrates that on a total cost basis, we are .87 percent better.

MR. JANIGAN:  What about the targets that you've set out to try to meet?  Do they have any financial implications for the company?

MR. MAHAJAN:  When you say targets, sir?

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, for example, you indicated today that you have set out a target reducing outages by 20 percent.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.

MR. JANIGAN:  Are we going to see -- there any financial incentives to meet that target, or financial disincentives if you don't meet it?

MR. MARTIN:  No.

MR. MAHAJAN:  No, we haven't proposed that.

MR. JANIGAN:  And there's no penalties associated with not meeting these targets?

MR. MAHAJAN:  That's correct.

MR. MARTIN:  No.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. MAHAJAN:  To qualify that, you see, it is not just Oshawa.  I think the entire industry is at a point where we have to define what the scorecard looks like, and what would be the implications of performance or non-performance relative to that scorecard, and what is a good SAIDI metric to hold the distributors accountable for.

Oshawa, I believe -- and there was a question of clarification from the panel as well -- is taking steps to come up with some suggestions.  And we are interested in what -- I think there was talk about would we be interested in collaborating in coming up with metrics.  This will take time.

This is not something we can't do, but I think it has to be a collaborative effort.

MR. JANIGAN:  I guess the experience to date has been that incentives appear to produce bigger results and faster results than the lack of incentives.

If you take that approach with respect to the targets that you have set out, why wouldn't you have some kind of measures that would reward the company or penalize the company?

MR. MAHAJAN:  So I agree with you in principle -- oh, I didn't even need that?  Okay.

In principle terms, I agree with you that there should be -- when we say performance-based regulation, yes, you know, if you perform, you get the incentive.  If you don't perform, you have a penalty.

But there are complexities.  So just taking SAIDI, for instance, what kind of events would you capture in that SAIDI that are in a distributor's control?

So all of those things need to be decided.  I couldn't agree more with you.  But I think it would be unfair to Oshawa to do it just at Oshawa's application.

This is an industry-wide exercise and it should be done with a lot of consultation.  Oshawa, I certainly believe, has gone above and beyond and made the proposals that we made today.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, surely if your own advisors have set up these targets as ones that are robust and capable of being achieved, then, you know, they should be reflected in the commitment to both the ratepayers and to the shareholder.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Well, I don't believe -- so on that particular metric, I don't think that we need to be overcompensated.  I think we have the investments that we are making to drive those results.  When we get those results, you know, I believe the benefit is really a high reliability for our service territory.

If we don't, it is really because of factors that I can't even imagine right now, but there is a lot of moving parts in the system.  What could cause the failure of a scorecard, you know, it is hard for me to even give you a logical -- a lucid explanation, but I think this is something that we have to try out with experience and learn.

MR. JANIGAN:  And you anticipate the next time Oshawa comes before this Board that it's going to have a set of targets and -- with incentives and penalties that will interest ratepayers?

MR. MAHAJAN:  So next time we come around, you know, we would have learned from this experience, and hopefully there would be an industry-wide exercise that would have been completed by that time, and Oshawa would certainly be a part of that process.

MR. JANIGAN:  Let me go to the new connection cost variance account.  I must say you people have acronyms that are the longest in the Ontario utility committee, I think.

Why is this a good idea?  And why are you only choosing customer attachments to mitigate risk?

MR. MAHAJAN:  So this is where I get to ask you to respond.

MR. MARTIN:  Sorry, Mr. Janigan, could you repeat that, please?

MR. JANIGAN:  Sorry.  Looking at the NNCCVA, and I am asking what's wrong with using your customer attachment forecast, and why are you choosing only customer attachments to mitigate risk?

MR. MONDROW:  This is the new connection cost variance account.  Madam Chair, if I could just qualify.  I think it is NCCVA, if we want to go with that long awkward acronym, just so Mr. Martin knows what we're talking about.

MR. MAHAJAN:  While Phil is taking a look at that evidence, I just want to go back to one of the previous conversations we were having.

If those connections don't materialize, the question was, will you adjust your OM&A?  Which really is, will you adjust your head count?

I think it will be important for all of us to recognize that right now Oshawa is, I think, around 80 FTEs.  By the end of the planned period we will again be 80.  And I don't know what else would be considered efficient.  We're planning for retirements.  We're planning for plugging the skills gap.  We're being very diligent in saying, is this skills gap best serviced by an in-house individual?  Or can we work with other LDCs to collaborate and work with a contractor?

So right now I don't think that we're talking about OM&A.  So the risk that we are trying to cover is on both sides.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Let me -- have you -- do you wish to complete the answer?

MR. MONDROW:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair, I am just going to ask Mr. Janigan through you if he could pose the question for Mr. Martin to answer, and I think the evidence on the new connection cost variance account -- I apologize, it was two Ns -- is found at Exhibit 1, tab C, page 39.  It is also in Exhibit 10, but I think it is essentially the same formulation in both places.

MR. JANIGAN:  It's a hard question.  Why can you not forecast the customer attachments and rely on that forecast?  And why are you choosing only customer attachments to mitigate risk?

MR. MAHAJAN:  I don't think that is the only one, right?

MR. MARTIN:  The customer attachments, I mean, the reason why -- the reason why we actually propose the customer connection costs in the first place was because we were in connection with proposing an adjustment mechanism for the load forecast.

So if the customer connections don't materialize and we adjust the load forecast accordingly, then in terms of the cost associated with the connection costs, we're basically, as an offset to the customer connections not materializing, we're basically adjusting or creating a variance account that basically allows for the customers to recapture planned costs associated with those connection costs.

So in addition to the connections, the additional connections that drive the load forecast, they also drive to a certain extent cost of capital associated with those connection costs.

So we're basically -- this was a way of giving back or at least adjusting for costs that were associated with the customer connections with the annual adjustment mechanism forecast.  They're connected.  They sort of work in tandem.

MR. JANIGAN:  So the account can work in two ways?

MR. MARTIN:  Correct, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  All right.  I would like to deal with your efficiency carryover mechanism.  And to do that, I wonder if I could ask you -- I don't have it in my compendium -- to turn up an SEC interrogatory, number 46; that's 10-SEC-46, and we're looking at page 2.  Yes.  Just at the bottom of the page there.  Thanks very much.

And as I understand, the way the ECM works is that at the end of the five-year custom IR plan period, the actual earnings in each year of the rate plan period will be determined, inclusive of allowed flow-through costs but exclusive of costs and revenues associated with the two controllable capital programs that are subject to the CCEI -- CCEIEM.  And the average of the difference in each year of the plan between the actual ROE and the Board-approved ROE will be calculated.

If that average difference is positive, Oshawa will be entitled to cover -- recover in rates in each of the next two years following the end of the custom IR plan an ECM rate rider equal to 50 percent of that difference, up to a maximum of 50 basis points.

So here, if we look at the -- at this particular example, the average positive difference was 0.22 percent, correct?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Then the carry-forward for that over the next two years is .11 percent.  Correct?

MR. MARTIN:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, the intent of this is to try to remove the disincentive for companies to either postpone or not to implement late in a rate-plan term sustainable efficiency investments, correct?

MR. MARTIN:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  I am just wondering why, then, we have an average over a five-year period that is used to determine the amount of carryover to the next two years.

And just to give an example, suppose -- and let's say in this little chart you had -- in 2015 you had a difference of 100 basis points, in 2016 you had another difference of another 100 basis points, and then 2017 another difference of 100 basis points.  Then the company said, Well, okay, we're not going to do anything in the next couple of years, and when the new plan comes in place, the first two years of the plan, they're still going to be able to take advantage of the incentives that were -- or the efficiencies that they had put in in the first three years of the plan, notwithstanding the fact that the whole intent of the plan was to try to put efficiencies in in the final two years.

MR. MARTIN:  So the key to this -- so you're correct.  If we want to run through that scenario, the key is -- so this mechanism was introduced to basically acknowledge or at least, at least to -- on the basis of the perception that companies aren't motivated to create efficiencies at the end of the year, that’s true, or at the end of the plan term.

But I think it is -- I think the important part of this is that the onus will be on Oshawa at the end of the plan term to prove that the efficiencies that are gained, whether or not they're in the first year or the fifth year of the plan, are in fact sustainable beyond the plan term.

So it may not -- we do believe that it does specifically address the concerns that there's a disincentive to achieve efficiencies.  However, we think it is -- we do believe it is important to capture all sustainable, all sustainable efficiencies during the plan term that in this particular incentive program, because there will be ultimately savings to the ratepayers beyond this term, if we can prove that those efficiencies are sustainable.

MR. JANIGAN:  It has often been alleged, and maybe proved by intervenors, that often a company will increase its expenditures, or at least show smaller earnings in the last couple of years of any plan, incentive plan.

Don't you think that this, by using all five years of the plan to calculate what should be carried over, that you are encouraging that?

MR. MAHAJAN:  I think I will just repeat what Mr. Martin said.  It really is -- at the end of the day, we have to demonstrate that those efficiencies are sustainable and will last beyond the plan period.

MR. JANIGAN:  Gentleman --


MR. MAHAJAN:  So you're right; there are a lot of perceptions out there.  Hopefully, we can prove that they may not apply to this particular distributor.

But beyond that, what we are offering is we will come back to this process where we would submit the evidence as to why these efficiencies would be carried over.

So it doesn't really help fit that scenario, whether you game in the first year or the fifth year.

MR. JANIGAN:  Why would you not limit it to the last two years of the plan to eliminate that problem?

MR. MAHAJAN:  We do believe this is a reasonable proposal, as long as we demonstrate that they're sustainable.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  A question; the rate-of-return that you are comparing each year, is that the Board approved rate-of-return for that year, or the return that the Board sets in the beginning of this plan for the 2016 rates?

MR. MAHAJAN:  I think the assumption was that was the OEB -- we just started with what we know today, but it may change.

MR. JANIGAN:  So it is for that -- for each individual year, what the Board sets.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.

MR. MARTIN:  If we get the annual adjustment mechanism.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  The next thing I want to deal with is the controllable capital investment efficiency incentive mechanism.

And this is -- as you indicated, the purpose is to mitigate to some extent the disincentive to control capital expenditures and thus avoid rate base.  And you are going to apply it to two major capital investment programs currently estimated at 25 million, the system renewal program and also the new municipal substation and associated distribution feeders.

With respect to this plan, particularly when it comes to renewal projects, what happens if it turns out that in a renewal project, that the amount that's needed to be spent does not have to be spent?  Who gets the benefit of that particular minimization?

Would it be both the company and the ratepayer, or is it something that would simply not be considered as a saving under this plan?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Just to clarify, if that expenditure is not needed --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. MAHAJAN:  -- then that project would get stripped out of that program.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. MAHAJAN:  But if that project is needed --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. MAHAJAN:  -- and maybe we have some savings, both the ratepayer and the shareholder benefit.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And in the first case, you're saying that that project would not be considered -- the elimination of that project would not be considered savings?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Are there any circumstances where there may not be a bright line between actual savings and actual efficiencies associated with the project?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Come again, please?

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, there may be circumstances where the amount that has been spent on completion of the project has eliminated certain features of the project, but has essentially been able to complete it in all of its intended results at a lesser amount.

MR. MAHAJAN:  It is hard for me to picture a situation that would lend itself to that kind of a scenario.

So let's talk about Eglinton, right.  So if we were to rebuild Eglinton, we still have to take electrons from one end to take it to the other end.  And if we can find a mechanism to do that with half the cost, I think that is great.  But the electrons have to go all the way to the end and the rebuild of that line.

And that is essentially what we're talking about.  There may be other examples, but that is essentially what that system renewal is.

MR. JANIGAN:  I guess what I'm concerned about is the circumstances where expenditures have been eliminated and the project looks efficient, but next time around those -- it is determined that, yeah, we actually need to spend on these things we eliminated the first time around.

They get built into rate base, and what you've essentially got is you're getting credit for half the rate base you saved initially, plus added on the rate base that was essentially necessary.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Okay.  So if I understand that question correctly, the way we are addressing that is we will track each and every project under that program, and report on it.

So if we have achieved the outcome of these ten line rebuilds for half the cost, then I think both parties benefit.

If out of ten, five never got done, then we will only be looking at the efficiencies on those five projects.  Hopefully, that addresses it.

MR. JANIGAN:  And I'm sorry if you've already addressed this this morning, but what about in terms of uncontrollable factors?  How is that dealt with in the context of these --


MR. MAHAJAN:  So when you say uncontrollable factors of our capital plan?

MR. JANIGAN:  That's correct.

MR. MAHAJAN:  That would be examples such as, you know, the Enfield TS.  That would be the example such as, you know, the region of Durham asking us to move the plant.

MR. MARTIN:  No, sorry.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MAHAJAN:  My colleague is clarifying a question.  Do you mean uncontrollable things for controllable capital expenses?

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, I suppose the capital expenses are controllable, but the uncontrollable events that affect your ability to control the expenditures.

MR. MARTIN:  You're still referring to the incentive mechanism?

MR. JANIGAN:  That's correct, that's correct.

MR. MARTIN:  Okay.

MR. MAHAJAN:  So the fact that -- the fact that we are categorizing them controllable – well, actually it's not -- we're categorizing them as controllable because we do believe that we have most of the events.  I can't think of an event that would be uncontrollable.

Let's say there is a new way of transporting electrons.  Is that a controllable or uncontrollable event?

I think the controllable event is we have to rebuild that line that has got certain drivers indicating that we need to rebuild it.

So what would be uncontrollable?  One of the uncontrollable things could be that the region does not allow us to do that.  Okay.  Well, then we strip it out.  We're not asking to be compensated on work that we didn't do.

MR. MARTIN:  Can I -- an example -- another example might be in the event -- so MS9, for example, we run into some environmental issues.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Well, we will strip it out.  We won't be getting compensated on that.  Yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  Can I just -- sorry, can I just ask a clarifying question?  You mentioned you would be reporting on every project.

Can you give me an idea how many projects are we talking about?  Like, are we talking tens or...

MR. MAHAJAN:  At this stage --


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Dr. Elsayed, is your question in respect of this incentive mechanism?

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  The projects included in the incentive mechanism in particular?

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, right.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MR. MAHAJAN:  I don't know offhand, but I can look it up.  But it is maybe 25...

DR. ELSAYED:  I am just curious, because I think there was a discussion earlier -- maybe I'm confusing the two -- that it may be more appropriate to report at the program level as opposed to the project level.

MR. MAHAJAN:  But we will be tracking under the program level, we will be tracking to be able to report at that program level, we will be tracking discrete projects, yes.  They're not in hundreds, that's for sure.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.

MR. MARTIN:  The incentive mechanism does revolve around Oshawa producing evidence at the end of the plant term that basically supports that the objectives of the programs that we have identified -- so MS9 and the other controllable projects -- the objectives of those programs were, in fact, met, and notwithstanding projects that were -- or elements of the programs that were deferred, et cetera, which we don't -- again, we don't want to -- we certainly don't want to be executing on projects that aren't required, if it's necessary.

So those types of things will be adjusted from the program.  And the onus is on us to basically provide evidence that the objectives of those programs were met, and they were met basically both from an engineering standpoint, and also should satisfy the original sort of objective of the programs.

And that's going to be the basis for the incentive.  So while Mr. Mahajan is correct, for us to provide that evidence we're going to have to obviously track things at a more detailed level, but for sure it's based on the program level overall.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, thank you.  Sorry.

MR. JANIGAN:  And I believe you -- in a discussion with Mr. Rubenstein earlier, you were talking about general planned investments not being appropriate targets for this kind of -- this kind of program.

But aren't the general plan investments good candidates because they are very discrete and they are projects where, you know, it is very easy to determine whether or not, you know, they have been completed or were not completed?

MR. MAHAJAN:  So without repeating what Mr. Martin said earlier, I think what we have to look at is, what we looked at was:  What is it that we can benchmark?

So using fleet as an example, I think the only way to benchmark for that would be to go for an RFP, knowing that we're not really going to go forward with the RFP, to get the best possible pricing.

So what kind of software?  How do you benchmark that?  I think the only way to do that, proper benchmarking, would be -- because these are all third-party procurements.  This is not an asset that accrues and our contractors based on our design would be constructing.

So really, at a high level, it was really what we could benchmark, so that you can safely look at it and say, yes, there has been an efficiency that has been achieved, and it wasn't, as was alluded to earlier, an overinflated cost.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Just briefly back to the question of targets.  I believe you indicated, and as well in response to Undertaking TC1.1, which is on page 16 of my compendium, you have listed SAIDI and SAIFI targets.

As I understand it, any consequence for not meeting these targets will be discussed at the next time Oshawa files its rates plan?

MR. MAHAJAN:  [Nodding]

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I would like to ask you to turn up page 13 of my compendium.  There was a report, or at least part of a report, on Oshawa's smart grid plan set out there.

Can you explain what parts of your capital plan are relevant to that report?

MR. MAHAJAN:  I can give you one example that we talked about earlier, was our distribution supply optimization.  So currently, for example, we are fed from two different stations with two different wholesale meters.  A lot of that switching of the system is done manually.  And one of the projects under that smart grid investment is to automate that.

So an optimizer would calculate and then the operator could do that switching a lot quicker.  And that -- make sure that we are not -- we are -- we are billed on a wholesale meter level, we're billed on a non-coincidental peak.

So if we had 150 megawatt peak on one station and 100 megawatt on the other station, on the 15th of July, then on 17th of July, if it went on the first station to 175, can we quickly optimize that and shift the peak?  So that benefits everyone.  That would be one of the examples.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thanks.  Now, on page 14 of the compendium there's an extract from page 5 of the report, and there's a list of targets the author believed that you could achieve if Oshawa implemented the plan.

Are these the kind of targets that could be embedded in an Oshawa plan, either now or in the next iteration of your plan, in five years' time?

MR. MAHAJAN:  I would be more comfortable once we have studied this through an actual experience to take a look at, because smart grid is, quite frankly, quite new to all of us.

There is a lot of benefits that had been promised by the vendors.  At the next go-round, yes, we will be looking at it.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if you could turn up my second compendium.  That's K1.6.  And this deals with the load forecast from the standpoint of your plan.  I have some questions on load forecast that we'll be asking to panel 3.

In the event that, you know, that there is any question I ask that would better be handled by panel 3, I am happy to have it -- have it done so.

First, would I be correct in characterizing your load forecast as having three parts to it?  The first is what I would call your basic load forecast, where a regression model is used to project volumes and historic growth rates are used to project the customer count?

MR. MARTIN:  Do you want to go through all three?

MR. JANIGAN:  I can go through all three if you want.

Second, there is the city expansion part, where both the basic volume and the customer count forecasts are adjusted to account for the significant growth that you are anticipating in the north part of the city.

Third, there is the manual adjustment that is made for CDM.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, in terms of your annual updates, can you tell me if you will be updating the basic load forecast?  If so, will this entail, one, re-estimating the regression model used to include more actual data as it becomes available?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Two, re-forecasting using more recent forecasts of economic parameters; for example, unemployment rates that are used in the model?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And three, updating historic growth rates for the using the recently-available actual customer counts each time and then updating the basic customer account forecast accordingly?

MR. MARTIN:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, in terms of city expansion, you spoke at the technical conference on May 22nd, which is set out in page number 5 of the second compendium, about the fact that this aspect of the load forecast would be updated.

Here I believe you indicated that the update would see if there are any material changes in the city's plans and the timing of the 407 expansion, and adjust accordingly.  Is that what you envision?

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  If Mr. Janigan could just point out the lines he is referring to.

MR. JANIGAN:  Actually, I believe it is at the bottom of page 82 and forward.  There is another reference that I have underlined in my other copy and --


Leaving aside what was said at the technical conference, is that the correct technique that you see associated with dealing with any amendment to the city plans?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  Actually, maybe I can -- maybe I can help out, I can address this.

So going back to your three points, or sort of the three components of the original load forecast, we did the typical weather-normalized load forecast based on regression with certain inputs.

We would propose to -- we are currently proposing to update that regression by basically updating the data that is in there, along with new economic projections, et cetera.

We would also update the overlay for city expansion prospectively, if in fact that was necessary.

So if the city plans were substantively different, indicating either more concentrated growth in any given year, we would -- we were proposing to adjust that particular overlay as well.  And we were proposing to update the CDM activity, again prospectively, if in fact that was required.

So what we contemplated originally was to essentially recast the load forecast for the remaining years left in the plan term, based on the methodology that was used to come up with the load forecast in the first place.

So we weren't proposing to change the methodology in any way.  We were simply going to update the various data components in order to reforecast.

We have spoken subsequent to that.  We did raise -- we could simplify that and we have talked about that, whereby it is really the customer connections that are really the key risk element here.

Our typical growth, as we talked about, is around one percent, one to one and a half percent.  We're forecasting unusual growth at three percent level.

We could simplify the annual mechanism approach to basically just adjust prospectively for changes in the customer connection, if that becomes more palatable to the folks, because it would be a much simpler methodology to review each year.  It would be much more mechanistic and it doesn’t allow us to either take advantage -- or it would continue, I guess, for risks associated with CDM and consumption and demand elements of the plan.

So we have talked about that as well.  But our original proposal was essentially to redraft the forecast, the load forecast as we have done it today, moving forward for each year remaining in the plan term.

MR. JANIGAN:  And the undertaking that is set out at page 9 and 10 of the compendium sets out a summary of the City of Oshawa's residential subdivision development activity.

This was apparently the information you relied on to take the city expansion related adjustments, is that correct?

MR. MARTIN:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And your plan was to file future annual applications updated to this information and, from these updates, establish whether the current plans for residential growth have materially changed.

A point associated with this on page 2; am I correct that the June 2013 column represents activity after June 2013, the potential new connections after that point in time and similarly for the December 2014 column, being potential new connections after December 2014?

MR. MARTIN:  Do you know the answer to that?

MR. MAHAJAN:  No.

MR. MARTIN:  I do not know the answer to that.  The specifics of this came out of our engineering planning group, so we could do an undertaking for that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Would panel 3 know?

MR. MARTIN:  Or go to panel 3, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  What I want to get at is that there is no time frame associated with some of the other rows of this table, and it is not clear how the activity shown on this table will be compared with the activity set out in a similar table that is compared in one of the upcoming applications to adjust this amount.

MR. MARTIN:  Okay.

MR. JANIGAN:  If I can cover those questions with panel 3, that would be fine.

MR. MARTIN:  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  And with respect to the CDM adjustment, in terms of the manual CDM adjustment, will this be updated for the test year as part of the annual applications during the custom IR period?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And this will also mean that the LRAM VA amounts will also be updated for future test years?

MR. MARTIN:  We didn't contemplate that.   Essentially, the purpose of putting the annual adjustment mechanism for the load forecast was really to adjust rates on a prospective basis.  We weren't anticipating adjusting for the LRAM VA account, but it is related so certainly we could, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thank you very much, panel for your patience.  Thank you, Madam Chair, for the patience of the Board.  Those are all of my questions for this panel.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much, Mr. Janigan.

Given the hour and incredible accuracy, we will adjourn for today.  On Thursday, Mr. Stoll, are you prepared to go first?

MR. STOLL:  Yes, I am.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, that's great.  So we will adjourn for today.  We will reconvene on Thursday at 9:30.  Thank you very much to the panel; it was a long day.  I appreciate it.

MR. MARTIN:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:05 p.m.
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